Westpac Securitisation Trust Series 2021-1 WST Trust

Mortgage Backed Floating Rate Notes

A\$1,104,000,000 Class A Notes ISIN: AU3FN0062907 Common Code: 238525241

rated

AAA (sf) by S&P Global Ratings Australia Pty Limited and AAAsf by Fitch Australia Pty Limited

A\$96,000,000 Class B Notes ISIN: AU3FN0062923 Unrated

BNY Trust Company of Australia Limited
(ABN 49 050 294 052)
(in its capacity as Trustee of the Series 2021-1 WST Trust)

Westpac Securitisation Management Pty Limited (ABN 73 081 709 211)
(Trust Manager)

Westpac Banking Corporation (ABN 33 007 457 141) (Approved Seller)

The Notes are not suitable for all investors. The Notes are complex investments that should be considered only by investors who, either alone or with their financial, tax and legal advisors, have the expertise to analyse the prepayment, reinvestment, default and market risk, the tax consequences of an investment, and the interaction of these factors. Prospective investors should have regard to the factors described under the section headed "Special Considerations and Risk Factors" beginning on page 29 of this Information Memorandum. This Information Memorandum does not describe all of the risks of an investment in the Notes.

This document is for distribution to Professional Investors (as defined in the Glossary of Terms contained in section 14) only.

Notice to Hong Kong investors: The Trust Manager confirms that the Notes are intended for purchase by Professional Investors only and will be listed on The Hong Kong Stock Exchange Limited on that basis. Accordingly, the Trust Manager confirms that the Notes are not appropriate as an investment for: (i) retail investors in Hong Kong, (ii) professional investors in Hong Kong who are individual high net worth investors or are corporate high net worth investors or (iii) other investors falling outside the meaning of Professional Investor. Investors should carefully consider the risks involved. The Hong Kong Stock Exchange has not reviewed the contents of this document, other than to ensure that the prescribed form disclaimer and responsibility statements, and a statement limiting distribution of this document to Professional Investors only have been reproduced in this document. Listing of the Class A Notes on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange is not to be taken as an indication of the commercial merits or credit quality of the Class A Notes or the Trustee or the quality of disclosure in this document.

Information Memorandum dated 7 October 2021

Notes

- (a) The Notes are not protected accounts, deposits or other liabilities of Westpac Banking Corporation (*Westpac*) or associates of Westpac or any other person who provides a facility or service to the Trustee.
- (b) The holding of Notes is subject to investment risk, including possible delays in repayment and the loss of some or all of your investment and any interest which is due and unpaid.
- (c) Neither Westpac nor any associate of Westpac in any way stands behind the capital value and/or performance of the Notes or the assets of the Trust except to the limited extent provided in the Transaction Documents for the Trust.
- (d) None of Westpac, whether as Approved Seller, Servicer, Swap Provider, Liquidity Facility Provider or Redraw Facility Provider, BNY Trust Company of Australia Limited, in its individual capacity and as Trustee, Westpac Securitisation Management Pty Limited, as Trust Manager, the Security Trustee nor any Dealer in any way stands behind the capital value and/or performance of the Notes or the assets of the Trust or guarantees the payment of interest or the repayment of principal due on the Notes except to the limited extent provided in the Transaction Documents for the Trust.
- (e) None of the obligations of Westpac Securitisation Management Pty Limited as Trust Manager, or BNY Trust Company of Australia Limited as Trustee, in respect of the Notes are guaranteed in any way by Westpac or any associate of Westpac.
- (f) Application will be made to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for the listing of the Class A Notes issued on the Closing Date by way of debt issues to Professional Investors only. This document is for distribution to Professional Investors only.
- (g) Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this document, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this document.

| Contents |
|----------|
|----------|

| 1. | Important notice | 1 |
|------|--|----|
| 1.1 | Purpose | 1 |
| 1.2 | Terms | 1 |
| 1.3 | Limited responsibility for information | 1 |
| 1.4 | Date of this Information Memorandum | 2 |
| 1.5 | Authorised material | 3 |
| 1.6 | Intending purchasers to make independent investment decisions | 3 |
| 1.7 | Distribution to professional investors only | 3 |
| 1.8 | Excluded offer or invitation | 3 |
| 1.9 | Distribution | 3 |
| 1.10 | Limited recovery | 4 |
| 1.11 | References to ratings | 4 |
| 1.12 | Australian financial services licensing regime | 4 |
| 1.13 | Exchange controls and limitation | 5 |
| 1.14 | Listing | 5 |
| 1.15 | Repo-eligibility | 5 |
| 1.16 | Disclosure of interest and conflicts | 6 |
| 1.17 | EU Securitisation Regulation | 8 |
| 1.18 | UK Securitisation Regulation | 9 |
| 1.19 | US Regulation | 11 |
| 1.20 | EU Regulation | 12 |
| 1.21 | UK Regulation | 13 |
| 1.22 | Section 309B(1)(c) of the Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 289 of Singapore) Notification | 14 |
| 1.23 | Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules | 14 |
| 1.24 | No responsibility for preparation and due execution | 15 |
| 1.25 | Commissions and other payments | 15 |
| 1.26 | Incorporation by reference | 15 |
| 1.27 | Noteholder Acknowledgement | 15 |
| 1.28 | No financial product advice | 16 |
| 1.29 | Reliance on Information Memorandum | 16 |
| 2. | Summary | 18 |
| 2.1 | Westpac Securitisation Trust programme | 18 |
| 2.2 | Transaction Parties | 18 |
| 2.3 | General Information regarding the Notes | 19 |
| 2.4 | The Housing Loans | 23 |
| 2.5 | Credit Enhancements | 24 |
| 2.6 | Interest Rate Risk Management | 25 |
| 2.7 | Liquidity Support | 26 |
| 2.8 | Redraw and Further Advance Funding | 26 |
| 2.9 | Security Trust Deed | 27 |
| 2.10 | Further Information | 27 |
| 3. | Special considerations and risk factors | 29 |
| 3.1 | Limited liability under the Notes | 29 |
| 3.2 | Secondary market risk | 29 |

| 3.3 | Early principal distributions | 29 |
|------|--|-----------|
| 3.4 | Repayment holidays may result in insufficient interest | 30 |
| 3.5 | Westpac's ability to set the interest rate on variable rate Housing Loans may lead to increased delinquencies or prepayments | 30 |
| 3.6 | Delinquency and default risk | 31 |
| 3.7 | An early redemption of Notes may affect the return on the Notes | 32 |
| 3.8 | Date-Based Call Option | 32 |
| 3.9 | Risk of Westpac as counterparty | 32 |
| 3.10 | Equitable assignment | 33 |
| 3.11 | Breach of representation or warranty | 34 |
| 3.12 | Mortgage Insurance Policies | 34 |
| 3.13 | Reinvestment risk | 34 |
| 3.14 | The ability for borrowers or Westpac to change the product classification for Housing Loans may affect repayments or prepayments | 35 |
| 3.15 | Consumer Credit Legislation | 35 |
| 3.16 | Unreimbursed Redraws will be paid before principal on the Notes | 37 |
| 3.17 | The proceeds from the enforcement of the Security Trust Deed may be insufficient to pay amounts due under the Notes | 38 |
| 3.18 | Voting Mortgagees must act to effect enforcement of the Security Trust Deed | 38 |
| 3.19 | The use of Principal Collections to cover shortfalls may lead to principal losses | 39 |
| 3.20 | There are limits on the amount of available liquidity | 39 |
| 3.21 | The concentration of Housing Loans in specific geographic areas may increase the possibility of losses on the Notes | 39 |
| 3.22 | Natural disasters or change in environmental circumstances may increas the possibility of losses on the Notes | se 39 |
| 3.23 | Privacy | 39 |
| 3.24 | A decline in Australian economic conditions may lead to losses on the Notes | 40 |
| 3.25 | Rating | 41 |
| 3.26 | The termination of any of the Hedge Agreements may subject Notes to losses | 41 |
| 3.27 | Investment in the Notes may not be suitable for all investors | 42 |
| 3.28 | Withholding tax | 43 |
| 3.29 | FATCA and similar legislation | 43 |
| 3.30 | Common Reporting Standard | 45 |
| 3.31 | Enforcement | 46 |
| 3.32 | Support Facilities | 46 |
| 3.33 | Consolidation | 47 |
| 3.34 | Subordination of the Class B Notes provides only limited protection again losses | nst 47 |
| 3.35 | Risk retention regulation | 47 |
| 3.36 | Personal Property Security Regime | 48 |
| 3.37 | Insolvency Law Reform | 48 |
| 3.38 | Global financial regulatory reforms and implementation of and/or change to the Basel Framework | es 49 |
| 3.39 | The proposed financial transaction tax | 50 |
| 3.40 | Australian Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorism Financing Act | 51 |

| 3.41 | System Limits and Data Integrity | 51 |
|------|--|----|
| 3.42 | European Risk Retention and Due Diligence Requirements | 52 |
| 3.43 | UK Risk Retention and Due Diligence Requirements | 55 |
| 3.44 | Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules | 57 |
| 3.45 | Effects of other regulatory measures | 60 |
| 3.46 | Cessation of, or material change to, the BBSW benchmark may result | in |
| | reduced liquidity and/or losses on the Notes | 60 |
| 3.47 | COVID-19 | 61 |
| 4. | Details of the Notes | 63 |
| 4.1 | General Description of the Notes | 63 |
| 4.2 | Coupon on the Class A Notes and Class B Notes | 63 |
| 4.3 | Principal Repayments on the Notes | 64 |
| 4.4 | Maturity Date | 64 |
| 4.5 | Date-Based Call Option | 64 |
| 4.6 | Clean-Up Call Option | 67 |
| 4.7 | Redemption for Tax Event | 68 |
| 4.8 | Final Redemption | 69 |
| 4.9 | Rounding-down of Coupon and Principal Payments | 69 |
| 4.10 | Method of Payment | 69 |
| 4.11 | Register of Noteholders | 69 |
| 4.12 | Note Acknowledgment | 70 |
| 4.13 | Note Transfers | 71 |
| 4.14 | Marked Transfer and Acceptance | 72 |
| 4.15 | Rights of Noteholders | 72 |
| 4.16 | Lodgement of the Notes in Austraclear | 73 |
| 4.17 | Notices to Noteholders | 74 |
| 4.18 | Joint Noteholders; no trusts | 74 |
| 5. | Westpac and its housing loan business | 75 |
| 5.1 | Background to Westpac | 75 |
| 5.2 | Origination of Housing Loans | 75 |
| 5.3 | Approval and Underwriting Process | 75 |
| 5.4 | Product Types | 77 |
| 5.5 | Additional features of fixed rate loans | 79 |
| 5.6 | Servicing of Housing Loans | 79 |
| 6. | Housing Loans | 82 |
| 6.1 | Eligible Housing Loans | 82 |
| 6.2 | Housing Loan Features | 85 |
| 6.3 | Housing Loan Statistics | 89 |
| 7. | Cashflow methodology | 90 |
| 7.1 | General | 90 |
| 7.2 | Collections and Payment | 90 |
| 7.3 | Calculation of Total Available Funds | 91 |
| 7.4 | Available Income | 91 |
| 7.5 | Principal Draws | 93 |
| 7.6 | Liquidity Draws | 93 |
| 7.7 | Remaining Liquidity Shortfall | 93 |
| 7.8 | Distribution of Total Available Funds | 94 |

| 7.9 | Gross Principal Collections and Principal Collections | 97 |
|-------|---|-----|
| 7.10 | Distribution of Principal Collections | 99 |
| 7.11 | Principal Charge Offs | 101 |
| 7.12 | Prepayment Costs and Prepayment Benefits | 103 |
| 7.13 | Interest Offset Amount | 103 |
| 7.14 | Calculations and Directions | 104 |
| 8. | Support Facilities | 105 |
| 8.1 | Liquidity Facility | 105 |
| 8.2 | Redraw Facility | 108 |
| 8.3 | Hedge Agreements | 110 |
| 8.4 | The Mortgage Insurance Policies | 111 |
| 8.5 | Servicer Undertakings with respect to Mortgage Insurance Policy | 112 |
| 9. | The Trust | 113 |
| 9.1 | The Trust | 113 |
| 9.2 | Role of the Trust Manager | 117 |
| 9.3 | Beneficiary | 120 |
| 9.4 | The Servicer | 120 |
| 9.5 | Document Custody | 125 |
| 9.6 | Termination of the Trust | 126 |
| 9.7 | Audit and Accounts | 126 |
| 9.8 | Income Tax | 127 |
| 9.9 | Amendments to the Trust Deed | 127 |
| 9.10 | Meeting of Noteholders | 127 |
| 9.11 | Perfection of Title | 129 |
| 10. | The Security Trust Deed | 130 |
| 10.1 | Security interest granted under the Security Trust Deed | 130 |
| 10.2 | Security Trustee | 130 |
| 10.3 | Events of Default | 131 |
| 10.4 | Enforcement | 133 |
| 10.5 | Priorities after enforcement | 134 |
| 10.6 | Security Trustee Fee and Expenses | 135 |
| 10.7 | Retirement and removal | 135 |
| 10.8 | Amendment | 136 |
| 10.9 | Information | 136 |
| 10.10 | Meeting of Mortgagees | 136 |
| 11. | Taxation matters | 138 |
| 11.1 | Australian Interest Withholding Tax (IWT) | 138 |
| 11.2 | Withholding for failure to provide Tax File Number (TFN) | 140 |
| 11.3 | Other Australian withholding taxes | 140 |
| 11.4 | Other Australian Tax Matters | 140 |
| 11.5 | Hong Kong taxation | 141 |
| 12. | Selling Restrictions | 143 |
| 12.1 | Selling Restrictions - General | 143 |
| 12.2 | Australia | 143 |
| 12.3 | United States | 145 |
| 12.4 | United Kingdom | 146 |

| 12.5 | European Economic Area | 146 |
|------|---|-----|
| 12.6 | Hong Kong | 147 |
| 12.7 | Japan | 147 |
| 12.8 | New Zealand | 148 |
| 12.9 | Singapore | 148 |
| 13. | Transaction Documents | 151 |
| 14. | Glossary of Terms | 152 |
| 15. | Description of the Housing Loans as at the Cut-Off Date | 180 |
| 15.1 | Description of the Housing Loans | 180 |
| 15.2 | Pool Statistics as at the Cut-Off Date | 181 |

Page vii

1. Important notice

1.1 Purpose

This Information Memorandum relates solely to the proposed issue of Notes on the Closing Date by BNY Trust Company of Australia Limited (the *Trustee*) as trustee of the Series 2021-1 WST Trust (the *Trust*).

The purpose of this Information Memorandum is only to assist the recipient to decide whether to proceed with a further investigation of the Notes. It is only a summary of the terms and conditions of the Notes and does not purport to contain all the information a person considering investing in Notes may require. The definitive terms and conditions of the Notes are contained in the Transaction Documents. If there is any inconsistency between this Information Memorandum and the Transaction Documents, the Transaction Documents should be regarded as containing the definitive information. A copy of the Transaction Documents may be viewed in electronic or other form determined by the Trust Manager on request in accordance with the procedures outlined in section 13 of this Information Memorandum.

This Information Memorandum should not be construed as an offer or invitation to any person to subscribe for or purchase Notes, and must not be relied upon by intending purchasers of Notes.

1.2 Terms

References in this Information Memorandum to various parties and documents are explained in sections 2 and 14 respectively. Unless defined elsewhere, other terms are defined in the Glossary of Terms in section 14. Section 14 should be referred to in conjunction with any review of this Information Memorandum.

1.3 Limited responsibility for information

This document includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Trust and the Notes. The Trust Manager accepts full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this document and confirms, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of its knowledge and belief there are no other facts the omission of which would make any statement herein misleading.

This Information Memorandum has been prepared solely by the Trust Manager based on information available and facts and circumstances known to it as at 7 October 2021 (the *Preparation Date*). The Trust Manager has requested and authorised the distribution of this Information Memorandum and has sole responsibility for its accuracy. The Trust Manager does not make any representation or warranty, express or implied, as to, or assume any responsibility or liability for, the authenticity, origin, validity, accuracy or completeness of, or errors or omissions in, any information, statement, opinion or forecast contained in any accompanying, previous or subsequent material or presentation.

None of the Trustee, Westpac (in any capacity), the Security Trustee, any Dealer or any other person makes any representation or warranty, express or implied, as to, or assumes any responsibility or liability for, the authenticity, origin, validity, accuracy or completeness of, or errors or omissions in, any information, statement, opinion or forecast contained in this Information Memorandum or in any accompanying, previous or subsequent material or presentation.

Westpac has been involved in the preparation of this Information Memorandum only for the purposes of making the disclosure in sections 1.17, 1.18, 1.23, 3.42, 3.43 and 3.44. Apart from this, Westpac has not been involved in the preparation of any part of this Information Memorandum or authorised or caused its issue, and has not made and does not purport to make, any other statement or representation in this Information Memorandum.

None of the Trustee, the Security Trustee or any Dealer has made, or otherwise purports to make, any statement or representation in this Information Memorandum, nor have any of the Trustee, the Security Trustee or the Dealers been involved in the preparation of any part of it or authorised or caused the issue of it.

None of the Trust Manager, the Trustee, Westpac (in any capacity), the Security Trustee, any Dealer or any other person accepts any responsibility to Noteholders or prospective Noteholders to update or correct this Information Memorandum after the Preparation Date with regard to information or circumstances which come to its attention after the Preparation Date.

No recipient of this Information Memorandum can assume that any person referred to in it has conducted any investigation or due diligence concerning, or has carried out or will carry out any independent audit of, or has independently verified or will verify, the information contained in this Information Memorandum.

It should not be assumed that the information contained in this Information Memorandum is necessarily accurate, timely or complete in the context of any offer to subscribe for or an invitation to subscribe for or buy any of the Notes at any time after the Preparation Date, even if this Information Memorandum is circulated in conjunction with the offer or invitation.

None of the Trust Manager, the Trustee, Westpac (in any capacity), the Security Trustee, any Dealer or any other person accepts any responsibility for, or makes any representation as to, the tax consequences of investing in, the Notes.

1.4 Date of this Information Memorandum

This Information Memorandum has been prepared based on information available and facts and circumstances known to the Trust Manager as at the Preparation Date. Neither the delivery of this Information Memorandum, nor any offer or issue of Notes, implies or should be relied upon as a representation or warranty that:

(a) there has been no change since the Preparation Date in the affairs or financial condition of the Trust, the Trust Manager, the Trustee, Westpac (in any capacity), the Security Trustee, any Dealer or any other party named in this Information Memorandum; or (b) the information contained in this Information Memorandum is accurate, timely and complete at any time after the Preparation Date.

No one undertakes to review the financial condition or affairs of the Trustee or the Trust at any time or to keep a recipient of this Information Memorandum or Noteholder informed of changes in, or matters arising or coming to their attention which may affect, anything referred to in this Information Memorandum.

1.5 Authorised material

No person is authorised to give any information or make any representation which is not expressly contained in this Information Memorandum and any information or representation which is not contained in this Information Memorandum must not be relied upon as having been authorised by or on behalf of the Trust Manager, the Trustee, Westpac (in any capacity), the Security Trustee, any Dealer or any other party to any Transaction Document.

1.6 Intending purchasers to make independent investment decisions

The information contained in this Information Memorandum is not a recommendation by the Trust Manager, the Trustee, Westpac (in any capacity), the Security Trustee or any Dealer that any person subscribe for or purchase any Notes. Each intending purchaser must make its own independent assessment and investigation of the terms of issue of the Notes as it considers appropriate and must base any decision to acquire Notes solely upon such independent assessment and investigation.

1.7 Distribution to professional investors only

This Information Memorandum has been prepared on a confidential basis for distribution only to professional investors whose ordinary business includes the buying or selling of securities such as the Notes and who are not retail clients as defined in section 761A of the Corporations Act. This Information Memorandum is not intended for and should not be distributed to any other person unless: (a) the distribution to that person does not breach the selling restrictions set out in section 12 ("Selling Restrictions"); or (b) the prior written consent from the Trust Manager has been obtained.

1.8 Excluded offer or invitation

Each offer to purchase or invitation to buy Notes will not require disclosure for the purposes of Part 6D.2 or Chapter 7 of the Corporations Act as the amount payable on acceptance of the offer by each person to whom the offer is made or the invitation is issued will be at least A\$500,000 (disregarding any amount payable to the extent to which it is to be paid out of money lent by the Trustee or other person offering those Notes or an associate (as defined in the Corporations Act) of either of them). Accordingly, this Information Memorandum is not required to be lodged with, or registered by, the Australian Securities and Investments Commission. Further information regarding the transfer of Notes is set out in section 2.10.

1.9 Distribution

The distribution of this Information Memorandum and the offering or sale of Notes in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Information

Memorandum comes are required by the Trust Manager, the Trustee, Westpac, the Security Trustee and the Dealer to inform themselves about and to observe any such restriction. Further details are set out in section 12.

The Dealer has confirmed that it has complied or will comply with each of the selling restrictions set out in section 12.

1.10 Limited recovery

The Trustee's liability to make payments in respect of the Notes is limited to its right of indemnity from the assets of the Trust which are from time to time available to make such payments under the Trust Deed, the Series Notice and the Security Trust Deed. All claims against the Trustee in relation to the Notes may only be satisfied out of the assets of the Trust except in the case of (and to the extent of) any fraud, negligence or wilful misconduct on the part of the Trustee. For further details, see section 9.1(j).

Each Noteholder is required to accept any distribution of moneys under the Security Trust Deed in full and final satisfaction of all moneys owing to it, and any debt represented by any shortfall that exists after any such final distribution is extinguished.

The Trustee shall not be liable to satisfy any obligations or liabilities from its personal assets except arising from (and to the extent of) any fraud, negligence or wilful misconduct on the part of the Trustee.

None of the Trust Manager, the Trustee, Westpac (in any capacity), the Security Trustee, any Dealer or their respective related bodies corporate guarantees payment or repayment of any moneys owing to Noteholders or the principal of Notes or the payment of interest, nor do they make any statement (including, without limitation, any representation) with respect to income tax or other taxation consequences of any investment which is made under this Information Memorandum.

1.11 References to ratings

There are several references in this Information Memorandum to the credit rating of the Notes and parties. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and the credit ratings of the Notes and parties referenced in this Information Memorandum may be subject to revision, suspension or withdrawal at any time by the relevant Rating Agency. The credit rating of the Notes addresses the likelihood of the timely payment of interest. The credit rating of the Notes does not address the expected rate of principal repayment other than the ultimate payment of principal no later than the Maturity Date. No Rating Agency was involved in the preparation of this Information Memorandum.

1.12 Australian financial services licensing regime

Pursuant to section 913B of the Corporations Act, the Trust Manager holds an Australian Financial Services Licence (the *AFSL*), Licence No. 253128, which was issued on 24 February 2004 and amended in July 2005 and April 2006. Under the AFSL, the Trust Manager is authorised to: provide general financial product advice only for (i) derivatives and (ii) securities limited to debentures of a body corporate or unincorporated body; and to deal in a financial product by arranging for another person to issue, apply for, acquire, vary or dispose of (i) derivatives or (ii) securities limited to debentures of a body corporate or

unincorporated body, in all cases to wholesale clients. The AFSL enables the Trust Manager to perform various functions, including assisting the Dealer in connection with the offering of the Notes, and facilitating the management of the Trustee's interest rate risk arising in connection with the Housing Loans.

Pursuant to section 913B of the Corporations Act, the Security Trustee holds an Australian Financial Services Licence, Licence No. 239053, which was issued on 16 February 2004.

1.13 Exchange controls and limitation

There is a prohibition on, or in some cases the specific prior approval of the Minister for Foreign Affairs must be obtained for, certain payments or other dealings connected with parties identified with terrorism or to whom financial sanctions apply. See www.dfat.gov.au for the most up to date information on the Australian sanctions regime.

1.14 Listing

Application will be made to have the Class A Notes issued on the Closing Date listed on the ASX and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The Hong Kong Stock Exchange application is for a listing by way of debt issue to Professional Investors only. No assurance can be made that any such application will be granted. Prospective purchasers of those Class A Notes should consult with the Trust Manager to determine their listing status. No application has been made to list any other Notes on the ASX or the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, or any Notes on any other securities exchange.

1.15 Repo-eligibility

An application will be made by the Trust Manager to the Reserve Bank of Australia (*RBA*) to have the Class A Notes classified as eligible securities for the purpose of repurchase agreements with the RBA (*repo-eligibility*).

The criteria for repo eligibility published by the RBA require, among other things, that certain information be provided by the Trust Manager to the RBA at the time of seeking repo-eligibility and at any time during the term of the Class A Notes in order for the Class A Notes to be (and continue to be) repo-eligible.

No assurance can be made that the application (if any) by the Trust Manager for repoeligibility in respect of the Class A Notes will be successful, or that the Class A Notes will continue to be repo-eligible even if they are eligible in relation to their issue, including if the Trust Manager does not or cannot provide any relevant information to the RBA (including because of subsequent changes by the RBA to its criteria).

If Class A Notes are repo-eligible at any time, Noteholders should be aware that relevant disclosures may be made by the Trust Manager to investors and potential investors in Class A Notes from time to time in such form as determined by the Trust Manager as it sees fit.

Even if Class A Notes are repo-eligible at any time, a Noteholder may not be entitled to access the RBA's repurchase arrangements. Noteholders should consult their own advisers and determine for themselves whether they would be entitled to use any Class A Notes as collateral in relation to repurchase arrangements with the RBA. Neither the Trust

Manager nor any other person gives any assurance as to whether Class A Notes, even if repo-eligible, will be able to be used by any Noteholder as collateral in relation to repurchase arrangements with the RBA.

1.16 Disclosure of interest and conflicts

Each of the Trust Manager and the Lead Manager (in each of its capacities) and their related bodies corporate (as defined in the Corporations Act), affiliates or any of their officers, employees, agents, advisers or contractors (together their "Related Entities") discloses that in addition to the arrangements and interests it will or may have with respect to any party to a Transaction Document ("Transaction Document Interests") or any other person described in this Information Memorandum or as contemplated in the Transaction Documents (each a "Transaction Party"), it or any of its Related Entities, subsidiaries, directors and employees (each a "Relevant Person"):

- (a) may, from time to time be a Noteholder or have pecuniary or other interests in the Notes and they may also have interests pursuant to other arrangements with respect to a Noteholder or a Note; and
- (b) will receive or may pay fees, brokerage, commissions or other benefits, and may act as principal in any dealing in the Notes (including, without limitation, any investment in certain classes of Notes on their initial issue),

(the "Note Interests").

Each Relevant Person and each Noteholder acknowledges these disclosures and further acknowledges and agrees that, without limiting any express obligation of any person under any Transaction Document:

- (c) a Relevant Person will or may from time to time have the Transaction Document Interests and may from time to time have the Note Interests and is, and from time to time may be, involved in a broad range of transactions including, without limitation, banking, dealing in financial products, credit, derivative and liquidity transactions, investment management, corporate and investment banking and research (the "Other Transactions") in various capacities in respect of any Transaction Party or any other person, both on the Relevant Person's own account and/or for the account of other persons (the "Other Transaction Interests");
- (d) a Relevant Person will or may indirectly receive proceeds of Notes in repayment of debt financing arrangements involving that Relevant Person. For example, this could occur if the proceeds of Notes form the purchase price used to acquire the assets that are currently financed under existing debt financing arrangements involving a Relevant Person and that purchase price is in turn used to repay any of the debt financing owing to that Relevant Person;
- (e) a Relevant Person may purchase Notes for their own account and enter into transactions, including credit derivatives, such as asset swaps, repackaging and credit default swaps relating to Notes at the same time as the offer and sale of Notes or in secondary market transactions. Such transactions may be carried out as bilateral trades with selected counterparties and separately from any offering, sale or resale of the Notes to which this Information Memorandum relates;

- (f) each Relevant Person in the course of its business (whether with respect to the Transaction Document Interests, the Note Interests, the Other Transaction Interests or otherwise) may act independently of any other Relevant Person;
- (g) to the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, no Relevant Person has any duties or liabilities (including, without limitation, any advisory or fiduciary duty) to any person other than any contractual obligations of that Relevant Person as set out in the relevant Transaction Documents;
- (h) a Relevant Person may have or come into possession of information not contained in the Information Memorandum that may be relevant to any decision by a potential investor to acquire the Notes and which may or may not be publicly available to potential investors ("Relevant Information");
- (i) to the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, no Relevant Person is under any obligation to disclose any Relevant Information to any potential investor and neither the Information Memorandum, nor any subsequent conduct by a Relevant Person, should be construed as implying that the Relevant Person is not in possession of such Relevant Information or that any information in the Information Memorandum or otherwise is accurate or up to date; and
- (j) a Relevant Person may have various potential and actual conflicts of interest arising in the course of its business, including in respect of the Transaction Document Interests, the Note Interests or the Other Transaction Interests. For example, the exercise of rights against a Transaction Party arising from the Transaction Document Interests (for example, by a dealer, an arranger or a provider of liquidity or other facilities) or from an Other Transaction may affect the ability of a Transaction Party to perform its obligations in respect of Notes. In addition, the existence of a Transaction Document Interest or Other Transaction Interest may affect how a Relevant Person (in another capacity) (for example, as a Noteholder) may seek to exercise any rights it may have in that capacity. These interests may conflict with the interests of a Transaction Party, a potential investor or a Noteholder, and a Transaction Party, a potential investor or a Noteholder may suffer loss as a result. To the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, a Relevant Person is not restricted from entering into, performing or enforcing its rights in respect of the Transaction Document Interests, the Note Interests or the Other Transaction Interests and may otherwise continue or take steps to further or protect any of those interests and its business even where to do so may be in conflict with the interests of Noteholders, potential investors or a Transaction Party, and the Relevant Person may in so doing act without notice to, and without regard to, the interests of any such person. For example, the Relevant Person may participate in transactions in which it may have, directly or indirectly, a material interest or a relationship with another party to such transaction or a related transaction, which may involve a potential conflict with an existing contractual duty to the Trustee, or with another transaction party, including a Noteholder, and could adversely affect the value and return of the Notes.

This is not a comprehensive or definitive list of all actual or potential conflicts of interest.

1.17 EU Securitisation Regulation

Regulation (EU) 2017/2402, together with any implementing regulation, technical standards and official guidance related thereto, in each case as amended, varied or substituted from time to time (the *EU Securitisation Regulation*) began to apply across the European Union (the EU) to any securitisations issued from 1 January 2019.

The EU Securitisation Regulation implements the revised securitisation framework developed by the Basel Committee, as well as risk retention and transparency requirements (imposed variously on the issuer, originator, sponsor and/or original lender of a securitisation, where such entity is an EU Issuing Entity (as defined in section 3.42)) and due diligence requirements (imposed on EU Institutional Investors (as defined below)) in a securitisation.

The risk retention and due diligence rules under the EU Securitisation Regulation (not taking into account any relevant national measures) (the *EU Retention Rules*) apply to securitisations in respect of which the relevant securities are issued on or after 1 January 2019.

The due diligence requirements of the EU Retention Rules apply to EU-regulated credit institutions, EU-regulated investment firms, certain alternative investment fund managers which manage and/or market alternative investment funds in the EU, EU-regulated insurers or reinsurers, certain investment companies authorised in accordance with Directive 2009/65/EC, managing companies as defined in Directive 2009/65/EC, institutions for occupational retirement provision falling within the scope of Directive (EU) 2016/2341 (subject to certain exceptions), and certain investment managers and authorised entities appointed by such institutions subject thereto (collectively, *EU Institutional Investors*).

Potential EU Institutional Investors should note that none of Westpac (in any capacity) or the Trust Manager is bound to comply with the requirements of the EU Retention Rules unless it agrees to be bound as a contractual matter. In this respect, Westpac explicitly discloses that, as contemplated by the EU Retention Rules as at the Closing Date, it will retain, on an ongoing basis, a material net economic interest of not less than 5% of the nominal value of the securitisation, by retaining the Class B Notes (being the first loss tranche) having an aggregate Initial Invested Amount not less than 5% of the aggregate Initial Invested Amount of all Notes. That material net economic interest will not be subject to any credit-risk mitigation or hedging. Westpac will confirm its ongoing retention of the net economic interest described above in investor reports (at least on a quarterly basis) and any change to the manner in which such interest is held will be notified to Noteholders.

This does not prevent Westpac from selling any Notes held by it at any time, provided that the level of retained material net economic interest does not fall below 5%.

Potential EU Institutional Investors should note that only implementing regulations, technical standards and official guidance related to the EU Securitisation Regulation as at the date of this Information Memorandum shall be required to be taken into account by Westpac for the purposes of determining such compliance with the EU Retention Rules. However, to the extent any amendments, standards, guidance or statements come into effect after the date of this Information Memorandum, Westpac may adopt such standards in its sole discretion.

The EU Securitisation Regulation places certain conditions on investments in securitisations by EU Institutional Investors. Any EU Institutional Investor should consult with their own legal and regulatory advisors to determine whether, and to what extent, the information described above and in the Information Memorandum is sufficient for compliance by that EU Institutional Investor with any applicable EU Retention Rules. In the event that a regulator determines that this securitisation transaction did not comply or is no longer in compliance with the EU Retention Rules or the EU Institutional Investor has insufficient information to satisfy its due diligence and/or ongoing monitoring requirements under the EU Retention Rules, then an EU Institutional Investor may be required by its regulator to set aside additional capital against its investment in the Notes or take other remedial measures in respect of its investment in the Notes. Prospective investors are themselves responsible for monitoring and assessing changes to the EU Retention Rules and their regulatory capital requirements. Prospective investors who are uncertain as to the requirements under the EU Retention Rules which apply to them in respect of their relevant jurisdiction should seek guidance from their regulator.

Prospective investors should make their own independent investigation and seek their own independent advice as to (1) the requirements of the EU Retention Rules (and any implementing rules in relation to a relevant jurisdiction); (2) the regulatory capital treatment of their investment (or the liquidity of such investment as a result thereof); and (3) the sufficiency of the information described above and in this Information Memorandum generally for the purposes of complying with the EU Retention Rules (now and at any time in the future) and none of the Trust Manager, the Trustee, the Security Trustee, Westpac (in any capacity) nor any other person: (i) makes any representation that the information described above or in the Information Memorandum is sufficient in all circumstances for such purpose; or (ii) accepts any liability to any prospective investor or any other person for any insufficiency in respect of such information or any failure of the transaction contemplated herein to comply with or otherwise satisfy the requirements of the EU Securitisation Regulation or the EU Retention Rules or any other applicable legal, regulatory or other requirements.

None of the Trustee or the Security Trustee has any responsibility to enforce compliance with the requirements of the EU Securitisation Regulation or the EU Retention Rules or any other applicable legal, regulatory or other requirements.

1.18 UK Securitisation Regulation

The UK regulatory regime is set out pursuant to Regulation (EU) 2017/2402 as amended by The Securitisation (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulation 2019 and as it forms part of the domestic laws of the UK by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (as amended, the *EUWA*) (the *UK Securitisation Regulation*).

Like the EU Securitisation Regulation, the UK Securitisation Regulation includes risk retention and transparency requirements (imposed variously on the issuer, originator, sponsor and/or original lender of a securitisation, where such entity is a UK Issuing Entity (as defined in section 3.43)) and due diligence requirements (imposed on UK Institutional Investors (as defined below) in a securitisation).

The risk retention and due diligence rules under the UK Securitisation Regulation (the **UK Retention Rules**) apply to securitisations in respect of which the relevant securities are issued on or after 1 January 2021.

The due diligence requirements of the UK Retention Rules apply to each of CRR firms as defined by Article 4(1)(2A) of Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms and amending Regulation (EU) No 648/2012 as it forms part of the domestic laws of the UK by virtue of the EUWA, certain alternative investment fund managers which manage or market alternative investment funds in the UK, UK regulated insurers or reinsurers, certain management companies as defined in section 237(2) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (*FSMA*), UCITS as defined by section 236A of FSMA which is an authorised open ended investment company as defined in section 237(3) of FSMA and occupational pension schemes as defined in section 1(1) of the Pension Schemes Act 1993 (collectively, *UK Institutional Investors*).

Potential UK Institutional Investors should note that none of Westpac (in any capacity) or the Trust Manager is bound to comply with the requirements of the UK Retention Rules unless it agrees to be bound as a contractual matter. In this respect, Westpac explicitly discloses that, as contemplated by the UK Retention Rules as at the Closing Date, it will retain, on an ongoing basis, a material net economic interest of not less than 5% of the nominal value of the securitisation, by retaining the Class B Notes (being the first loss tranche) having an aggregate Initial Invested Amount not less than 5% of the aggregate Initial Invested Amount of all Notes. That material net economic interest will not be subject to any credit-risk mitigation or hedging. Westpac will confirm its ongoing retention of the net economic interest described above in investor reports (at least on a quarterly basis) and any change to the manner in which such interest is held will be notified to Noteholders.

This does not prevent Westpac from selling any Notes held by it at any time, provided that the level of retained material net economic interest does not fall below 5%.

Potential UK Institutional Investors should note only technical standards and official guidance related to the UK Securitisation Regulation as at the date of this Information Memorandum shall be required to be taken into account by Westpac for the purposes of determining such compliance with the UK Retention Rules. However, to the extent any amendments, standards, guidance or statements come into effect after the date of this Information Memorandum, Westpac may adopt such standards in its sole discretion.

The UK Securitisation Regulation place certain conditions on investments in securitisations by UK Institutional Investors. Any UK Institutional Investor should consult with their own legal and regulatory advisors to determine whether, and to what extent, the information described above and in the Information Memorandum is sufficient for compliance by that UK Institutional Investor with any applicable UK Retention Rules. In the event that a regulator determines that this securitisation transaction did not comply or is no longer in compliance with the UK Retention Rules or the UK Institutional Investor has insufficient information to satisfy its due diligence and/or ongoing monitoring requirements under the UK Retention Rules, then a UK Institutional Investor may be required by its regulator to set aside additional capital against its investment in the Notes or take other remedial measures

in respect of its investment in the Notes. Prospective investors are themselves responsible for monitoring and assessing changes to the UK Retention Rules and their regulatory capital requirements. Prospective investors who are uncertain as to the requirements under the UK Retention Rules which apply to them should seek guidance from their regulator.

Prospective investors should make their own independent investigation and seek their own independent advice as to (1) the requirements of the UK Retention Rules; (2) the regulatory capital treatment of their investment (or the liquidity of such investment as a result thereof); and (3) the sufficiency of the information described above and in this Information Memorandum generally for the purposes of complying with the UK Retention Rules (now and at any time in the future) and none of the Trust Manager, the Trustee, the Security Trustee, Westpac (in any capacity) nor any other person: (i) makes any representation that the information described above or in the Information Memorandum is sufficient in all circumstances for such purpose; or (ii) accepts any liability to any prospective investor or any other person for any insufficiency in respect of such information or any failure of the transaction contemplated herein to comply with or otherwise satisfy the requirements of the UK Securitisation Regulation or the UK Retention Rules or any other applicable legal, regulatory or other requirements.

None of the Trustee or the Security Trustee has any responsibility to enforce compliance with the requirements of the UK Securitisation Regulation or the UK Retention Rules or any other applicable legal, regulatory or other requirements.

1.19 US Regulation

The risk retention rules set out in regulations adopted under Section 15G of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 of the United States of America (as amended) as added by Section 941 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (the U.S. Risk Retention Rules) came into effect beginning on 24 December 2015, and were fully in effect on 24 December 2016. It is intended that Westpac will rely on an exemption provided for in the U.S. Risk Retention Rules regarding non-U.S. transactions (referred to as a safeharbor for foreign-related transactions). In order to comply with the terms of this exemption, the Notes may not be purchased by, and will not be sold to (or for the account or benefit of) any "U.S. Person" as defined in the U.S. Risk Retention Rules (Risk Retention U.S. Persons). Each holder of a Note or a beneficial interest therein acquired in the initial offer for, issue of, or subscription for the Notes, by its acquisition of a Note or a beneficial interest in a Note, will be deemed to represent to the Trustee, Westpac, the Trust Manager and the Dealer that it (1) is not a Risk Retention U.S. Person, (2) is acquiring such Note for its own account and not with a view to distribution of such Note, and (3) is not acquiring such Note or a beneficial interest therein as part of a scheme to evade the requirements of the U.S. Risk Retention Rules. Prospective investors should note that the definition of a Risk Retention U.S. Person is substantially similar to, but not identical to, the definition of U.S. person under Regulation S.

This Information Memorandum does not constitute an offer of securities in the U.S. or to any U.S. Person as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act 1933 of the U.S. (the *U.S. Securities Act*). The securities or other financial instruments described in this Information Memorandum have not been, and will not be, registered under the U.S.

Securities Act and may not be offered or sold in the U.S. or to, or for the account of, any U.S. Person except in a transaction that is exempt from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and applicable U.S. state securities laws.

The Trust is not registered or required to be registered as an "investment company" under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the *Investment Company Act*). In determining that the Trust is not required to be registered as an investment company, the Trust does not rely on the exemption from the definition of "investment company" set forth in Section 3(c)(1) or Section 3(c)(7) of the Investment Company Act. As of the Closing Date, the Trust is intended to be structured so as not to constitute a "covered fund" for purposes of the regulations adopted to implement Section 619 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (such statutory provision together with such implementing regulations commonly referred to as the "Volcker Rule").

1.20 EU Regulation

(a) Prohibition of sales to EEA Retail Investors

The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area (EEA). For these purposes: (a) a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, MiFID II); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (as amended, the Insurance Distribution *Directive*), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (as amended, the EU Prospectus **Regulation**); and (b) the expression "offer" includes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for the Notes. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the **EU PRIIPs Regulation**) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the EU PRIIPs Regulation.

(b) MiFID Product Governance/Professional Investors and ECPs only Target Market Solely for the purposes of the manufacturer's (within the meaning of MiFID II) product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is eligible counterparties and professional clients only, each as defined in MiFID II; and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer's target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either

adopting or refining the manufacturer's target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

1.21 UK Regulation

(a) Prohibition of sales to UK Retail Investors

The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the UK. For these purposes: (a) a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of the domestic law of the UK by virtue of the EUWA; or (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the FSMA and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97 in the UK, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of the domestic law of the UK by virtue of the EUWA (UK MiFIR); or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of the domestic law of the UK by virtue of the EUWA (the UK Prospectus Regulation); and (b) the expression "offer" includes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for the Notes. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms part of the domestic law of the UK by virtue of the EUWA (the UK PRIIPs Regulation) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.

(b) UK MiFIR Product Governance/Professional Investors and ECPs only Target Market

Solely for the purposes of the manufacturer's (within the meaning of UK MiFIR) product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is only eligible counterparties, as defined in the FCA Handbook Conduct of Business Sourcebook, and professional clients, as defined in UK MiFIR; and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer's target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer's target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

1.22 Section 309B(1)(c) of the Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 289 of Singapore) Notification

Notification under Section 309B(1)(c) of the Securities and Futures Act of Singapore: all Notes shall be capital markets products other than prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018) and Specified Investment Products (as defined in the Monetary Authority of Singapore (MAS) Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products). This constitutes a notification to all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309A(1) of the SFA).

1.23 Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules

On 15 March 2019, the Japanese Financial Services Agency published the new due diligence and risk retention rules in relation to regulatory capital requirements with respect to the investment by certain Japanese financial institutions in securitisation transactions (the *Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules*). The Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules became applicable to Japanese financial institutions acquiring securitisation exposures after 31 March 2019.

Westpac, as originator for the purposes of the Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules, intends to retain the Class B Notes, the most subordinated tranche, the amount of which is at least 5% of the exposure of the total underlying assets of this securitisation transaction.

Prospective investors should make their own independent investigation and seek their own independent advice (i) as to the scope and applicability of the Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules; (ii) as to the sufficiency of the information described in this Information Memorandum and (iii) as to the compliance with the Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules in respect of the transactions contemplated by this Information Memorandum

None of the Trustee, the Trust Manager or any other party to the Transaction Documents (i) makes any representation that the performance of the retention described above, the making of the representations and warranties described above, and the information described in this Information Memorandum, or any other information which may be made available to investors, are or will be sufficient for the purposes of any Japanese Affected Investor's compliance with the Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules, (ii) has any liability to any prospective investor or any other person for any insufficiency of such information or any non-compliance by any such person with the Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules or any other applicable legal, regulatory or other requirements, or (iii) has any obligation to provide any further information or take any other steps that may be required by any Japanese Affected Investors to enable compliance by such person with the requirements of the Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules or any other applicable legal, regulatory or other requirements.

None of the Trustee or the Security Trustee has any responsibility to enforce compliance with the requirements of the Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules or any other applicable legal, regulatory or other requirements.

See section 3.44 for further details.

1.24 No responsibility for preparation and due execution

Westpac (in any capacity, including in its capacity as Dealer and Lead Manager) does not have any responsibility to or liability for and does not owe any duty to any person who purchases or intends to purchase Notes in respect of this transaction, including but not limited to:

- (a) the admission to listing and/or trading of any of the Notes;
- (b) the accuracy or completeness of any information contained in this Information Memorandum and has not separately verified the information contained in this Information Memorandum and makes no representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, as to the accuracy or completeness of, or any errors or omissions in, any information contained in this Information Memorandum or any other information supplied in connection with the Notes; or
- (c) the preparation and due execution of the Transaction Documents and the power, capacity or due authorisation of any other party to enter into and execute the Transaction Documents, or the enforceability of any of the obligations set out in the Transaction Documents.

1.25 Commissions and other payments

Westpac (in any capacity, including in its capacity as Lead Manager) or the Trust Manager may pay to any person (who may or may not be or become a Noteholder) any amount and for any purpose that Westpac or the Trust Manager (as applicable) determines, including without limitation any commitment fee and any investor procurement fee. Neither Westpac nor the Trust Manager is required to disclose the identity of any such payee, the amount or timing of any such payment or the purpose of any such payment, nor is it required to pay any amount, or the same amount, to any person (including any Noteholder) for the same or a similar purpose, or for any purpose whatsoever.

1.26 Incorporation by reference

Information contained in or accessible through the documents or websites mentioned in this Information Memorandum does not form part of this Information Memorandum unless it is specifically stated that the document or website is incorporated by reference and forms part of this Information Memorandum.

1.27 Noteholder Acknowledgement

Each Noteholder, by subscribing for or purchasing any Note, acknowledges and agrees that:

- (a) the Trustee will not be taken to be fraudulent, negligent or in wilful misconduct purely because the Trustee has relied on the Trust Manager's preparation of this Information Memorandum;
- (b) the subscribing for or purchasing and holding Notes is subject to investment risk, including possible delays in repayment and loss of income and principal involved;

- (c) in making its decision to invest in and purchase the Notes and to be bound by the Transaction Documents, it has relied solely upon its own independent investigations and it has been provided with the Information Memorandum and has been given an opportunity to obtain, consider and review the Transaction Documents prior to the time of its subscribing for or purchasing any Notes;
- (d) it is not relying in any way on any Lead Manager;
 - (i) with respect to any tax, accounting, economic or other considerations involved in investing in the Notes; or
 - (ii) in connection with the information, contents or subject matter of or contained within the Information Memorandum or any offer material in respect of the Notes; and
- (e) none of the Trustee, Westpac (in any capacity), the Security Trustee, any Dealer or any other person is responsible for, and none of them have reviewed or verified in any way, the preparation, verification, accuracy, contents or release of the Information Memorandum or any offer material in respect of the Notes.

1.28 No financial product advice

Nothing in this Information Memorandum or any other information supplied in connection with the Notes is intended to constitute a recommendation or statement of opinion (or a report of either of those things) that is intended to influence any prospective Noteholder's decision whether or not to invest in the Notes and no person has considered the objectives, financial situation or needs of any prospective Noteholder in the preparation of this Information Memorandum.

Prospective Noteholders should read this Information Memorandum and the Transaction Documents and, if required, seek advice from appropriately authorised and qualified advisers prior to making a decision whether or not to invest in the Notes.

Once a Noteholder has subscribed for a Note, there is no "cooling-off regime" that is applicable to the Notes and no Party is obliged to acquire Notes or refund subscription moneys if a Noteholder changes their mind after subscribing for Notes.

None of the Arranger or the Lead Manager owe any fiduciary or other duties to any recipient of this Information Memorandum in connection with the Notes and/or any related transactions. No reliance may be placed on any of the Arranger or the Lead Manager for financial, legal, taxation, accounting or investment advice or recommendations.

1.29 Reliance on Information Memorandum

Any prospective Noteholder contemplating the purchase of Notes should make, and shall be taken to have made, its own independent investigation of the financial condition and affairs, and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness of the Trustee (in its capacity as trustee of the Trust). Neither the delivery of this Information Memorandum nor any purchase of Notes made hereunder shall, under any circumstance, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Trustee (in its capacity as trustee of the Trust) or any other person referred to in this Information Memorandum since the Preparation Date.

Each potential purchaser should determine for itself whether to purchase or otherwise acquire any of the Notes described in this Information Memorandum, based on such documentation and information as it shall deem appropriate at the time.

This Information Memorandum is not intended to be and does not constitute, a recommendation or statement of opinion (or a report of either of those things) by the Trust Manager, the Trustee, Westpac (in any capacity), the Security Trustee, any Dealer or any other person that any person subscribe for or purchase any Notes.

Neither the Trust Manager nor any other person accepts any responsibility to purchasers of the Notes or intending purchasers of the Notes to update this Information Memorandum after the Preparation Date with regard to information or circumstances which come to its attention after the Preparation Date.

It should not be assumed that the information contained in this Information Memorandum is necessarily accurate or complete in the context of any offer to subscribe for or an invitation to subscribe for or buy any of the Notes at any time after the Preparation Date, even if this Information Memorandum is circulated in conjunction with the offer or invitation.

2. Summary

The following is only a brief summary of the terms and conditions of the Notes. It should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, the more detailed information which appears elsewhere in this Information Memorandum and the terms of the Transaction Documents.

2.1 Westpac Securitisation Trust programme

The Westpac Securitisation Trust (*WST*) programme was established pursuant to the Trust Deed for the purpose of investing in pools of consumer assets originated from time to time by the Westpac Group. The Trust Deed provides for the creation of an unlimited number of WST trusts. Each WST trust will be a separate and distinct trust and will be created subject to the Trust Deed and a series notice establishing specific provisions of the relevant WST trust and the instruments to be issued by that trust. Multiple classes of Notes may be issued by the trustee in relation to each WST trust that may differ among themselves as to priority of repayment and ratings.

Series 2021-1 WST Trust

The Series 2021-1 WST Trust was established on 17 September 2021 pursuant to a notice of creation of trust to the Trustee from the Trust Manager. Under the notice of creation of trust, the Trust Manager agrees to be bound by the duties and obligations imposed on a "Trust Manager" (as that term is used in the Trust Deed) by the Trust Deed in all respects as if it had originally been named as a party to the Trust Deed and the Trustee agrees to be bound by the duties and obligations imposed on a "Trustee" (as that term is used in the Trust Deed) by the Trust Deed in all respects as if it had originally been named as a party to the Trust Deed. The detailed terms of the Trust and the Notes are as set out in the Series Notice.

The trustee of the Trust will fund the purchase of a pool of residential housing loans originated by Westpac, which will be specified in a Sale Notice from the Approved Seller, by issuing two classes of debt securities.

Westpac is the sole Residual Capital Beneficiary and the sole Residual Income Beneficiary. There are no other beneficiaries of the Trust. The Trust will therefore be a member of the Westpac consolidated tax group. For further details, see sections 3.33 and 9.8.

2.2 Transaction Parties

Trustee

BNY Trust Company of Australia Limited (ABN 49 050 294 052), as trustee of the Trust

Security Trustee

BTA Institutional Services Australia Limited (ABN 48 002 916 396), as trustee of the Security Trust

Trust Manager

Westpac Securitisation Management Pty Limited (ABN 73 081 709 211), a wholly owned subsidiary of Westpac, as manager of the Trust

Approved Seller

Westpac Banking Corporation in its capacity as originator of the Housing Loans

Servicer

Westpac Banking Corporation in its capacity as servicer of the Housing Loans and custodian of related documents

Arranger

Westpac Banking Corporation

Lead Manager

Westpac Banking Corporation

Dealer

Westpac Banking Corporation

Mortgage Insurer

Arch Lenders Mortgage Indemnity Limited (formerly known as Westpac Lenders Mortgage Insurance Limited)

Liquidity Facility Provider

Westpac Banking Corporation in its capacity as the provider of the Liquidity Facility

Redraw Facility Provider

Westpac Banking Corporation in its capacity as the provider of the Redraw Facility

Basis Swap Provider

Westpac Banking Corporation in its capacity as the provider of the Basis Swap

Interest Rate Swap Provider

Westpac Banking Corporation in its capacity as the provider of the Interest Rate Swap

Residual Capital Beneficiary

Westpac Banking Corporation

Residual Income Beneficiary

Westpac Banking Corporation

2.3 General Information regarding the Notes

Issuer of the Notes

The Trustee as trustee of the Trust

Description of the Notes

Pass-through floating rate debt securities. The Notes are issued with the benefit of, and subject to, the Trust Deed, the Series Notice and the Security Trust Deed.

The Notes will be in registered form, registered in a register maintained by the Trustee. Bearer notes will not be issued, and the Notes will not be in certificated form. Notes held in the Austraclear System will be registered in the name of Austraclear. See section 4.11 for more detail.

Transfers of Notes are made by way of transfers registered on the Register, provided that interests in Notes held in the Austraclear System must be transferred in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Austraclear System. See section 4.13 for more detail.

Classes of Notes

The Trustee will issue Notes in two Classes:

- (a) a single tranche of senior notes, designated Class A Notes; and
- (b) a single tranche of notes which will, post enforcement, rank behind the Class A
 Notes for the payment of principal and Coupons, designated Class B Notes.

The Trustee may issue a tranche of Class A Notes to redeem outstanding Class A Notes, as described in section 4.5.

Proposed Issue Amount

A\$1,200,000,000

Cut-Off Date

30 July 2021

Closing Date

7 October 2021

Payment Date

Subject to the "Business Days" section below, the 16th day of each month. The first Payment Date will be 16 November 2021.

Use of Proceeds

On the Closing Date, the proceeds of issue of the Notes will be used to acquire the Housing Loans.

Business Days

If a date on which any amount falls due for payment is not a Business Day, then any payment due on that day will be paid on the next Business Day unless that day falls in the next calendar month, in which case the due date will be the preceding Business Day.

Collection Period

Each period which commences on (and includes) the 4th day of each month and runs until (and includes) the 3rd day of the following month. However, the first Collection Period will commence on (and include) the day after the Cut-Off Date and end on (and include) 3 November 2021. The last Collection Period is the period from (but excluding) the last day of the previous Collection Period to (and including) the Termination Date of the Trust.

Coupon Period

- (a) In relation to the first Coupon Period of any Note, the period commencing on (and including) the Closing Date and ending on (and including) the day immediately before the first Payment Date.
- (b) In relation to each succeeding Coupon Period, each period commencing on (and including) a Payment Date and ending on (and including) the day immediately before the next Payment Date.
- (c) The final Coupon Period ends on (and excludes) the day on which all amounts due on the Notes are redeemed in full in accordance with the Transaction Documents.

Determination Date

Four Business Days before each Payment Date.

Maturity Date

The Payment Date in April 2053.

Pricing Date

24 September 2021

Record Date

With respect to a Payment Date, 4.00pm (Sydney time) on the second Business Day before that Payment Date.

Initial Invested Amount of each Note

Each Note will have an initial denomination of A\$100,000. Notes will initially be issued in minimum parcels of at least A\$500,000 or in whole multiples of A\$100,000 in excess thereof.

Aggregate Initial Invested Amount of each Class of Notes

Class A: A\$1,104,000,000

Class B: A\$96,000,000

Issue Price

The Class A Notes and the Class B Notes will be issued at par value.

Rating

It is expected that on the Closing Date the Class A Notes will be rated AAA (sf) by S&P and AAAsf by Fitch Ratings and the Class B Notes will be unrated.

Coupon for Notes

The Coupon on the Notes for each Coupon Period will be payable in arrear on the Payment Date following the end of that Coupon Period. The first Coupon on the Notes will be payable on 16 November 2021 in respect of the first Coupon Period.

The Coupon on the Notes will be calculated:

(a) on a daily basis at the Coupon Rate applicable for that Class of Note for that Coupon Period;

- (b) on the Invested Amount of that Note as at the first day of that Coupon Period; and
- (c) on the basis of the actual number of days in that Coupon Period and a year of 365 days,

and shall accrue due from day to day, provided:

- (d) no interest will accrue on any Note for the period from and including the date on which the Stated Amount of that Note is reduced to zero; and
- (e) no Coupon will be payable on a Payment Date in respect of the Class B Notes until all Coupon in respect of the Class A Notes and all interest and fees under the Redraw Facility (see section 8.2(a)) have been paid (see section 7.8(a)).

Coupon Rate for Class A Notes and Class B Notes

The Coupon Rate applicable to the Class B Notes for any Coupon Period or applicable to the Class A Notes for a Coupon Period commencing before the Margin Step-Up Date will be the Bank Bill Rate on the first day of the Coupon Period plus the relevant Margin for the relevant Note.

The Coupon Rate applicable to the Class A Notes for a Coupon Period commencing on or after the Margin Step-Up Date will be the Bank Bill Rate on the first day of the Coupon Period plus the Margin for the Class A Notes plus a further percentage rate per annum equal to the Step-Up Margin for the Class A Notes.

The Margin for each of the Class A Notes and the Class B Notes is as determined on the Pricing Date.

Principal Repayment

Any repayment of principal which is required to be made on a Payment Date as described in section 7.10(b) will be made to the persons whose names are, on the Record Date, entered in the Register as the holders of the Notes.

The distribution of Total Available Funds will be made in accordance with the order of priority set out in section 7.8.

For so long as the Serial Paydown Conditions are not met, Principal Collections will be distributed sequentially (first to Class A Noteholders and then to Class B Noteholders). If the Serial Paydown Conditions are met, Principal Collections will be distributed to the Noteholders of each Class proportionately, as described in section 7.10(b).

Date-Based Call Option

On any Payment Date on or after the Date-Based Call Option Date, subject to the restrictions described in section 4.5 (after taking into account any amounts to be applied on the Relevant Payment Date in accordance with section 7):

- (a) Westpac may purchase all Class A Notes from Class A Noteholders for their aggregate Invested Amount; or
- (b) the Trustee may redeem all the Class A Notes (if so directed by the Trust Manager and using the proceeds of sale from the Trustee to Westpac of the equitable title to Housing Loans held by the Trust for an amount not less than the lesser of their Unpaid Balance and their Fair Market Value); or

(c) the Trustee may (if so directed by the Trust Manager), subject to a Rating Notification, issue to Westpac or as it directs, New Class A Notes. The proceeds of issue will be applied by the Trustee on the Relevant Payment Date to repay moneys owing to Class A Noteholders at that time in accordance with the Series Notice (see section 7).

Clean-Up Call Option

Westpac may, subject to the restrictions described in section 4.6 (if the call described in section 4.6 has been triggered by the Trust Manager), purchase the equitable title to the Housing Loans held by the Trust for an amount not less than the lesser of their Unpaid Balance or Fair Market Value. The proceeds of sale will be applied by the Trustee (as trustee of the Trust) to repay moneys owing to Noteholders at that time in accordance with the Series Notice (see section 7).

2.4 The Housing Loans

Acquisition of the Housing Loans

On the Closing Date, the proceeds of the issue of the Notes will be used to acquire the Housing Loans.

The purchase price for the Housing Loans will be A\$1,200,000,000 (the *Purchase Price*), being the Housing Loan Principal of all the Housing Loans as at the Cut-Off Date.

On the Closing Date, the Housing Loans purchased by the Trust will be specified in a Sale Notice from the Approved Seller to the Trustee. Some of those Housing Loans will be subject to a discretionary variable rate of interest set by the Approved Seller, while others will be subject to a fixed rate of interest.

The Housing Loans will be sourced from the Approved Seller's portfolio of residential housing loans, originated by the Approved Seller in the ordinary course of its business. Each Housing Loan may have some or all of the product features referred to in section 6.2. They are required to be secured by a registrable first ranking mortgage (or, in certain circumstances, a subordinated mortgage) as at the Cut-Off Date (see section 6.1(a)(B)) and comply in all respects with the Eligibility Criteria (see section 6.1).

For more information on the Housing Loans, see section 6.

Assignment of the Housing Loans

On the Closing Date, the Approved Seller will equitably assign the Housing Loans, Mortgages and Related Securities securing the Housing Loans to the Trustee, pursuant to a Sale Notice substantially in the form annexed to the Trust Deed, after which the Trustee will be entitled to receive (with the assistance of the Servicer) Collections on the Housing Loans. If a Title Perfection Event occurs, the Trustee must take certain actions to perfect its legal title in the Housing Loans. The Trustee will be entitled, under irrevocable powers of attorney granted by the Approved Seller, to perfect its legal title should it be required to do so.

The Approved Seller may in some instances assign to the Trustee a Housing Loan secured by an "all moneys" Mortgage, which may also secure financial accommodation that has not been sold into the Mortgage Pool and is instead retained by the Approved Seller. The

Trustee will hold the benefit of the relevant Mortgage as bare trustee in relation to that other financial accommodation. The Approved Seller may treat that Mortgage as securing the assigned Housing Loan pari passu with that financial accommodation.

Servicing and Custody

Westpac has been appointed Servicer under the terms of the Servicing Agreement. As Servicer, Westpac will also maintain custody of the mortgage documents relating to the Housing Loans.

For further details, see sections 5, 9.4 and 9.5.

Transfer of Housing Loans

The Trust Manager is obliged to ensure that if it proposes to comply with a Borrower's request for a Further Advance under a Housing Loan, or to convert (in whole or in part) a Housing Loan from a floating rate of interest to a fixed rate of interest but is unable to ensure that fixed rate of interest is fully hedged, it will direct the Trustee to transfer that Housing Loan out of the Trust.

The Trust Manager may also, from time to time, direct the Trustee to transfer a Housing Loan to Westpac or an Other Trust.

Any transfer of a Housing Loan referred to in this section 2.4 must be for a consideration which is not less than the greater of the Unpaid Balance of that Housing Loan and its Fair Market Value.

2.5 Credit Enhancements

There are three levels of protection against losses available to Class A Noteholders and the Redraw Facility Provider, to the extent that the protections remain available at any given time. These protections are:

- (a) Mortgage Insurance Policies (where applicable);
- (b) Subordination of Excess Available Income; and
- (c) Subordination of the Class B Notes.

There are two levels of protection against losses available to Class B Noteholders, to the extent that the protections remain available at any given time. These protections are:

- (a) Mortgage Insurance Policies (where applicable); and
- (b) Subordination of Excess Available Income.

Mortgage Insurance Policies

Housing Loans with a high LVR at the time of origination may be required by Westpac's lending policies to be covered by individual mortgage insurance policies issued by the Mortgage Insurer. If mortgage insurance is required, it will cover an amount up to the principal balance of the Housing Loan assessed at origination, plus it may cover (subject to the relevant policy) accrued interest and reasonable enforcement costs.

Housing Loans with an LVR less than or equal to 80% at the time of origination would generally not be required to be covered by individual mortgage insurance policies.

See Section 8.4 for more detail.

Excess Available Income

To the extent there is a loss under a Housing Loan that is not satisfied by a claim (or deemed claim) under a Mortgage Insurance Policy (if any) or by amounts recoverable by the Trustee from the Approved Seller or the Servicer, the amount which would otherwise have been available to be distributed to the relevant Beneficiary as Excess Available Income (see section 9.3) will be applied (to the extent available) to reimburse, and apply as Gross Principal Collections, losses that were realised during that Collection Period.

To the extent it is available, Excess Available Income may also be used to reimburse any Principal Charge Offs or Carryover Charge Offs of the Notes from previous Collection Periods that remain unreimbursed.

For further details, see section 7.

Subordination of Class B Notes

Class A Noteholders and the Redraw Facility Provider will have the benefit of the subordination of the Class B Notes. That is, to the extent that there is a loss on a Housing Loan which is not satisfied by a claim (or deemed claim) under a Mortgage Insurance Policy (if any), by amounts recoverable by the Trustee from the Approved Seller or the Servicer, or by the application of Excess Available Income, the amount of that loss will be allocated to the Class B Notes, reducing the Stated Amount of the Class B Notes until their Stated Amount is zero. The amount of any remaining loss will then be allocated pari passu to the Class A Notes and the Redraw Facility, reducing the Stated Amount of the Class A Notes until their Stated Amount is zero and reducing the principal outstanding under the Redraw Facility until it is zero.

For further details, see section 7.11.

2.6 Interest Rate Risk Management

Hedge Agreements

The Trustee will enter into a Basis Swap and an Interest Rate Swap with the Swap Provider under which the basis risk between the floating rate obligations of the Trust (including Coupon on the Notes) and the variable rates or fixed rates (as the case may be) set on the Housing Loans, as permitted by the relevant Housing Loan agreements, at the discretion of the Approved Seller, will be hedged for the benefit of the Noteholders.

For further details, see section 8.3.

Threshold Rate

If at any time the Basis Swap is terminated, the Trust Manager must, on each Determination Date following that termination, calculate the rate of interest (expressed as a percentage per annum) which if set on all Housing Loans (where permitted under the terms of the relevant loan agreements and to the extent permitted by applicable law) would, when calculated on an overall portfolio basis, be sufficient (assuming that all relevant parties comply with their obligations at all times under the Transaction Documents, the Housing Loans and the relevant Related Securities), when aggregated with the income produced by

the rate of interest on all other assets of the Trust (including Hedge Agreements), to ensure that the Trustee will have available to it sufficient Collections to enable it to comply with its obligations under the Transaction Documents as they fall due (the *Threshold Rate*).

If the Servicer is notified of the Threshold Rate, it is required, not more than seven Business Days following the date on which the Basis Swap is terminated, to ensure that the process is commenced to change the interest rates payable on discretionary variable rate Housing Loans, subject to the terms of the loan agreements for the relevant Housing Loans, such that the weighted average rate of interest payable on all relevant discretionary variable rate Housing Loans is not less than the Threshold Rate and immediately notify the Trustee when that process has been commenced.

2.7 Liquidity Support

Principal Draws

If the Trust Manager determines on any Determination Date that the Available Income of the Trust is insufficient to meet Total Payments of the Trust on the following Payment Date (a *Payment Shortfall*), then Principal Collections collected during the immediately preceding Collection Period can be used to fund the Payment Shortfall (a *Principal Draw*) (see section 7.5).

Amounts paid from any Principal Collections in this way will be reimbursed through Excess Available Income (to the extent available) in subsequent periods out of the Excess Available Income for that period. If there is insufficient Excess Available Income to reimburse Principal Draws, the principal repayable on Notes at maturity may be reduced.

Liquidity Facility

If the Trust Manager determines on any Determination Date that there will be a Liquidity Shortfall on the following Payment Date, the Trustee may be able to draw down on a committed facility provided by the Liquidity Facility Provider up to a total amount equal to the facility limit, being A\$12,000,000 as at the Closing Date. A drawdown is subject to a number of conditions precedent being satisfied (see section 8.1 for further details).

The Transaction Documents permit the Trust Manager to take certain steps so that funding is provided under the Liquidity Facility. The Trustee is not responsible for any actions of the Trust Manager in doing so, or for any losses arising from those actions.

2.8 Redraw and Further Advance Funding

Under the terms of the loan agreements for some of the Housing Loans to be purchased by the Trustee, the relevant Borrower may request the Approved Seller to provide them with a Redraw (see section 6.2(b)). Under the terms of each variable rate Housing Loan, a Borrower may, at the discretion of Westpac, obtain a Further Advance which results (unlike a Redraw) in the Housing Loan Principal exceeding the scheduled principal balance of the Housing Loan prior to the Further Advance. The Approved Seller may provide a Further Advance if the Approved Seller purchases the relevant Housing Loan from the Trustee within 2 Business Days of the Further Advance.

The Approved Seller is entitled to be reimbursed by the Trustee for Redraws funded by the Approved Seller:

- (a) first, from Gross Principal Collections (see sections 7.9 and 7.10); and
- (b) second, from drawings under the Redraw Facility (see section 8.2(c)),

to the extent each is available. If a Redraw is funded out of Gross Principal Collections or the Approved Seller is reimbursed for a Redraw, the obligation of the Borrower to repay the amount of the Redraw becomes an asset of the Trust.

If Gross Principal Collections are insufficient to fund Redraws or to reimburse the Approved Seller for Redraws funded by it, the Trustee may be able to draw down on a standby facility provided by the Redraw Facility Provider up to a total amount equal to the facility limit, being A\$12,000,000 as at the Closing Date (see section 8.2).

The Transaction Documents permit the Trust Manager to take certain steps so that funding is provided under the Redraw Facility. The Trustee is not responsible for any actions of the Trust Manager doing so, or for any losses arising from those actions.

If the Approved Seller is not fully reimbursed in relation to a Redraw, it will bear the cost of funding that Redraw until such time as it can be reimbursed by the Trustee.

2.9 Security Trust Deed

The Trustee has, pursuant to the Security Trust Deed, granted a security interest to the Security Trustee over the Trust's assets for the benefit of Noteholders and certain other creditors of the Trust. For further details in relation to the Security Trust Deed, see section 10.

2.10 Further Information

Transfer

The Notes may only be purchased or sold by execution and registration of a Note Transfer. For further details, see sections 4.13 and 4.14.

A Noteholder must not transfer any Notes held by it unless:

- (a) where the Notes are traded on the ASX, they are traded in parcels with a minimum value of A\$500,000; and
- (b) if the transfer is in or from Australia:
 - the amount payable for the Notes on transfer (whether on the ASX or elsewhere) by the transferee is a minimum amount of A\$500,000 (disregarding amounts, if any, lent by the Trustee or other person offering the Notes or an associate (as defined in the Corporations Act) of either of them); or
 - (ii) the offer or invitation to the transferee by the Noteholder otherwise does not require disclosure under Parts 6D.2 or 7.9 of the Corporations Act and the Corporations Regulations made under the Corporations Act; and
- (c) if the transfer is in or from Australia, the transfer is to a person who is not a retail client within the meaning of section 761 of the Corporations Act.

Notwithstanding the above, Notes to be transferred must have an aggregate transfer consideration of at least A\$100,000.

No Note has been or will be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933 as amended (the *Securities Act*) or the securities laws of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States and the Notes may not be offered, sold, delivered, transferred, encumbered or otherwise disposed of (directly or indirectly) within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, US persons except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Terms used in this paragraph and not otherwise defined in this Information Memorandum have the meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act.

None of the Trust Manager, the Trustee, the Security Trustee, the Servicer or the Approved Seller is liable to any Noteholder in relation to a breach by that Noteholder of these restrictions.

Stamp Duty

The Trust Manager has received advice that neither the issue, nor the transfer, of the Notes will currently attract stamp duty in any jurisdiction of Australia.

3. Special considerations and risk factors

The purchase, and subsequent holding, of the Notes is subject to risk. The Trust Manager believes that the risks described below are some of the principal risks inherent in the transaction for Noteholders and that the discussion in relation to the Notes indicates some of the possible implications for Noteholders. However, the inability of the Trustee to pay interest or repay principal on the Notes may occur for other reasons and the Trust Manager does not in any way represent that the description of the risks outlined below is exhaustive. It is only a summary of some particular risks. There can be no assurance that the various structural protections available to Noteholders will be sufficient to ensure the payment or distribution of interest or principal on the Notes on a timely or full basis. Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Information Memorandum, review the Transaction Documents and make their own independent investigation and seek their own independent advice as to the potential risks involved in purchasing and holding the Notes.

3.1 Limited liability under the Notes

The Notes are debt obligations of the Trustee as trustee of the Trust. They are issued with the benefit of, and subject to, the Trust Deed, the Series Notice and the Security Trust Deed. The Trustee's liability in respect of the Notes is limited to the assets of the Trust available in accordance with the terms of the Trust Deed, the Series Notice and the Security Trust Deed to meet its obligations in relation to the Notes and, except in certain limited circumstances (as to which see section 9.1(j)), the Trustee will not be personally liable in respect of the Notes.

3.2 Secondary market risk

There is no assurance that a secondary market in the Notes will develop, or if one does develop, that it will provide liquidity of investment or will continue for the life of the Notes. No assurance can be given that it will be possible to effect a sale of the Notes, nor can any assurance be given that if a sale were to take place it would not be at a discount to the acquisition price or the face value of the Notes.

3.3 Early principal distributions

On each Payment Date, Principal Collections will be passed through to Noteholders. The rate of principal and interest payments on different securitised pools of residential housing loans varies among those pools and is influenced by a variety of economic, demographic, social, tax, legal and other factors, including prevailing market interest rates for residential housing loans, the availability of alternative financing and the particular terms of the relevant residential housing loans. No assurance can be given as to the rate at which payments are received under the Housing Loans, which may be faster or slower than Noteholders may expect.

Further, there are a number of circumstances in which the Trust may receive early payments of principal on the Housing Loans and, therefore, pay such Principal Collections to the Noteholders earlier than would otherwise have been the case, including:

- (a) receipt by the Trustee of enforcement proceeds due to a Borrower having defaulted on their Housing Loan;
- (b) receipt by the Trustee of insurance proceeds in relation to a claim under a Mortgage Insurance Policy in respect of a Housing Loan (if any);
- (c) the transfer of a Housing Loan to the Approved Seller or an Other Trust (see section 2.4);
- (d) repurchase by the Approved Seller of Housing Loans as a result of a breach of any representation referred to in section 6.1(a) as described in section 6.1(b)(ii);
- (e) repurchase by Westpac of Housing Loans as a result of the date-based call or the clean-up call, referred to in section 4.5 and 4.6 (respectively);
- (f) issue of New Class A Notes as a result of the date-based call referred to in section 4.5:
- (g) receipt of proceeds of enforcement of the Security Trust Deed prior to the Maturity Date of the Notes (see section 3.17);
- (h) receipt of proceeds of the sale of Housing Loans if the Trust is terminated while Notes are outstanding (for example, if required by law) and the Housing Loans are then repurchased by the Approved Seller under its right of first refusal or sold to a third party; or
- (i) receipt by the Trustee of damages in respect of any breach of a representation, warranty or undertaking contained in the Transaction Documents.

Class A Notes may also be mandatorily purchased by Westpac in accordance with the date-based call regime described in section 4.5.

Repayments which are received earlier than expected may not be able to be reinvested at the same rate of return as is applicable to the Notes. If payments are received more slowly than anticipated, the Notes may amortise more slowly than anticipated at their issue date.

3.4 Repayment holidays may result in insufficient interest

If a Borrower prepays principal on their Housing Loan, that Borrower may not be required to make any payments, including interest payments, until the Housing Loan Principal plus unpaid interest equal or exceed the scheduled principal balance of that Housing Loan at the relevant time. If a significant number of Borrowers take advantage of this feature at the same time, and the Liquidity Facility and Principal Draws do not provide enough funds to cover the scheduled repayments which were not made on the Housing Loans, the Trustee may not have sufficient funds to pay the full amount of interest on the Notes on the next Payment Date.

3.5 Westpac's ability to set the interest rate on variable rate Housing Loans may lead to increased delinquencies or prepayments

The interest rates on the variable rate Housing Loans are set at the sole discretion of Westpac. If Westpac increases interest rates on the Housing Loans, Borrowers may be unable to make their required payments and, accordingly, may become delinquent or may default on their Housing Loans. In addition, if the interest rates are raised above market

interest rates, Borrowers may refinance their loans with another lender to obtain a lower interest rate. This could cause higher rates of principal prepayment than expected which could affect the yield on Notes and may lead to reinvestment risk (see section 3.13).

3.6 Delinquency and default risk

If Borrowers fail to make payments of interest and principal under Housing Loans when due there is a possibility that the Trustee may have insufficient funds to make full payments of interest and principal to the Noteholders.

The Trustee's obligation to pay interest and to repay principal in respect of the Notes in full is limited by reference to, among other things, receipts under or in respect of the outstanding Housing Loans. Noteholders must rely for payment under the Notes on Borrowers making payments under the Housing Loans and on amounts available under the Mortgage Insurance Policies (where applicable) and any amounts payable by the Approved Seller or the Servicer in respect of any breach of a representation and warranty or undertaking respectively and, in the case of Coupons, on Principal Collections and the Liquidity Facility (see sections 7 and 8.1).

A wide variety of factors of a legal, economic, political or other nature could affect the performance of Borrowers in making payments of interest and principal under the Housing Loans.

In particular, if interest rates increase significantly, Borrowers may experience distress and increased default rates on the Housing Loans may result. Housing Loans with higher LVRs may present greater risk of delinquency or loss than Housing Loans with a lower LVR. Under the Consumer Credit Legislation, a court may order a Housing Loan to be varied on the grounds of hardship (see section 3.15).

If a Borrower defaults on payments under a Housing Loan and the Servicer enforces the Housing Loan and takes possession of the relevant Mortgaged Property, many factors may affect the price for which the Mortgaged Property is sold and the length of time required to realise the proceeds of sale. Any delay, and any loss incurred as a result of the realised proceeds of the sale of a Mortgaged Property being less than the amount due under the Housing Loan, may affect the ability of the Trustee to make payments, or the timing of those payments, in respect of the Notes, notwithstanding any amounts that may be claimed under a Mortgage Insurance Policy (if any) or otherwise allocated from Gross Principal Collections or drawn under the Liquidity Facility.

Any loss, including any Determined Loss in respect of a write-off referred to in section 5.6, may reduce the principal amount ultimately recoverable in respect of Notes and may reduce the Stated Amount of a Note. If a Noteholder transfers any Note for its Stated Amount pending the receipt of enforcement proceeds (for example, from the sale of the relevant Mortgage Property or receipt of proceeds from a claim under any relevant Mortgage Insurance Claim (if applicable)) the Noteholder will not benefit from any increase in the Stated Amount of that Note that may subsequently occur in accordance with section 7.8(d).

3.7 An early redemption of Notes may affect the return on the Notes

The Trust Manager has the right to direct the Trustee to sell all (but not some only) of the Housing Loans to the Seller in order to raise funds to redeem the Notes on any Payment Date falling on or after the Date-Based Call Option Date or the Clean-up Call Option Date. If the price for the sale of the Housing Loans (together with all other Principal Collections to be allocated on that Payment Date) will be insufficient to repay the Invested Amount of any Class of Notes (plus accrued interest in respect of such Notes) in full on that Payment Date, the Noteholders of that Class of Notes may by Extraordinary Resolution approve the sale of the Housing Loans for a price that is sufficient to redeem the Notes of that Class for their Stated Amount (plus accrued but unpaid interest in respect of such Notes).

There is no assurance that the assets of the Trust will be sufficient to repurchase or redeem applicable Notes following the Clean-up Call Option Date or the Date-Based Call Option Date, or that the Trust Manager will exercise its discretion and direct the Trustee to redeem the Notes on any such date.

3.8 Date-Based Call Option

On any Payment Date on or after the Date-Based Call Option Date and subject to the restrictions in section 4.5 (after taking into account any amounts to be applied on the Relevant Payment Date in accordance with section 7):

- (a) Westpac may purchase all Class A Notes from Class A Noteholders for their aggregate Invested Amount (after payment of interest on the Class A Notes on that Payment Date);
- (b) the Trustee may redeem all the Class A Notes (if so directed by the Trust Manager and using the proceeds of sale from the Trustee to Westpac of the equitable title to Housing Loans held by the Trust for an amount not less than the lesser of their Unpaid Balance and their Fair Market Value); or
- (c) the Trustee may (if so directed by the Trust Manager), subject to a Rating Notification, issue to Westpac or as it directs, New Class A Notes.

Westpac may purchase Class A Notes under sub-paragraph (a), or Class A Notes may be redeemed using the proceeds under sub-paragraph (b) or (c) (as applicable), at their Stated Amounts instead of at their Invested Amounts, together with accrued but unpaid interest to but excluding the date of redemption, if so approved by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Class A Noteholders.

There is no assurance that the assets of the Trust will be sufficient to repurchase or redeem applicable Notes on the Date-Based Call Option Date or that the Trust Manager will exercise its discretion and direct the Trustee to redeem the Class A Notes on any such date.

3.9 Risk of Westpac as counterparty

Westpac is appointed to certain roles in respect of the transaction, including as Seller, Servicer and Swap Provider. If external circumstances relating to Westpac materially and adversely affect Westpac's financial or operational status, that may adversely affect its

ability to perform its obligations in respect of the Trust, and so may have an adverse effect on the performance of the Notes.

For example, the appointment of Westpac as Servicer under the Trust Deed and Servicing Agreement may be terminated in certain circumstances (as set out in section 9.4(i)) or the Servicer may resign (as set out in section 9.4(j)). If the Servicer is removed for any reason, the Trustee is obliged to appoint a suitably qualified person as Servicer whose appointment would not materially prejudice the interests of Noteholders (an *Eligible Servicer*) to assume responsibility for servicing the Housing Loans in accordance with the Trust Deed and the Servicing Agreement. There is no guarantee that an Eligible Servicer will be found who would be willing to service the Housing Loans on the terms of the Trust Deed and Servicing Agreement, in which case the Trustee must be appointed as an Eligible Servicer (subject to the conditions and restrictions in the Transaction Documents and limitations on the Trustee's liability in that capacity specified in the Transaction Documents). The ability of the Eligible Servicer (whether it is the Trustee or a third party) to perform the servicing functions under the Trust Deed and Servicing Agreement would depend on the information and records available to it.

In addition, before Westpac as Servicer remits Collections to the Collection Account, the Collections may be commingled with the assets of Westpac. If Westpac becomes insolvent, the Trustee may only be able to claim those Collections as an unsecured creditor of Westpac in Westpac's insolvency. This could lead to a failure to receive the Collections on the Housing Loans, delays in receiving the Collections or losses to Noteholders.

Similarly, the value of Westpac's representations in respect of the Housing loans (see section 6.1) would be affected by any material adverse events affecting Westpac.

While the Notes are not liabilities of Westpac, investors should have regard to Westpac's ASX announcements in considering the risk of Westpac as a counterparty, which may be viewed on ASX's website at www.asx.com.au (ASX code 'WBC').

3.10 Equitable assignment

The Housing Loans will initially be assigned by the Approved Seller to the Trustee in equity. If a Title Perfection Event occurs, the Trustee with the assistance of the Servicer must take such steps as are necessary to perfect the Trustee's legal title in the Housing Loans. Until such time, the Trustee is not permitted to take any steps to perfect legal title and, in particular, it will not notify the Borrowers of the equitable assignment of the Housing Loans to the Trustee.

The delay in the notification to a Borrower of the assignment of the Housing Loans to the Trustee may have the following consequences:

(a) until a Borrower has notice of the assignment, that Borrower is not bound to make payments under the relevant Housing Loan to anyone other than the Approved Seller and can obtain a valid discharge from the Approved Seller. However, the Approved Seller is appointed as the initial Servicer of the Housing Loans and is obliged to deal with all moneys received from Borrowers in accordance with the Servicing Agreement and the Trust Deed; and (b) for so long as the Trustee holds only an equitable interest in the Housing Loans, the Trustee's interest in them may become subject to the interests of third parties created after the creation of the Trustee's equitable interest but prior to it acquiring a legal interest. However, the Servicer undertakes not to consent to the creation or existence of any security interest over the Mortgaged Property.

3.11 Breach of representation or warranty

The Approved Seller will make certain representations and warranties to the Trustee in relation to the Housing Loans to be assigned to the Trustee (as at the Cut-Off Date), on the Cut-Off Date and the Closing Date (see section 6.1). The Trustee has not investigated or made any enquiries regarding the accuracy of the representations and warranties, and under the Trust Deed is under no obligation to do so. The Trustee is entitled to rely entirely upon the representations and warranties being correct (unless it has actual notice of any event to the contrary). The rights of the Trustee in respect of any representation or warranty being incorrect are described in section 6.1. The repurchase by the Approved Seller of a Housing Loan that is the subject of an incorrect representation will result in increased Gross Principal Collections and may lead to reinvestment risk (see section 3.13).

3.12 Mortgage Insurance Policies

Some Housing Loans have the benefit of Mortgage Insurance Policies (see section 2.5).

The liability of the Mortgage Insurer under a Mortgage Insurance Policy is subject to certain exclusions and indemnity limits. The Mortgage Insurer also has the right to cancel cover or terminate a Mortgage Insurance Policy in respect of a Housing Loan (if any) in certain circumstances.

The exclusions, indemnity limits and rights may affect the ability of the Trustee to make timely and full payments of interest and principal repayments on the Notes (see section 8.4).

The availability of a Mortgage Insurance Policy (if any) as credit support will ultimately be dependent on the financial strength of the Mortgage Insurer. If the Mortgage Insurer encounters financial difficulties which impede or prohibit the performance of its obligations under the Mortgage Insurance Policy, the Trustee may not have sufficient funds to pay the full amount of principal and interest due on the Notes.

On 1 September 2021, Westpac sold Westpac Lenders Mortgage Insurance Limited to Arch Financial Holdings Australia Pty Ltd (see section 8.4). There is no guarantee that under its new ownership the Mortgage Insurer will have a rating, or the requisite rating, from a Rating Agency at any time in the future and as such, that Rating Agency may not give full, or any, credit for mortgage insurance provided by the Mortgage Insurer. This may in turn affect the rating of Notes.

3.13 Reinvestment risk

If principal is received on a Housing Loan during a Collection Period, interest at the then rate on the Housing Loan will cease to accrue on that part of the Housing Loan paid from the date of the payment. The amount paid will be invested in Authorised Investments for the balance of the Collection Period at a rate that may be less than the then rate on the

Housing Loan and the rate of return as is applicable to the Notes. Interest will, however, continue to be payable in respect of a corresponding amount of principal on the Notes until the next Payment Date following the payment. Accordingly, this may affect the ability of the Trustee to pay interest in full on the Notes, even though the Trustee has access to Gross Principal Collections and the Liquidity Facility for such shortfalls (see sections 7.5 and 7.6).

3.14 The ability for borrowers or Westpac to change the product classification for Housing Loans may affect repayments or prepayments

Either borrowers or Westpac may request or change the product classification of a Housing Loan from owner-occupied to investment (or vice versa) as described in section 6.2(h). This may affect the interest rate charged on the Housing Loans. If the change results in increased interest rates on the Housing Loans, Borrowers may be unable to make their required payments and, accordingly, may become delinquent or may default on their Housing Loans. The change could also impact repayment rates (either higher or lower) which could affect the yield on Notes and may lead to reinvestment risk (see section 3.13).

3.15 Consumer Credit Legislation

Some of the Housing Loans will be regulated by Consumer Credit Legislation or any code of practice binding on the Approved Seller or Approved Servicer including any provision of the Banking Code of Practice or any other laws applicable to banks or other lenders in the business of making retail home loans. This Consumer Credit Legislation and any such Codes of Practice specifically regulate consumer lending but, in addition contain general prohibitions against engaging in unconscionable conduct and misleading or deceptive conduct.

The Consumer Credit Legislation and any such Codes of Practice may have the following broad impacts:

- (a) Borrowers, guarantors and mortgagors who are parties to Housing Loans may have rights, including to compensation, payment of civil penalties, to having their agreements varied or declared void or unenforceable in whole or part (which can potentially be undertaken through representative or class actions commenced across multiple loans by individuals or ASIC) including:
 - obtaining orders as are appropriate to compensate that party for, or prevent or reduce the suffering by that party of, loss or damage that party has suffered or is likely to suffer as a result of a contravention of certain provisions of the Consumer Credit Legislation or the commission of offences against these laws;
 - (ii) that a term of a loan which is a standard form contract that is unfair is void;
 - (iii) applying to have their loan varied on the grounds of hardship or reopening the transaction that gave rise to the loan, mortgage or guarantee on the grounds that it is an unjust contract and the court may make a range of orders including setting aside or varying an agreement or mortgage or releasing the Borrower and/or guarantor from payment;

- (iv) having any interest rate change, establishment fee, early termination fee or prepayment charge payable on their loan which is unconscionable reduced or cancelled;
- obtaining an injunction preventing loans from being enforced (or any other action in relation to the Housing Loans) if to do so would breach the Consumer Credit Legislation;
- (vi) having certain provisions of their loan which are in breach of any Consumer Credit Legislation declared unenforceable;
- (vii) obtaining an order for a civil penalty where their loan breaches certain key requirements of the National Credit Code (the amount of the penalty will depend on who brings the application, the nature of the breach and the type of loan, but for some loans in some situations it could be a maximum amount equal to all interest charges payable under the contract from the date it was made). If an application for a civil penalty is made by a debtor, any civil penalty awarded may be set off by the debtor against any amount due under their loan;
- (viii) exercising a right against the Trustee or Westpac (as applicable) in relation to any breaches of the Consumer Credit Legislation in relation to their loan; or
- (ix) obtaining an order for the recovery of fees and charges which are not authorised to be charged under the terms of their loan or the Consumer Credit Legislation.

The exercise of any such right may affect the timing or amount of interest, fees and charges or principal repayments under a Housing Loan (which might in turn affect the timing or amount of interest payments or principal repayments under the Notes).

- (b) Conduct and other obligations are imposed upon lenders and other parties who provide credit services (as that term is defined in the National Consumer Credit Protection Act 2009 (Cth)) including:
 - (i) to comply with responsible lending requirements;
 - (ii) to do all things necessary to ensure that credit activities are engaged in honestly efficiently and fairly;
 - (iii) to make certain written disclosures and provide certain documents to parties to Housing Loans; and
 - (iv) mortgage brokers are required to act in the best interests of their clients and to prioritise their clients' interests when providing credit assistance and benefits which are conflicted remuneration cannot be given or received in connection with credit services provided by mortgage brokers and intermediaries.

Breaches of the Consumer Credit Legislation, including these obligations, may give rise to criminal and civil penalties being imposed generally by ASIC, as the relevant

regulator. The market has experienced an increased level of enforcement, supervisory and regulatory activity in the aftermath of the Royal Commission into Misconduct in the Banking, Superannuation and Financial Services Industry. The maximum civil penalty under the National Consumer Credit Protection Act 2009 (Cth) (excluding the National Credit Code) and the Australian Securities and Investment Commission Act 2001 for a body corporate ranges from 50,000 penalty units to 2.5 million penalty units. The value of a penalty unit as at the date of this Memorandum is \$222.

Civil and criminal penalties would be imposed on the Approved Seller, for so long as it holds legal title to the Housing Loans (the Lender of Record). If the Trustee acquires legal title, it will then become primarily responsible for compliance with Consumer Credit Legislation. The Trustee will (subject to limited exceptions) be indemnified out of the assets of the Trust for its liabilities under the National Consumer Credit Protection Act 2009 (Cth) (including the National Credit Code).

- (c) Lenders and other parties who provide credit services (as that term is defined in the National Consumer Credit Protection Act 2009 (Cth)) are required either to hold an Australian Credit Licence, be a credit representative of such a licensee or be subject to an exemption from these requirements. The licensing regime has the effect, where it applies, that debtors, mortgagors and guarantors, who are parties to Housing Loans, may refer disputes to the Australian Financial Complaints Authority (AFCA) for resolution. AFCA has the power to resolve disputes with respect to a credit facility, where the amount claimed by someone other than a Small Business or Primary Producer (as defined in the AFCA Rules) does not exceed \$1 million. In determining complaints AFCA's primary duty is to do what is fair in all the circumstances, but it is possible that, having had regard to legal principles, the decision-maker decides to not apply them because the strict application of those legal principles would lead to an outcome which is unfair in all the circumstances (Investors Exchange Limited v Australian Financial Complaints Authority Limited & Anor [2020] QSC 74 at [35]). AFCA also has the power to give financial firms binding directions as part of dealing with a systemic issue.
- (d) ASIC is able to impose conditions on licensees and suspend or cancel licences where licensees do not meet their obligations.

The Consumer Credit Legislation is regularly amended and subject to interpretation by the Courts. These changes as they are made may impact the housing market, for example, change the expected rate of refinancing activity. This could also cause higher or lower rates of principal repayment to be expected.

3.16 Unreimbursed Redraws will be paid before principal on the Notes

On each Payment Date, Gross Principal Collections will be used to reimburse Westpac for any Redraws funded by Westpac during the related Collection Period prior to principal payments being made on the Notes. In addition, unreimbursed Redraws will rank ahead of the Notes with respect to payment of principal after enforcement of the security interest

granted under the Security Trust Deed. Noteholders may not receive full repayment of principal on the Notes, or payment of principal may be delayed.

3.17 The proceeds from the enforcement of the Security Trust Deed may be insufficient to pay amounts due under the Notes

If the Security Trustee enforces the security interest over the assets of the Trust after an Event of Default occurs under the Security Trust Deed (see section 10), there is no assurance that the market value of the assets of the Trust (including the Housing Loans) will be equal to or greater than the outstanding principal and interest due on the Notes and the other secured obligations that rank ahead of or equally with the Notes, or that the Security Trustee will be able to realise the full value of the assets of the Trust (including selling the Housing Loans for their Unpaid Balance). The Trustee and the Security Trustee will generally be entitled to receive the proceeds of any sale of the assets of the Trust, to the extent they are owed fees and expenses, before the Noteholders. Consequently, the proceeds from the sale of the assets of the Trust after an Event of Default under the Security Trust Deed may be insufficient to pay Noteholders outstanding principal and interest in full.

3.18 Voting Mortgagees must act to effect enforcement of the Security Trust Deed

Following the Security Trustee becoming actually aware of the occurrence of an Event of Default, it shall (unless it is directed to waive any immaterial breach in accordance with the Security Trust Deed) promptly convene a meeting of the Voting Mortgagees in accordance with the Security Trust Deed, at which it shall seek directions from the Voting Mortgagees by way of an Extraordinary Resolution of the Voting Mortgagees (or a written resolution signed by all Voting Mortgagees) regarding the action it should take as a result of that Event of Default.

The Security Trustee may refuse to take any action unless personally indemnified to its reasonable satisfaction.

Accordingly, if the Voting Mortgagees have not directed the Security Trustee to do so, or the Security Trustee is not appropriately indemnified, enforcement of the Security Trust Deed will not occur.

If there is at any time a conflict between a duty owed by the Security Trustee to any Mortgagees or class of Mortgagees, and a duty owed by it to another Mortgagee or class of Mortgagee, the Security Trustee must give priority to the interests of the Noteholders, as follows:

- (a) the Class A Noteholders if, in the Security Trustee's opinion, there is a conflict between the interests of the Class A Noteholders and the interests of the Class B Noteholders or the other persons entitled to the benefit of the security interest granted under the Security Trust Deed; and
- (b) the Class B Noteholders if, in the Security Trustee's opinion, there is a conflict between the interests of the Class B Noteholders and the interests of the other persons entitled to the benefit of the security interest granted under the Security Trust Deed (other than Class A Noteholders).

3.19 The use of Principal Collections to cover shortfalls may lead to principal losses

If Principal Collections are drawn upon to cover shortfalls in interest collections and there are insufficient excess interest collections in succeeding Collection Periods to repay those Principal Draws, Noteholders may not receive full repayment of principal on their Notes.

3.20 There are limits on the amount of available liquidity

If Principal Collections (in the form of Principal Draws) are not sufficient to cover a shortfall in Finance Charge Collections for a Payment Date, the Trustee will draw funds under the Liquidity Facility. If there is not enough money available under the Liquidity Facility, the Noteholders may not receive a full payment of interest on that Payment Date.

3.21 The concentration of Housing Loans in specific geographic areas may increase the possibility of losses on the Notes

If the Trust contains a high concentration of Housing Loans secured by properties located in a particular region or state, any deterioration in the real estate values or the economy of any of those states or regions could result in higher rates of delinquencies, foreclosures and loss than expected on the Housing Loans. These events may in turn have a disproportionate impact on funds available to the Trust, which could result in losses for Noteholders.

3.22 Natural disasters or change in environmental circumstances may increase the possibility of losses on the Notes

If the Trust contains a significant concentration of Housing Loans secured by properties located in a region or state that experiences natural disasters or change in environmental circumstances (including but not limited to bushfires, cyclones and floods) which: result in property damage (and those properties are not fully insured against the type of natural disaster which occurs), affect the value of properties, or result in a deterioration of the economy, it could result in higher rates of delinquencies, foreclosures and losses than expected on the Housing Loans. These events may in turn have a disproportionate impact on funds available to the Trust, which could result in losses for Noteholders.

3.23 Privacy

The collection and handling of personal information about individuals (including debtors, mortgagors and guarantors) is regulated by the Australian *Privacy Act 1988* (Cth) including the 13 principles known as the Australian Privacy Principles set out at Schedule 1 to that Act. The Act contains restrictions and requirements relating to the collection, use, disclosure and management of personal information (including credit reporting information). Depending on the type of information involved, if such collection, use, disclosure or management of personal information does not comply with the Act, the offending party can be liable to civil penalties. In addition, an individual adversely affected by a breach of the Act can lodge a complaint to the Office of the Australian Information Commissioner (*OAIC*) or to a recognised external dispute resolution scheme, depending on the circumstances. These bodies can investigate a complaint and make determinations which can become binding on the offending entity. Such findings may include the payments of compensation for loss or damage or the taking of remedial action to address such a breach.

Part IIIC, Div 3 of the Act imposes obligations on entities in relation to eligible data breaches. An eligible data breach relevantly arises when the following three criteria are satisfied: (1) there is unauthorised access to or unauthorised disclosure of personal information, or a loss of personal information, that an entity holds; (2) a reasonable person would conclude that this is likely to result in serious harm to one or more individuals; and (3) the entity has not been able to prevent the likely risk of serious harm with remedial action.

If an entity is aware of reasonable grounds to believe that there has been an eligible data breach, it must, among other things, notify OAIC about the eligible data breach as soon as practicable after the entity becomes so aware and comply with the notification requirements in respect of the individuals to whom such an eligible data breach relates. On the other hand, if an entity only has reason to suspect that there may have been a serious breach, it needs to resolve that suspicion by carrying out a reasonable and expeditious assessment of whether there are reasonable grounds to believe that the relevant circumstances amount to an eligible data breach. The entity must take all reasonable steps to ensure that the assessment is completed within 30 days after the entity becomes aware of reasonable grounds to suspect that there might have been an eligible data breach. If, during the course of an assessment, it becomes clear that there has been an eligible data breach, then the entity needs to promptly comply with the notification requirements.

A failure to comply with the Australian Privacy Principles or the provisions of the Act relating to notification of eligible data breaches will constitute an "interference with the privacy of an individual". There are a number of potential consequences of such interference with the privacy of an individual including the exercise by OAIC of its investigative powers and the making of determinations by OAIC that could require an entity to compensate any loss or damage suffered by an individual, and court proceedings initiated by OAIC to enforce a determination or for an injunction or an order that the entity pay the Commonwealth a pecuniary penalty.

3.24 A decline in Australian economic conditions may lead to losses on the Notes

The Covid-19 pandemic remains a challenge for the Australian economy and continues to cast a cloud over the outlook – such that the risks around central case forecasts are greater than usual.

After the Covid recession over the first half of 2020, the economy rebounded sharply with considerable momentum during the first half of 2021. The relaxation of restrictions increased the opportunity for consumers to spend, supported by considerable policy stimulus. However, the recovery has been interrupted by the latest lockdowns. NSW and Victoria are currently in lockdown, in response to the Delta variant outbreak, which began on 16 June 2021. Nationally, it is expected that activity will contract and contract sharply in the September quarter, potentially in the order of 4%. The reopening is likely to be tentative in the December quarter, with borders expected to remain closed.

Thereafter, the central case forecast is for a strong rebound, activity expanding by a forecast 7.4% in 2022 and unemployment declining to 4.0% by December 2022 (after briefly spiking from the 4.6% outcome in July 2021 to an anticipated 5.8% in October

2021). High vaccination rates, further fiscal policy stimulus and a sizeable household saving buffer will be supportive of activity.

The housing market experienced a strong upswing over the second half of 2020 and into 2021. The sector responded to record low interest rates; the bring forward incentives included in the HomeBuilder Program; and a switch in demand as many looked for additional space and, or to make home improvements. In recent months, dwelling approvals have moderated, down from historic highs, with the HomeBuilder Program closed to new applications. Property prices advanced further over the first half of 2021, supported by investors returning to the market in greater numbers. There is the potential for the upward pressure on prices to resume when current lockdowns come to an end. At the same time, after the strong run-in in prices, there are some emerging affordability strains impacting owner-occupiers, particularly first home buyers.

If the Australian economy were to experience a future downturn, an increase in unemployment, an increase in interest rates, a fall in property values or any combination of these factors, delinquencies or losses on the Housing Loans may increase, which may cause losses on the Notes.

3.25 Rating

It is expected that the Class A Notes will be rated AAA (sf) by S&P and AAAsf by Fitch Ratings and that the Class B Notes will be unrated. Ratings other than these have not been requested. Any ratings so assigned could be lower than those indicated above. The rating of a Note may change over time for numerous reasons including, but not limited to, a change in the ratings criteria used by ratings agencies, a change in the product mix in the pool of Housing Loans (for example, differences in Rating Agency treatment of investor and owner occupied loans could lead to changes in ratings of Notes if the proportion of the loan types in the pool varies over time) or a change in a rating of the Mortgage Insurer (or the Mortgage Insurer ceasing to have a rating). A revision, suspension, qualification or withdrawal of a rating of a Note may adversely affect the price of the Note.

The ratings of the Notes should be evaluated independently from similar ratings on other types of Notes. A Note rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold Notes and may be subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

The ratings of the Notes do not address the expected rate of principal repayments (including prepayments) under the Housing Loans.

Neither Rating Agency has been involved in the preparation of this Information Memorandum.

Additionally, a rating agency not hired to rate the Notes may provide an unsolicited rating that differs from (or is lower than) the rating provided by a Rating Agency. No transaction party will be responsible for monitoring any changes to the ratings on the Notes.

3.26 The termination of any of the Hedge Agreements may subject Notes to losses

The basis risk between the floating rate obligations of the Trustee (including interest payable on the Notes) and the variable housing rates set by Westpac will be hedged by means of the Basis Swap. Pursuant to the Basis Swap, each month the Basis Swap

Provider will pay the Trustee an amount calculated by reference to the aggregate Housing Loan Principal balance of all variable rate Housing Loans at the Bank Bill Rate plus an agreed spread, and will receive from the Trustee amounts calculated by reference to the same notional principal amount at the daily weighted average variable housing rate applicable to the Housing Loans (see section 8.3(a)).

If at any time the Basis Swap is terminated, the Trust Manager must, on each Determination Date following that termination, calculate the Threshold Rate. If the Servicer is notified of the Threshold Rate, it is required, subject to the terms of the relevant Housing Loans, to ensure that the process is commenced to change the rate of interest (expressed as a percentage per annum) on all relevant discretionary variable rate Housing Loans, such that, the weighted average rate of interest payable on all relevant discretionary variable Housing Loans is not less than the Threshold Rate and immediately to notify the Trustee when that process has been completed. In this situation, the variable Housing Loan rates across the Mortgage Pool may be set at above market interest rates, including rates higher than Westpac's other variable rate housing loans, to meet the obligations of the Trustee. Such an increase in interest rates could result in the affected Borrowers refinancing their Housing Loans with another bank, which in turn could cause Noteholders to experience higher rates of principal repayment on their Notes than initially anticipated. That increase could also result in increased defaults under the Mortgage Pool, which in turn could lead to losses on the Notes.

An Interest Rate Swap will be used to hedge the interest rate risk between the floating rate obligations of the Trustee (including interest payable on the Notes) and the fixed rate agreed between Westpac and the Borrower on those Housing Loans which bear a fixed rate of interest (see section 8.3).

If the Interest Rate Swap is terminated, the Trustee will be subject to the risk that the interest payable on those Housing Loans which are subject to a fixed rate of interest will be insufficient to enable the Trustee to make payments of the floating rate of interest payable on the Notes. See section 8.3(b) for more details relating to the termination of the Hedge Agreements.

3.27 Investment in the Notes may not be suitable for all investors

The Notes are not a suitable investment for any investor that requires a regular or predictable schedule of payments on any specific date. The Notes are complex investments that should be considered only by investors who, either alone or with their financial, tax and legal advisors, have the expertise to analyse the prepayment, reinvestment, default and market risk, the tax consequences of an investment, and the interaction of these factors.

Mortgage-backed securities such as the Notes usually produce more returns of principal to investors when market interest rates fall below the interest rates on the Housing Loans and produce less returns of principal when market interest rates rise above the interest rates on the Housing Loans. If Borrowers refinance their Housing Loans as a result of lower market interest rates or for any other reasons, Noteholders will likely receive an unanticipated payment of principal. This could cause higher rates of principal prepayment than expected which could affect the yield on Notes and may lead to reinvestment risk (see section 3.13).

3.28 Withholding tax

There will not be any deduction on payments of interest under the Notes on account of Australian interest withholding tax where the holder of the Note is a resident of Australia for Australian tax purposes (a Resident) or a holder that is not a resident of Australia for Australian tax purposes (a Non-Resident) that holds the Notes through a permanent establishment in Australia.

Australian interest withholding tax will be deducted on payments of interest under the Notes to any person who is a Resident that holds the Notes through a permanent establishment outside Australia or a Non-Resident holder of a Note (other than a Non-Resident that holds the Notes through a permanent establishment in Australia) unless the Notes are offered, and interest is paid from time to time, in a manner which satisfies the exemption from interest withholding tax contained in section 128F of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 (Cth) (*ITAA 1936*), or another exemption applies (e.g. an exemption under a double tax treaty).

The Trust Manager proposes to direct the Trustee to issue Class A Notes on the Closing Date in a manner which will satisfy the requirements of section 128F of the ITAA 1936.

The Class B Notes will not be issued in a manner that will satisfy the requirements of section 128F of the ITAA 1936.

If a withholding tax is imposed on payments of interest on the Notes, Noteholders will not be entitled to receive any gross up or other additional amount to compensate for the withholding tax. Noteholders will therefore receive less interest than is scheduled to be paid on each Payment Date. In addition, the Trust Manager has a discretion to direct the Trustee to redeem the Notes in full (but not in part) if a withholding tax is imposed on payments due by the Trustee under the Notes or by Borrowers under the Housing Loans (see section 4.7). If the Notes are redeemed in this way, Noteholders may not be able to invest the amounts received on redemption at an interest rate comparable to that payable on their Notes.

In addition, if the Swap Provider is required to deduct or withhold from any payment under a Hedge Agreement an amount for or on account of any Tax, it is not required to gross up such payments. In these circumstances, the Trustee may not have sufficient funds to meet its payment obligations in respect of the Notes.

3.29 FATCA and similar legislation

The Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (*FATCA*) was enacted by the United States Congress in March 2010 as part of its efforts to improve compliance with their tax laws. FATCA is aimed at detecting US taxpayers who use accounts with offshore (non-US) financial institutions to conceal income and assets from the US Internal Revenue Service (*IRS*). The relevant provisions are contained in the US Internal Revenue Code 1986 and are supplemented by extensive US Treasury Regulations that were issued on 17 January 2013 (and have been subject to subsequent amendment).

FATCA focuses on reporting by:

(a) US taxpayers about certain foreign financial accounts and offshore assets; and

(b) foreign (non-US) financial institutions about financial accounts held by US taxpayers or foreign entities in which US taxpayers hold a substantial ownership interest (*US Persons*).

The objective of FATCA is the reporting of foreign (non-US) financial assets; withholding at 30 per cent. is the cost of not reporting. This means that FATCA will impose certain due diligence and reporting obligations on foreign (non-US) financial institutions. To avoid being withheld upon, a foreign financial institution may generally register with the IRS, obtain a Global Intermediary Identification Number (*GIIN*) and report certain information on US accounts to the IRS. However, where a jurisdiction enters into an Intergovernmental Agreement (a *FATCA Agreement*) with the US to implement FATCA, the due diligence, reporting and other compliance burdens on the financial institutions in that jurisdiction may be simplified.

On 28 April 2014 the Treasurer, on behalf of the Australian Government, and the US Ambassador to Australia, on behalf of the US Government, signed a FATCA Agreement. Under the FATCA Agreement between Australia and the United States:

- (a) Reporting Australian Financial Institutions (*Reporting AFIs*) will report information on US Persons to the Commissioner of Taxation and that information will be made available to the IRS;
- (b) certain Australian institutions and accounts will be exempt from FATCA (e.g. superannuation funds);
- (c) Reporting AFIs, that is, Australian Financial Institutions that are not exempt, will need to:
 - (i) register with the IRS and obtain a GIIN; and
 - (ii) undertake due diligence procedures on accounts existing on 1 July 2014 as well as accounts opened after that date, identify where those accounts are held by US Persons and report certain information on those accounts to the Commissioner of Taxation each year; and
- (d) there will be no withholding on the withholdable payments of Reporting AFIs, unless there is significant non-compliance by a Reporting AFI with its FATCA Agreement obligations, and after following the procedures set out in the FATCA Agreement, the Reporting AFI is treated by the IRS as a non-participating financial institution.

To implement the FATCA Agreement between Australia and the United States, Australian domestic legislation was introduced in the form of a new Division 396 to Schedule 1 to the Taxation Administration Act 1953 (Cth). Effective since 1 July 2014, those amendments require Reporting AFIs to collect and retain information about their customers, conduct ongoing due diligence and provide that information to the Commissioner of Taxation, who will, in turn, provide that information to the IRS.

It is expected that the Trust will be classified as a Reporting AFI (within the meaning of the FATCA Agreement) and that FATCA and the terms of the FATCA Agreement will apply to it accordingly.

If the Trustee or any other person is required to withhold amounts under or in connection with FATCA from any payments made in respect of the Notes, Noteholders and beneficial owners of the Notes will not be entitled to receive any gross up or additional amounts to compensate them for such withholding. This includes no gross up for FATCA withholding where the Trustee or any other person is required to withhold in respect of amounts treated as a "foreign passthru payment" made two years or more after the date on which the final US Treasury Regulations that define "foreign passthru payments" are published, because the Noteholders entitled to such passthru payments are recalcitrant account holders (as defined in section 1471(d)(6) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code) or if passthru payments are made to certain foreign financial institutions that are non-participating foreign financial institutions.

If any other jurisdiction introduces legislation which has or may have a similar effect as FATCA such that the Trustee or any other person is required by that legislation to withhold amounts from any payments made in respect of any Notes, the Noteholders and beneficial owners of the Notes will not be entitled to receive any gross up or other additional amounts to compensate them for such withholding.

Guidance that is issued by the Australian Taxation Office (the *ATO*) or the IRS and which may be updated from time to time, may also affect the application of FATCA to the Notes.

3.30 Common Reporting Standard

The Common Reporting Standard (*CRS*), formally known as the Standard for Automatic Exchange of Financial Account Information in Tax Matters, is a single global standard for the collection, reporting and exchange of financial account information on foreign tax residents.

Broadly, under the CRS, banks and other financial institutions will need to collect and report to the ATO on the financial account information of Non-Residents. The ATO will exchange this information with the participating foreign tax authorities of those Non-Residents. The ATO will receive financial account information on Australian residents from other countries' tax authorities. Specifically, the CRS is designed to facilitate the detection of taxpayers that utilise accounts with foreign financial institutions to avoid their domestic tax obligations.

The CRS was implemented by various bilateral treaties as well as the Multilateral Convention on Mutual Administrative Assistance in Tax Matters. Australia became a signatory to the Convention in 2011.

The obligation on relevant Australian entities to comply with the CRS is now contained in new Subdivision 396-C of the Taxation Administration Act 1953 (Cth). The provisions commenced from 1 July 2017. From that date, "Reporting Financial Institutions" are required to complete due diligence and report information to the ATO on accounts held by foreign tax residents. Reports cover the full calendar year and are due annually by 31 July of the succeeding calendar year.

To minimise business and tax administrations' implementation and compliance costs, the CRS draws extensively on the intergovernmental approach to implementing FATCA for due

diligence procedures and reporting. Despite this, there are a few salient differences between the FATCA and CRS regimes of note. Importantly:

- (a) the CRS does not impose a withholding tax as the cost of not reporting. Rather, the CRS applies administrative penalties for:
 - (i) failure to provide a report to the Commissioner that contains the information required by the CRS;
 - (ii) failure to obtain "self-certification";
 - (iii) failure to keep and maintain records in accordance with the CRS; and
 - (iv) providing a self-certification that is false or misleading;
- (b) generally, the CRS applies irrespective of account balance thresholds; and
- (c) the CRS does not require registration. There is no CRS equivalent to the GIIN required for FATCA compliance.

The CRS only places an obligation to report the accounts of jurisdictions that participate in the regime. The implementation of the CRS in Australia has extended this concept in the expectation that other jurisdictions will ultimately adopt the CRS. Section 396-120(3) defines Reportable Jurisdiction as any jurisdiction (other than Australia). Accordingly, if an account holder is a resident for tax purposes of a jurisdiction, other than Australia, then details of the account will need to be forwarded to the ATO. The ATO will only exchange this information if the account holder's jurisdiction of tax residency participates in the regime.

It is expected that the Trust will be classified as an "Australian Financial Institution" under the CRS and the CRS will apply to it accordingly.

To assist financial institutions with implementing the CRS, the ATO has developed guidance material that will be updated from time to time as the ATO receives and responds to further questions from industry.

3.31 Enforcement

The servicer could encounter substantial delays in connection with the enforcement of a Housing Loan, which may lead to shortfalls in payments to Noteholders to the extent those shortfalls are not covered by applicable Mortgage Insurance Policies (if any), Excess Available Income or the subordination features of the Class B Notes (in the case of Class A Notes). If the proceeds of the sale of a Mortgaged Property, net of preservation and liquidation expenses, are less than the amount due under the related Housing Loan, the Trustee may not have enough funds to make full payments of interest and principal due to Noteholders, unless the difference is covered by the relevant Mortgage Insurance Policy (if any), Excess Available Income or the subordination features of the Class B Notes (in the case of Class A Notes).

3.32 Support Facilities

Westpac is acting in the capacities of Redraw Facility Provider, Liquidity Facility Provider, Basis Swap Provider and Interest Rate Swap Provider. Accordingly, the availability of these various support facilities with respect to the Notes will ultimately be dependent on the

financial strength of Westpac. If Westpac encounters financial difficulties which impede or prohibit the performance of its obligations under the various support facilities, the Trustee may not have sufficient funds to pay the full amount of principal and interest due on the Notes.

3.33 Consolidation

The Trust will form part of the Westpac consolidated tax group, and the Trust will be covered by the Westpac tax sharing agreement. This means that the Trustee should only be liable for the contribution amount, which must represent a reasonable allocation of the total amount of the group tax liability among Westpac and the members of the Westpac consolidated tax group.

On the basis that the Trust would otherwise be taxed on a flow through basis and that the Residual Income Unit Beneficiary would be presently entitled to all of the net income of the Trust if the Trust was not part of the Westpac consolidated tax group, then the contribution amount of the Trustee should be nil. However, in the event that the Westpac tax sharing agreement is not effective, the Trustee could become liable for a greater portion of the group tax liability of the Westpac consolidated tax group or become jointly and severally liable for the full amount of such group tax liability.

3.34 Subordination of the Class B Notes provides only limited protection against losses

The subordination of the Class B Notes is intended to increase the likelihood of payment on the Class A Notes. However, the amount of credit enhancement provided to the Class A Notes through the subordination of the Class B Notes is limited and could be depleted prior to the payment in full of the Class A Notes. If the Stated Amount of the Class B Notes is reduced to zero, the Class A Noteholders may suffer losses on their Notes.

3.35 Risk retention regulation

There remains considerable uncertainty with respect to the effect and implementation of some aspects of the EU Securitisation Regulation (including the EU Retention Rules (as defined in Section 1.17) and the EU Transparency Requirements (as defined in Section 3.42)), the UK Securitisation Regulation (including the UK Retention Rules (as defined in Section 1.18) and the UK Transparency Requirements (as defined in Section 3.43)), and other risk retention rules globally, and it is not clear what will be required to demonstrate compliance to national regulators.

In addition, the EU Retention Rules cover a wider scope of EU-regulated investors (such as certain types of investment fund managers, insurance and reinsurance undertakings) than under the previous legislation. The UK Retention Rules adhere closely to, and have a similar scope of application (in respect of the UK) as the EU Retention Rules. Similar requirements to those set out in the EU Retention Rules and the UK Retention Rules may be implemented for non-EU or UK-regulated investors in the future.

Any changes to the EU Retention Rules, the UK Retention Rules or any other risk retention rules globally or their interpretation, or to regulation or regulatory treatment of the Notes for some or all investors, may negatively impact the regulatory position of investors and the price and liquidity of the Notes in the secondary market.

3.36 Personal Property Security Regime

The Personal Properties Securities Register (*PPSR*) commenced operation throughout Australia on 30 January 2012 pursuant to the PPSA which established a national system for the registration of security interests in personal property and introduced rules for the creation, priority and enforcement of security interests in personal property.

Security interests for the purposes of the PPSA include traditional securities over personal property such as charges and mortgages and other transactions that, in substance, secure payment or performance of an obligation but may not have previously been legally classified as securities under general law (for example, hire purchase agreements, leases such as finance leases and capital leases, retention of title arrangements, flawed asset arrangements and turnover trusts). Further, certain other interests are deemed to be security interests whether or not they secure payment or performance of an obligation (for example, the interest of a lessor under a lease of goods for a term of more than two years (*PPS lease*) or the assignee of certain receivables).

A person who holds a security interest under the PPSA is not obliged to register (or otherwise perfect) the security interest. However, if they do not do so:

- (a) another security interest may take priority;
- (b) another person may acquire an interest in the assets which are subject to the security interest free of their security interest; and
- (c) except in limited cases, they may not be able to enforce the security interest against a grantor who becomes insolvent (because the security interest will vest in the grantor).

The assignment of the Housing Loans by the Approved Seller to the Trustee is a deemed security interest under the PPSA as the Housing Loans are "accounts". The interest of a transferee under a transfer of an account is deemed to be a security interest whether or not the transaction secures payment or performance of an obligation. The Trustee will need to register the assignment to ensure that its interest in the Housing Loans has priority over another competing interest in the Housing Loans (such as another security interest or the interest of a third party purchaser). However, provided the assignment does not secure payment or performance of an obligation, a failure to register will not prevent the Trustee from being able to enforce against the Approved Seller. The security granted by the Trustee under the Security Trust Deed to the Security Trustee is also a security interest under the PPSA. The Security Trustee will need to register the security under the Security Trust Deed to eliminate priority, taking free and vesting risk. There is uncertainty on aspects of the PPSA regime because the PPSA significantly alters the law relating to secured transactions. There are issues and ambiguities in respect of which a market view or practice will evolve over time.

3.37 Insolvency Law Reform

On 18 September 2017, the Treasury Laws Amendment (2017 Enterprise Incentives No.2) Act 2017 of Australia was enacted in Australia. The legislation provides for a stay on enforcement of certain rights arising under a contract (such as a right entitling a creditor to terminate the contract or to accelerate payments or providing for automatic acceleration)

for a certain period of time (and in some cases indefinitely), if the reason for enforcement is the occurrence of certain events relating to specified insolvency proceedings, namely the appointment of an administrator or managing controller or an application for a scheme of arrangement, or the company's financial position during those proceedings (known as "ipso facto" rights). The specified proceedings do not include a winding up or liquidation unless it was preceded by a voluntary administration.

The operation of the legislation introducing the stay commenced on 1 July 2018. The stay applies to ipso facto rights arising under contracts, agreements or arrangements entered into after 1 July, 2018, or entered into before 1 July, 2018 and novated, assigned or varied on or after 1 July, 2023, subject to certain exclusions. Rights exercised with the consent of the relevant administrator, receiver, scheme administrator or liquidator and the right to appoint controllers during the decision period following the appointment of administrators are excluded and rights prescribed by regulations or Ministerial declarations may also be excluded ("subordinate legislation"). Such subordinate legislation may also prescribe additional reasons for application of the stay on enforcement, or for extending the stay indefinitely. The legislation also gives the Federal Court of Australia the power to broaden or narrow the scope and duration of the stay.

The Australian Government has made the Corporations Amendment (Stay on Enforcing Certain Rights) Regulations 2018 and the Corporations (Stay on Enforcing Certain Rights) Regulations (No. 2) 2018. The regulations exempt certain types of contracts from the stay, including an exemption for a contract, agreement or arrangement that is, or governs, securities, financial products, bonds, promissory notes or syndicated loans and a contract, agreement or arrangement that involves a special purpose vehicle, and that provides for securitisation. In addition, the Minister for Revenue and Financial Services made the Corporations (Stay on Enforcing Certain Rights) Declaration 2018 setting out certain types of contractual rights which will also be excluded from the stay (regardless of the type of contract under which those rights arise).

The extent to which certain contracts and contractual rights fall within the scope of the categories and exemptions in the regulations and declaration is unclear. There is uncertainty as to aspects of this new regime and until the regulations have been the subject of any applicable decided case law or further official clarification, the scope of the stay on the exercise of ipso facto rights and the exclusions and the effect on any securities issued after the commencement date remains unclear.

3.38 Global financial regulatory reforms and implementation of and/or changes to the Basel Framework

The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (the *Basel Committee*) approved significant changes to the Basel II regulatory capital and liquidity framework (such changes being commonly referred to as Basel III) in 2011 to 2014, including certain revisions to the securitisation framework. In particular, Basel III provides for a substantial strengthening of existing prudential rules, including requirements intended to reinforce capital standards (with heightened requirements for global systemically important banks) and to establish a leverage ratio "backstop" for financial institutions and to establish certain liquidity ratios (referred to as the Liquidity Coverage Ratio and the Net Stable Funding Ratio). Member

countries were required to implement the new capital standards with a phased approach ending with full implementation on 1 January 2019. Implementation of Basel III requires national legislation and therefore the final rules and the timetable for its implementation in each jurisdiction is subject to some level of national variation. The Basel Committee has also published certain proposed revisions to the securitisation framework, including changes to the approaches to calculating risk weights and a new risk weight floor of 15%. In July 2016 the Basel Committee published an updated standard for the regulatory capital treatment of securitisation exposures that includes reducing the risk weight floor from 15% to 10% in respect of senior exposures which comply with the "simple, transparent and comparable" securitisation criteria outlined by the Basel Committee.

In the EU and the UK, the EU Securitisation Regulation and the UK Securitisation Regulation respectively provide, in a securitisation context, that qualifying simple, transparent and standardised (*STS*) securitisations should be subject to more favourable regulatory treatment for EU or UK-regulated credit institution and investment firm investors (including reduced risk weightings), as applicable. No assurances can be given that the securitisation pursuant to which the Notes are being issued will qualify as an STS securitisation under the EU Securitisation Regulation or the UK Securitisation Regulation now or at any time in the future.

In Australia, APRA has implemented prudential standards, practice guides and reporting requirements to give effect to these reforms. Australian Prudential Standard 120 (*APS 120*) and related Australian Prudential Practice Guide 120 (*APG 120*) commenced application to securitisation transactions with effect from 1 January 2018.

The changes approved by the Basel Committee and the updated APS 120 and APG 120 may have, or continue to have (as applicable), an impact on the capital requirements in respect of the Notes and/or on incentives to hold the Notes for investors that are subject to requirements that follow the revised framework or APS 120 and, as a result, they may affect the liquidity and/or value of the Notes.

No assurance can be given that any regulatory reforms will not have a significant adverse impact on the WST programme or the Notes, or on the regulation of the Trust, Westpac or any member of the Westpac group.

In general, investors should consult their own advisers as to the regulatory capital requirements in respect of the Notes and as to the consequences for and effect on them of any changes to the Basel framework, APS 120 or APG 120 and the relevant implementing measures. No predictions can be made as to the precise effects of such matters on any investor or otherwise.

3.39 The proposed financial transaction tax

On 14 February 2013, the European Commission published a proposal (the *Commission's Proposal*) for a Directive for a common financial transaction tax (*FTT*) in Belgium, Germany, Estonia, Greece, Spain, France, Italy, Austria, Portugal, Slovenia and Slovakia (the participating Member States). However, Estonia has since stated that it will not participate.

The Commission's Proposal has very broad scope and the FTT could, if introduced, apply to certain dealings in financial instruments (including secondary market transactions) in certain circumstances.

Under the Commission's Proposal, the FTT could apply in certain circumstances to persons both within and outside of the participating Member States. Generally, it would apply to certain dealings in financial instruments where at least one party is a financial institution, and at least one party is established in a participating Member State. A financial institution may be, or be deemed to be, "established" in a participating Member State in a broad range of circumstances, including (a) by transacting with a person established in a participating Member State, or (b) where the financial instrument which is subject to the dealings is issued in a participating Member State.

However, the proposed FTT remains subject to negotiation between participating Member States. Additional EU member states may decide to participate. It may therefore be altered prior to any implementation, the timing of which remains unclear.

Prospective Noteholders are advised to seek their own professional advice in relation to the FTT.

3.40 Australian Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorism Financing Act

An entity has obligations under the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorism Financing Act 2006, where it provides a designated service which includes:

- opening or providing certain accounts, allowing any transaction in relation to such an account or receiving instructions to transfer money in and out of such an account;
- (b) making loans to a borrower or allowing a transaction to occur in respect of that loan in certain circumstances;
- (c) providing a custodial or depository service;
- (d) issuing or selling a security in certain circumstances; and
- (e) exchanging one currency for another in certain circumstances.

These obligations will include undertaking customer due diligence before a designated service is provided. The obligations also include, but are not limited to, conducting on-going customer due diligence and reporting of suspicious and other transactions.

The obligations placed upon an entity can affect the services of an entity or the funds it provides and ultimately may result in a delay or decrease in the amounts a Noteholder receives.

3.41 System Limits and Data Integrity

The Housing Loans have been selected on the basis of the information available to Westpac as at the Cut-Off Date. There may be systems and/or data limitations which may impact the ability for Westpac to conclusively exclude all receivables which may be impacted by certain known or potential issues (such as a receivable being originated in a manner not consistent with Westpac's policies) from the Housing Loans.

In addition, the data is subject to human error, and while there are quality assurance processes in place, some data may not be correct in all cases. Accordingly, there is no assurance that all Housing Loans will be found to be free of known or potential issues in relation to their data.

However, nothing in this disclosure qualifies Westpac's representations, including that each Housing Loan meets the Eligibility Criteria as at the Cut-Off Date.

3.42 European Risk Retention and Due Diligence Requirements

The EU Securitisation Regulation began to apply across the EU to any securitisations in respect of which the relevant securities are issued from 1 January 2019.

The EU Securitisation Regulation implements the revised securitisation framework developed by the Basel Committee, as well as risk retention and transparency requirements (imposed variously on the issuer, originator, sponsor and/or original lender of a securitisation, where such entity is an EU Issuing Entity (as defined below)) and due diligence requirements (imposed on EU Institutional Investors) in a securitisation.

The EU Securitisation Regulation imposes certain requirements with respect to originators, original lenders, sponsors and SSPEs (as each such term is defined for purposes of the EU Securitisation Regulation) which are (i) supervised in the EU pursuant to specified EU financial services legislation, or (ii) established in the EU (each an *EU Issuing Entity*, and all such persons together, *EU Issuing Entities*) including:

- (a) a requirement under Article 6 of the EU Securitisation Regulation that the originator, the original lender or the sponsor of a securitisation commits to retain, on an ongoing basis, a material net economic interest in the relevant securitisation of not less than 5% in respect of certain specified credit risk tranches or asset exposures (the *EU Retention Requirement*);
- (b) a requirement under Article 7 of the EU Securitisation Regulation that the originator, sponsor and SSPE of a securitisation make available to holders of a securitisation position, EU competent authorities and (upon request) potential investors certain prescribed information in loan-level data (the *EU Transparency Requirements*); and
- (c) a requirement under Article 9 of the EU Securitisation Regulation that originators, sponsors and original lenders of a securitisation apply to exposures to be securitised the same sound and well-defined criteria for credit-granting which they apply to non-securitised exposures, and have effective systems in place to apply those criteria and processes in order to ensure that credit-granting is based on a thorough assessment of the obligor's creditworthiness taking appropriate account of factors relevant to verifying the prospect of the obligor meeting its obligations under the credit agreement (the *EU Credit-Granting Requirements* and together with the EU Retention Requirement and the EU Transparency Requirements, the *EU Securitisation Requirements*).

Failure by an EU Issuing Entity to comply with any EU Securitisation Requirement applicable to it may result in a regulatory sanction and remedial measures being imposed on such EU Issuing Entity.

As contemplated by the EU Retention Requirement as at the Closing Date, Westpac undertakes that it will retain, on an ongoing basis, a material net economic interest of not less than 5% of the nominal value in the securitisation. As at the Closing Date such net economic interest will be comprised of Westpac holding an interest of not less than 5% of the first loss tranche (being of the Class B Notes) of the securitisation in accordance with Article 6(3)(d) of the EU Securitisation Regulation.

Westpac is not an EU Issuing Entity.

EU Investor Requirements

Article 5 of the EU Securitisation Regulation, places certain conditions (the *EU Investor Requirements*) on investments in securitisations by EU Institutional Investors (as defined in Section 1.17). The EU Investor Requirements are applicable regardless of whether there is an EU Issuing Entity party to the relevant securitisation.

Prior to investing in (or otherwise holding an exposure to) a securitisation, an EU Institutional Investor (other than the originator, sponsor or original lender) must, among other things verify that the originator or the original lender of the underlying exposures of the securitisation is in compliance with the EU Securitisation Requirements. If any EU Institutional Investor fails to comply with the EU Investor Requirements, it may be subject (where applicable) to an additional regulatory capital charge with respect to any securitisation position acquired by it or on its behalf, and it may be subject to other regulatory sanctions.

The Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2020/1224 supplementing the EU Securitisation Regulation with regard to regulatory technical standards specifying the information and the details of a securitisation to be made available by the originator, sponsor and SSPE (the *Disclosure RTS*) and the Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) 2020/1225 laying down implementing technical standards with regard to the format and standardised templates for making available the information and details of a securitisation by the originator, sponsor and SSPE (the *Disclosure ITS*) were both published on 3 September 2020 and each entered into force on 23 September 2020. Any EU Institutional Investor should consider the requirements under the Disclosure RTS and the Disclosure ITS in verifying whether the EU Transparency Requirements have been complied with.

Investors to seek independent advice

Notwithstanding that Westpac is not an EU Issuing Entity, Westpac undertakes that it will endeavour to make available (or procure that the Trust Manager makes available):

- (a) loan level data in relation to the Housing Loans held by the Trustee (in such format and scope as Westpac may determine from time to time), provided that such Noteholder has entered into acceptable arrangements with Westpac, including a confidentiality agreement with respect to such information;
- (b) investor reports (at least on a quarterly basis) on the statistics for the Housing Loans, on the terms set out in section 6.3 (*Housing Loan Statistics*); and

(c) upon request of a Noteholder or persons intending to acquire Notes, copies of each of the Transaction Documents (other than the Dealer Agreement), on the terms set out in section 13 (*Transaction Documents*),

collectively, the Reporting Undertaking.

Westpac may from time to time and at its sole discretion make available (or procure that the Trust Manager makes available) to Noteholders the information necessary for Noteholders that are EU Institutional Investors to comply with the EU Investor Requirements. However, there can be no assurance that Westpac will do so, and further, Westpac may be unable to make all such information available to Noteholders for a number of reasons, including but not limited to where the information required is peculiar to the EU and is not information that is typically available in the Australian mortgage market or there are restrictions on disclosing some of the data. In addition, even where Westpac has decided to make information available, Westpac may not be able to do so in a timely fashion, for example as a result of internal resource constraints. None of the Trust Manager, the Trustee, the Security Trustee, Westpac nor any other person: (i) makes any representation that the information described above or in this Information Memorandum is sufficient in all circumstances for such purpose; (ii) accepts any liability to any prospective investor or any other person for any insufficiency in respect of such information or any failure of the transaction contemplated herein to comply with or otherwise satisfy the requirements of the provisions of the EU Securitisation Regulation or any other applicable legal, regulatory or other requirements; or (iii) has any obligation to provide any further information or take any other steps that may be required by any investor to enable compliance by that investor with the EU Investor Requirements or any other applicable legal, regulatory or other requirements.

Each EU Institutional Investor should consult with their own legal and regulatory advisors to determine whether, and to what extent, the information described above and in the Information Memorandum is sufficient for compliance by that EU Institutional Investor with any applicable provisions of the EU Securitisation Regulation. Any failure to comply with the provisions of the EU Securitisation Regulation may, amongst other things, have a negative impact on the value and liquidity of the Notes, and otherwise affect the secondary market for the Notes. In addition, if an EU Institutional Investor fails to comply with the EU Investor Requirements, it may be subject (where applicable) to an additional regulatory capital charge with respect to any securitisation position acquired by it or on its behalf, and it may be subject to other regulatory sanctions.

Prospective investors should make their own independent investigation and seek their own independent advice as to (1) the requirements of the provisions of the EU Securitisation Regulation (and any technical standards which have been passed or are to be passed in respect of them, including without limitation the Disclosure RTS and the Disclosure ITS); (2) the regulatory capital treatment of their investment (or the liquidity of such investment as a result thereof); and (3) the sufficiency of the information described above and in this Information Memorandum generally for the purposes of complying with the provisions of the EU Securitisation Regulation (now and at any time in the future) and none of the Trust Manager, the Trustee, the Security Trustee, Westpac nor any other person: (i) makes any representation that the information described above or in the Information Memorandum is

sufficient in all circumstances for such purpose; or (ii) accepts any liability to any prospective investor or any other person for any insufficiency in respect of such information or any failure of the transaction contemplated herein to comply with or otherwise satisfy the requirements of the provisions of the EU Securitisation Regulation or any other applicable legal, regulatory or other requirements.

3.43 UK Risk Retention and Due Diligence Requirements

The UK Securitisation Regulation applies in the UK to any securitisations in respect of which the relevant securities are issued from 1 January 2021.

Like the EU Securitisation Regulation, the UK Securitisation Regulation includes risk retention and transparency requirements (imposed variously on the issuer, originator, sponsor and/or original lender of a securitisation, where such entity is a UK Issuing Entity (as defined below)) and due diligence requirements (imposed on UK Institutional Investors) in a securitisation.

The UK Retention Rules apply to securitisations in respect of which the relevant securities are issued on or after 1 January 2021.

The UK Securitisation Regulation imposes certain requirements with respect to originators, original lenders, sponsors and SSPEs (as each such term is defined for purposes of the UK Securitisation Regulation) which are (i) supervised in the UK pursuant to specified UK financial services legislation, or (ii) established in the UK (each a *UK Issuing Entity*, and all such persons together, *UK Issuing Entities*) including:

- (a) a requirement under Article 6 of the UK Securitisation Regulation that the originator, the original lender or the sponsor of a securitisation commits to retain, on an ongoing basis, a material net economic interest in the relevant securitisation of not less than 5% in respect of certain specified credit risk tranches or asset exposures (the UK Retention Requirement);
- (b) a requirement under Article 7 of the UK Securitisation Regulation that the originator, sponsor and SSPE of a securitisation make available to holders of a securitisation position, the UK competent authority and (upon request) potential investors certain prescribed information in loan-level data (the UK Transparency Requirements); and
- (c) a requirement under Article 9 of the UK Securitisation Regulation that originators, sponsors and original lenders of a securitisation apply to exposures to be securitised the same sound and well-defined criteria for credit-granting which they apply to non-securitised exposures, and have effective systems in place to apply those criteria and processes in order to ensure that credit-granting is based on a thorough assessment of the obligor's creditworthiness taking appropriate account of factors relevant to verifying the prospect of the obligor meeting its obligations under the credit agreement (the *UK Credit-Granting Requirements* and together with the UK Retention Requirement and the UK Transparency Requirements, the *UK Securitisation Requirements*).

Failure by a UK Issuing Entity to comply with any UK Securitisation Requirement applicable to it may result in a regulatory sanction and remedial measures being imposed on such UK Issuing Entity.

As contemplated by the UK Retention Requirement as at the Closing Date, Westpac undertakes that it will retain, on an ongoing basis, a material net economic interest of not less than 5% of the nominal value in the securitisation. As at the Closing Date such net economic interest will be comprised of Westpac holding an interest of not less than 5% of the first loss tranche (being of the Class B Notes) of the securitisation in accordance with Article 6(3)(d) of the UK Securitisation Regulation.

Westpac is not a UK Issuing Entity.

UK Investor Requirements

Article 5 of the UK Securitisation Regulation, places certain conditions (the *UK Investor Requirements*) on investments in securitisations by UK Institutional Investors (as defined in Section 1.18). The UK Investor Requirements are applicable regardless of whether there is a UK Issuing Entity party to the relevant securitisation, and in particular, certain of the UK Investor Requirements in relation to disclosure of information by the originator, sponsor or SSPE apply where such entities are established in a third country.

Prior to investing in (or otherwise holding an exposure to) a securitisation, a UK Institutional Investor (other than the originator, sponsor or original lender) must, among other things verify that the originator or the original lender of the underlying exposures of the securitisation is in compliance with the UK Securitisation Requirements. If any UK Institutional Investor fails to comply with the UK Investor Requirements, it may be subject (where applicable) to an additional regulatory capital charge with respect to any securitisation position acquired by it or on its behalf, and it may be subject to other regulatory sanctions.

In this regard, the Disclosure ITS and the Disclosure RTS also form part of the domestic law of the UK, subject to certain amendments as specified by the UK Financial Conduct Authority in the Technical Standards (Specifying the information and the details of a securitisation to be made available by the originator, sponsor and SSPE) (EU Exit) Instrument 2020) (as amended, the *UK Disclosure ITS and UK Disclosure RTS*). Any UK Institutional Investor should consider the requirements under the UK Disclosure RTS and the UK Disclosure ITS in verifying whether the UK Transparency Requirements have been complied with.

Investors to seek independent advice

Notwithstanding that Westpac is not a UK Issuing Entity, Westpac has made the Reporting Undertaking (as described in section 3.42 above).

Westpac may from time to time and in its sole discretion make available (or procure that the Trust Manager makes available) to Noteholders the information necessary for Noteholders that are UK Institutional Investors to comply with the UK Investor Requirements. However, there can be no assurance that Westpac will do so, and further, Westpac may be unable to make all such information available to Noteholders for a number of reasons, including but not limited to where the information required is peculiar to

the UK and is not information that is typically available in the Australian mortgage market or there are restrictions on disclosing some of the data. In addition, even where Westpac has decided to make information available, Westpac may not be able to do so in a timely fashion, for example as a result of internal resource constraints. None of the Trust Manager, the Trustee, the Security Trustee, Westpac nor any other person: (i) makes any representation that the information described above or in this Information Memorandum is sufficient in all circumstances for such purpose; (ii) accepts any liability to any prospective investor or any other person for any insufficiency in respect of such information or any failure of the transaction contemplated herein to comply with or otherwise satisfy the requirements of the provisions of the UK Securitisation Regulation or any other applicable legal, regulatory or other requirements; or (iii) has any obligation to provide any further information or take any other steps that may be required by any investor to enable compliance by that investor with the UK Investor Requirements or any other applicable legal, regulatory or other requirements.

Each UK Institutional Investor should consult with their own legal and regulatory advisors to determine whether, and to what extent, the information described above and in the Information Memorandum is sufficient for compliance by that UK Institutional Investor with any applicable provisions of the UK Securitisation Regulation. Any failure to comply with the provisions of the UK Securitisation Regulation may, amongst other things, have a negative impact on the value and liquidity of the Notes, and otherwise affect the secondary market for the Notes. In addition, if a UK Institutional Investor fails to comply with the UK Investor Requirements, it may be subject (where applicable) to an additional regulatory capital charge with respect to any securitisation position acquired by it or on its behalf, and it may be subject to other regulatory sanctions.

Prospective investors should make their own independent investigation and seek their own independent advice as to (1) the requirements of the provisions of the UK Securitisation Regulation (and any technical standards which have been passed or are to be passed in respect of them, including without limitation the UK Disclosure RTS and the UK Disclosure ITS); (2) the regulatory capital treatment of their investment (or the liquidity of such investment as a result thereof); and (3) the sufficiency of the information described above and in this Information Memorandum generally for the purposes of complying with the provisions of the UK Securitisation Regulation (now and at any time in the future) and none of the Trust Manager, the Trustee, the Security Trustee, Westpac nor any other person: (i) makes any representation that the information described above or in the Information Memorandum is sufficient in all circumstances for such purpose; or (ii) accepts any liability to any prospective investor or any other person for any insufficiency in respect of such information or any failure of the transaction contemplated herein to comply with or otherwise satisfy the requirements of the provisions of the UK Securitisation Regulation or any other applicable legal, regulatory or other requirements.

3.44 Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules

On 15 March 2019 the Japanese Financial Services Agency (*JFSA*) published the Criteria for a Bank to Determine Whether the Adequacy of its Equity Capital is Appropriate in Light of the Circumstances such as the Assets Held by it under the Provision of Article 14-2 of

the Banking Act (JFSA Notice No. 19 of 2006, as amended) (the *Bank Capital Adequacy Notice*). The Bank Capital Adequacy Notice and other JFSA notices setting out the regulatory capital rules applicable to Japanese financial institutions (collectively, the *Notices*) provide new due diligence and risk retention rules in relation to regulatory capital requirements with respect to the investment by certain Japanese financial institutions in securitisation transactions (the *Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules*). The Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules became applicable to Japanese financial institutions acquiring securitisation exposures after 31 March 2019.

The Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules will apply to securitisation exposures held by Japanese financial institutions subject to the regulatory capital requirements, such as banks, bank holding companies, credit unions (*shinyo-kinko*), federations of credit unions (*shinyo-kinko-rengo-kai*), credit cooperatives (*shinyo-kyodo-kumiai*), federations of credit cooperatives (*shinyo-kyodo-kumiai-rengo-kai*), labour credit unions (*rodo-kinko*), federations of labour credit unions (*rodo-kinko-rengo-kai*), agricultural credit cooperatives (*nogyo-kyodo-kumiai-rengo-kai*), ultimate parent companies of large securities companies, the Norinchukin Bank and the Shoko Chukin Bank (collectively, *Japanese Affected Investors*).

Under the Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules, a Japanese Affected Investor will be required to apply higher risk weighting to securitisation exposures they hold for regulatory capital purposes unless:

- it establishes an appropriate due diligence framework to be applied to the relevant securitisation exposure and the underlying assets of such securitisation exposure; and
- (b) not only at the time of acquisition of the securitisation exposure but also each time Japanese Affected Investor is required to calculate the risk weighting of its assets for regulatory capital purposes, either:
 - it confirms that the relevant originator of the relevant securitisation transaction retains at least 5% of the exposure of the total underlying assets in the transaction in an appropriate form (the *Japanese Risk Retention Requirements*); or
 - (ii) it determines that the underlying assets were not inappropriately originated considering the originator's involvement with the underlying assets, the nature of the underlying assets or other relevant circumstances.

The Notices provide that, if the originator retains the most subordinated tranche, the amount of which is at least 5% of the exposure of the total underlying assets of this securitisation transaction, the Japanese Risk Retention Requirements are satisfied.

Westpac, as originator for the purposes of the Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules, intends to satisfy the Japanese Risk Retention Requirements by retaining the Class B Notes, the most subordinated tranche, the amount of which is at least 5% of the exposure of the total underlying assets of this securitisation transaction. Such retention by Westpac will be subject to any requirement of law and Westpac will not be in breach of its

risk retention undertaking (if any) where it cannot comply due to events, actions or circumstances beyond Westpac's control.

Under its Q&As accompanying the Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules, JFSA provides an example of retention of the credit risk in satisfaction of the Japanese Risk Retention Requirements in another manner if the amount retained is equivalent to or more than the required credit risk. Prospective investors should make their own independent assessment of whether Westpac's holding of the Class B Notes complies with the Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules. Failure by a Japanese Affected Investor to satisfy the Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules will require it to hold a full capital charge against that securitisation exposure of the securitisation transaction which it has acquired after 31 March 2019.

Any failure to satisfy the Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules may, amongst other things, have a negative impact on the value and liquidity of the Notes, and otherwise affect the secondary market for the Notes. Failure by the Japanese Affected Investor to satisfy the Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules may occur if (amongst other things) insufficient exposure is held by Westpac. There can be no assurance that the regulatory capital treatment of the Notes for any investor will not be affected by any future implementation of, and changes to, the Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules or other regulatory or accounting changes.

Prospective investors should make their own independent investigation and seek their own independent advice (i) as to the applicability and scope of the Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules; (ii) as to the potential implications of any financing entered into in respect of the Notes retained by Westpac; (iii) as to the sufficiency of the information described in this Information Memorandum and which may otherwise be made available to investors and (iv) as to their compliance with Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules.

None of Westpac, whether as Approved Seller, Servicer, Swap Provider, Liquidity Facility Provider or Redraw Facility Provider, BNY Trust Company of Australia Limited, in its individual capacity and as Trustee, Westpac Securitisation Management Pty Limited, as Trust Manager, the Security Trustee nor any Dealer, or any other party to the Transaction Documents: (i) makes any representation that the performance of the undertakings described above and the information described in this Information Memorandum or any other information which may be made available to investors, are or will be sufficient for the purposes of any Japanese Affected Investor's compliance with the Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules, (ii) has any liability to any prospective investor or any other person for any insufficiency of such information or any noncompliance by any such person with the Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules or any other applicable legal, regulatory or other requirements, or (iii) has any obligation to provide any further information or take any other steps that may be required by any Japanese Affected Investor to enable compliance by such person with the requirements of the Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules or any other applicable legal, regulatory or other requirements.

There can be no assurance that the regulatory treatment of the Notes for any investor will not be affected by any future implementation of, and changes to, the Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules or other regulatory or accounting changes.

3.45 Effects of other regulatory measures

In addition to the EU Securitisation Regulation and EU Securitisation Requirements described in section 3.42, the UK Securitisation Regulation and UK Securitisation Requirements described in section 3.43 and the Japanese Due Diligence and Risk Retention Rules described in section 3.44, there are other domestic and international measures for increased or revised regulation (including with respect to regulatory capital treatment) of mortgage-backed securities (such as the Notes) which are currently at various stages of implementation.

Such changes in the domestic or global financial regulation or regulatory treatment of mortgage-backed securities may have an adverse impact on the regulatory position of affected investors and consequently have an adverse impact on the value, liquidity and/or capital treatment of mortgage-backed securities such as the Notes for those affected investors. To the extent that such new or amended regulations require action by any person, or amendments to the terms of any Notes or Transaction Documents, there is no assurance or guarantee that Westpac (in any capacity), the Trust Manager, the Trustee or any other person will, or will be able to, comply with any such new or amended regulations. Prospective investors in the Notes should consult with their own legal and investment advisors regarding the potential impact on them and the related compliance issues of investing in, holding and trading in any Notes.

3.46 Cessation of, or material change to, the BBSW benchmark may result in reduced liquidity and/or losses on the Notes

Interest rate benchmarks (such as BBSW and other interbank offered rates) have been and continue to be the subject of national and international regulatory guidance and proposals for reform.

In Australia, the administrator of BBSW is the ASX which calculates BBSW in accordance with the ASX BBSW Methodology dated 21 May 2018 and other guidance materials (the **BBSW Methodology**).

The expressed purpose of the BBSW Methodology was "to ensure that BBSW remains a trusted, reliable and robust financial benchmark". However, there is a risk that BBSW determined under the BBSW Methodology may not be based upon trade activity in underlying markets or may not published at all.

A rate based on BBSW is used to determine (a) the amount of interest payable on the Notes; (b) amounts payable by the Swap Provider to the Trustee under the Interest Rate Swap and Basis Swap; and (c) amounts of interest and commitment fees payable to the Liquidity Facility Provider by the Trustee under the Liquidity Facility Agreement. If BBSW is unavailable for these purposes, investors should be aware of the fallback rates mechanism for the Notes (see the definition of "Bank Bill Rate" in section 14) and that the fallback rates mechanism for the Interest Rate Swap, Basis Swap and the Liquidity Facility Agreement may not be the same as for the Notes. This mismatch may lead to shortfalls in interest

payments on Notes and losses on Notes (to the extent Principal Draws are used to reimburse income shortfalls). Such fallback rates may, at the relevant time, also be cumbersome to calculate, may be more volatile than originally anticipated or may not reflect the funding cost or return anticipated by investors at the date they invested in their Notes.

At this stage, it is not possible to comment on the scope, nature and effect of further changes affecting global or domestic interest rate benchmarks and associated market practices, changes to the continued use of BBSW or changes to the current BBSW Methodology, and accordingly the consequences of any such changes are unknown and unknowable at this time. However, it is possible that such changes could cause such benchmarks (or their fallbacks) to cease to exist, to be commercially or practically unworkable (including if market participants cease to administer or participate in the relevant calculations) or to perform differently than originally intended (including because of volatility), and as such those changes could have a material adverse effect on the value and liquidity of Notes and/or the interest paid or payable on Notes in the future.

In addition, the Reserve Bank of Australia (*RBA*), among others, has expressed the view that the market underpinning calculations of BBSW using 1-month tenors is not as liquid as for tenors of 3-months or 6-months, and that issuers of Australian residential mortgage backed securitisation transactions (*RMBS*) should consider using alternative benchmarks (for example, the cash rate published by the RBA, or BBSW using a 3-month or 6-month tenor). If one of these alternative methods of calculating the benchmark for Australian RMBS becomes standard and there is a disparity between the method of calculating interest on the Notes (on the basis of BBSW with a 1-month tenor) and the then prevailing method of calculating interest on RMBS debt instruments, that could have a material adverse effect on the value and/or liquidity of the Notes.

Similarly, if a fallback mechanism for calculating BBSW for Australian RMBS becomes standard and that mechanism is different from the fallback mechanism for the Notes, that could have a material adverse effect on the value and/or liquidity of the Notes.

None of Westpac, the Trust Manager, Trustee, the Security Trustee nor any of their related entities, accepts any responsibility or liability (in negligence or otherwise) for any loss or damage resulting from the use of existing benchmark rates such as BBSW.

On 6 June 2018, ASIC designated BBSW as a "significant financial benchmark" and made the ASIC Financial Benchmark (Administration) Rules 2018 and the ASIC 101 Financial Benchmark (Compelled) Rules 2018. Additionally, the Treasury Laws Amendment (2017 Measures No. 5) Act 2018 (Cth) enables ASIC to, among other things, make rules relating to the generation and administration of financial benchmarks and it is possible in the future that ASIC will exercise these powers to establish guidelines around the setting of benchmarks that could apply to BBSW and affect the above commentary.

3.47 COVID-19

The COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted, and will continue to disrupt, numerous industries and global supply chains, while important measures to mitigate its impact (such as

restrictions on businesses, movement and public gatherings) have had, and may continue to have, a negative effect on economic activity.

Instability in Australian and international capital and credit markets, and in economies generally as a result of the pandemic may adversely affect the liquidity, performance and/or market value of mortgage-backed securities, including the Notes.

The economic effects described above have led to increased unemployment in Australia and may result in job losses or wage reductions which may could adversely affect the ability of Obligors to make timely payments on Housing Loans. In such circumstances, the Servicer may determine that the relevant Housing Loan should be varied on the grounds of hardship (including by deferring scheduled payments of principal and interest for an agreed period and/or extending the term of the Housing Loans). A failure by a Borrower to make scheduled payments, or a variation of scheduled payments for a Housing Loan, may adversely affect the ability of the Trustee to make payments and or the timing of those payments, in respect of the Notes.

In addition, as a result of the measures and policies described above, many institutions (including courts and federal and state agencies) have either temporarily closed or implemented policies requiring employees to work from home. The effectiveness of these policies is dependent upon a number of variables, including having readily available, secure and stable information technology system to support remote working and the appropriate external infrastructure and resources, which may be outside of the control of the organisation. Accordingly, there may be disruptions in routine servicing functions and processes (such as enforcement action) and administration of the Housing Loans which may consequently affect the Servicer's ability to collect amounts owing in respect of the Housing Loans to remit to the Trust.

In response to the outbreak, the Australian Commonwealth and the Australian State and Territory governments have introduced a wide range of stimulus packages to provide relief for consumers and businesses that have been financially and adversely affected (directly or indirectly) by the outbreak. The major support package has now been terminated, while others have been progressively wound back or are subject to further government review. In the event of further COVID-19 outbreaks, there can be no assurances that such stimulus packages will be re-introduced or that any government assistance or subsidy given, including support given directly to obligors in respect of the Housing Loans, to the Servicer or through the capital or credit markets will be sufficient to provide relief against the risks outlined above.

As at the Cut-Off Date, none of the Housing Loans are the subject of COVID-19 financial hardship arrangements.

4. Details of the Notes

4.1 General Description of the Notes

The Notes constitute debt securities issued by the Trustee in its capacity as trustee of the Trust. They are secured, amortising, pass-through, floating rate debt securities. They are issued with the benefit of, and subject to, the Trust Deed, the Series Notice and the Security Trust Deed.

In the event of an enforcement under the Security Trust Deed, the obligations of the Trustee are secured by way of a first ranking security interest granted under the Security Trust Deed to the Security Trustee over the assets of the Trust in favour of Noteholders and other creditors of the Trust. The Security Trust Deed is described in section 10, including priorities that will apply if the Security Trust Deed is enforced.

The Notes are governed by the laws of New South Wales. The Transaction Documents are governed by the laws of New South Wales.

4.2 Coupon on the Class A Notes and Class B Notes

- (a) (Coupon) Each Note bears interest on its Invested Amount (however, no interest will accrue on any Note for the period after its Stated Amount is reduced to zero). The Invested Amount of a Note is equal to the Initial Invested Amount of that Note less all payments previously made on account of principal in respect of that Note.
- (b) A Coupon is payable monthly in arrear on each Note, to the person whose name is, on the Record Date, entered in the Register as the holder of the Note, until the Maturity Date or until the Stated Amount of the Note is reduced to zero (whichever is earlier). The first Payment Date for Coupons will be 16 November 2021. Each Note will bear floating rate interest at stipulated margins over the Bank Bill Rate.
- (c) (Calculation of Coupon) Coupon is calculated on a Class of Note for each Coupon Period on a daily basis at the Coupon Rate applicable for that Class of Note for that Coupon Period:
 - (i) on the Invested Amount of that Note as at the first day of that Coupon Period; and
 - (ii) on the basis of the actual number of days in that Coupon Period and a year of 365 days.
- (d) (Coupon Period) The first Coupon Period in relation to the Notes commences on (and includes) the Closing Date and ends on (and includes) the day immediately before the first Payment Date.

Each succeeding Coupon Period, commences on (and includes) a Payment Date and ends on (and includes) the day immediately before the next Payment Date.

The final Coupon Period for a Note ends on (and excludes) the day on which that Note is redeemed in full in accordance with the Transaction Documents.

(e) (Coupon Rate) The Coupon Rate for each Coupon Period commencing before the Margin Step-Up Date on each Class of Note is the Bank Bill Rate on the first day of that Coupon Period plus the Margin for that Class of Note.

In the case of the Class A Notes only, the Coupon Rate for each Coupon Period commencing on or after the Margin Step-Up Date, is the Bank Bill Rate on the first day of that Coupon Period plus the Margin for the Class A Notes plus a percentage rate per annum equal to the Step-Up Margin for the Class A Notes.

The Margin for each Class of Note is as determined on the Pricing Date by agreement between the Lead Manager and the Trust Manager. The Margin for each Class of Note will be notified to the relevant Noteholders by the Lead Manager.

(f) (Coupon Payment) If sufficient Total Available Funds are available, Coupon on each Class of Note will be payable on each Payment Date in arrear in respect of the Coupon Period ending on the day immediately before that Payment Date.

Total Available Funds available for the payment of Coupon on Notes on the Payment Date (after application of senior amounts (see section 7.8(a))) will be paid in the following order of priority:

- (i) to Class A Noteholders; and
- (ii) to Class B Noteholders.

The method for calculating Total Available Funds is set out in section 7.3 and the priority of payments out of Total Available Funds is set out in section 7.8.

Failure to pay Coupon on the most senior Class of Notes within 10 Business Days of the due date will be an Event of Default under the Security Trust Deed (see section 10.3(a)). The Events of Default and the remedies available to Noteholders are detailed in section 10.

4.3 Principal Repayments on the Notes

Principal Collections on a Payment Date will be allocated to Noteholders in the order of priority described in section 7.10(b).

No Noteholder will be entitled to receive aggregate principal on any Note in excess of the Invested Amount for that Note after taking into account reimbursement of charge-offs (if applicable) on the relevant Payment Date.

4.4 Maturity Date

Subject to the Trustee's limitation of liability, the Invested Amount of each Note is required to be repaid in full on or by the Maturity Date.

4.5 Date-Based Call Option

On any Payment Date on or after the Date-Based Call Option Date:

(a) the Trustee must, if so directed by the Trust Manager (at the Trust Manager's option), redeem all, but not some only, of the Class A Notes by repaying the Invested Amount, together with accrued interest to (but excluding) the date of

redemption, on any Payment Date falling on or after the Date-Based Call Option Date (the *Relevant Payment Date*), provided that:

- (i) the Trust Manager has provided no less than 4 Business Days prior written notice to:
 - (A) the Trustee;
 - (B) the Security Trustee;
 - (C) the Class A Noteholders and the Class B Noteholders;
 - (D) Westpac; and
 - (E) each Rating Agency,

in accordance with the terms of the Series Notice and the Trust Deed, of the Trust Manager's intention to direct the Trustee to redeem the Class A Notes under this paragraph (a); and

- (ii) subject to paragraph (c), the Trustee has sufficient cash to make such repayment and to discharge all of the Trustee's liabilities in respect of amounts which are required under the Security Trust Deed to be paid in priority or equally with the Class A Notes being redeemed as if the security for the Notes were being enforced (after taking into account any amounts to be applied on the Relevant Payment Date in accordance with section 7). For this purpose, the Trustee may:
 - (A) at the direction of the Trust Manager, and subject to a Rating Notification, issue on the Relevant Payment Date, to Westpac or as it directs, new Class A Notes with an aggregate Initial Invested Amount no less than the Invested Amount of the Class A Notes to be redeemed (taking into account any Principal Collections the Trust Manager determines will be available to be applied to redeem Class A Notes on the Relevant Payment Date prior to their redemption on the Relevant Payment Date) (the **New Class A Notes**); or
 - (B) any day in the 10 Business Days prior to that Payment Date, at the direction of the Trust Manager, dispose of any Housing Loan for an amount not less than the lesser of their Unpaid Balance or Fair Market Value; or
- (b) if Westpac has not received a notification under (a)(i), or believes that the Trust Manager will not give the Trustee a direction under paragraph (a), Westpac may (subject to paragraph (c)), purchase all (but not some only) of the Class A Notes from Class A Noteholders for their aggregate Invested Amount (after payment of principal and interest on the Class A Notes on that Payment Date). A purchase of Class A Notes under paragraph (b) will be effected by:
 - (i) Westpac paying the relevant purchase price to the Trustee on or by the applicable Payment Date;

- (ii) the Trust Manager directing the Trustee to pay the relevant purchase price to each Class A Noteholder as consideration for the transfer; and
- (iii) the Trust Manager directing the Trustee to transfer all Class A Notes to Westpac or as it directs.

No transfer of Class A Notes will occur unless:

- (iv) the Trust Manager, at the direction of Westpac, has provided no less than 3 Business Days prior written notice to:
 - (A) the Trustee;
 - (B) the Security Trustee; and
 - (C) the Class A Noteholders;

in accordance with the terms of the Series Notice and the Master Trust Deed, of Westpac's intention to purchase the Class A Notes under this subparagraph (b); and

- (v) Westpac pays the Trustee all amounts required under sub-paragraph (b)(i).
- (c) Class A Notes may be redeemed under sub-paragraph (a), or Westpac may purchase Class A Notes under sub-paragraph (b), (as applicable), at their Stated Amounts instead of at their Invested Amounts, together with accrued but unpaid interest to but excluding the date of redemption, if so approved by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Class A Noteholders.
- (d) Class A Notes will be purchased or redeemed in accordance with paragraph (a) or(b) notwithstanding that Class B Notes will not be purchased or redeemed at the same time.
- (e) If any New Class A Notes are issued under sub-paragraph (a)(ii)(A):
 - (i) the proceeds of issue of the New Class A Notes equal to their aggregate Initial Invested Amounts will be treated as Gross Principal Collections to be applied on the Relevant Payment Date (notwithstanding those amounts were not received in the Collection Period preceding the Relevant Payment Date);
 - (ii) if applicable, the proceeds of issue of the New Class A Notes equal to the aggregate of any premium paid for those New Class A Notes will be treated as Total Available Funds to be applied on the Relevant Payment Date (notwithstanding those amounts were not received in the Collection Period preceding the Relevant Payment Date);
 - (iii) payments of principal in respect of the Class A Notes to be redeemed on the Relevant Payment Date will be made in accordance with section 7.10(b):
 - (iv) the terms of the New Class A Notes issued under sub-paragraph (a)(ii)(A) as at their issuance will be as agreed between Westpac and the Trust Manager and notified to the Trustee, subject to a Rating Notification; and

- (v) Westpac and the Trust Manager may (subject to a Rating Notification) agree the processes necessary to raise the relevant subscription amounts on or before the Relevant Payment Date and apply those amounts on the Relevant Payment Date (including Westpac holding relevant amounts in escrow, or the Trustee issuing the New Class A Notes prior to redemption of the then existing Class A Notes), and will have power to amend the Transaction Documents accordingly (subject to a Rating Notification and that the amendments are for the purpose of facilitating the redemption of Class A Notes on the Relevant Payment Date in accordance with this clause).
- (f) If any Housing Loans are disposed of under sub-paragraph (a)(ii)(B), the proceeds of disposal will be treated as relevant Collections to be applied on the Relevant Payment Date (notwithstanding those amounts were not received in the Collection Period preceding the Relevant Payment Date).
- (g) Redemption of Class A Notes in accordance with this section 4.5 shall be in full satisfaction of the Trustee's obligations under the Class A Notes.

4.6 Clean-Up Call Option

- (a) The Trustee must, when so directed by the Trust Manager (at the Trust Manager's option) on or before the date which is three Business Days before any Payment Date falling on or after the Clean-Up Call Option Date, redeem all, but not some only of the Notes or a Class of Notes on that Payment Date by repaying the Invested Amount, or, if all the Noteholders or Class of Noteholders (as the case may be) so agree, the Stated Amount, of those Notes or Class of Notes, together with accrued interest to (but excluding) the date of redemption, provided that:
 - (i) the Trust Manager has provided no less than three Business Days prior written notice to:
 - (A) the Security Trustee;
 - (B) the Class A Noteholders and the Class B Noteholders in the case of redemption of the Class A Notes and the Class B Notes; and
 - (C) each Rating Agency,
 - of the Trust Manager's intention to direct the Trustee to redeem the Notes or Class of Notes as described in this section 4.6;
 - (ii) the Trustee has sufficient cash to make such repayment and discharge all its liabilities in respect of amounts which are required under the Security Trust Deed to be paid in priority or equally with each relevant Class of Notes being redeemed as if the security for the Notes were being enforced. The Trustee may:
 - (A) at the direction of the Trust Manager, dispose of any Housing Loans for an amount not less than the lesser of their Unpaid Balance or Fair Market Value in order to raise such cash; and

- (B) rely conclusively on a certificate from the Trust Manager as to the amount of the repayment and other payments referred to above;
- (iii) the Trustee retains such amount as the Trust Manager reasonably determines will be necessary to satisfy any outstanding or anticipated Expenses, payment under the Liquidity Facility, payment under the Redraw Facility or payment to any Swap Provider under a Hedge Agreement.
- (b) Repayment and redemption of Class A Notes or Class B Notes in accordance with this section 4.6 (as the case may be) shall be in full satisfaction of the Trustee's obligations under the relevant Notes.
- (c) The Trustee may redeem Notes of a Class at their Stated Amounts instead of at their Invested Amounts, together with accrued but unpaid interest to but excluding the date of redemption, if so approved by an Extraordinary Resolution of the relevant Noteholders. However, the Trustee will not redeem any Notes unless it is in a position on the relevant Payment Date to repay the then Invested Amounts or the Stated Amounts, as required, of the Notes together with all accrued but unpaid interest to but excluding the date of redemption and to discharge all its liabilities in respect of amounts which are required under the Security Trust Deed to be paid in priority to or equally with the Notes as if the security interest granted under the Security Trust Deed in respect of the Trust were enforced.
- (d) The Trust Manager may direct the Trustee to, and on that direction the Trustee shall, redeem Class A Notes in accordance with paragraph (a) notwithstanding that Class B Notes may not be redeemed at the same time (or at all).

4.7 Redemption for Tax Event

If the Trust Manager notifies the Trustee that in its opinion (based on such advice it deems necessary) either:

- (a) on the next Payment Date the Trustee would be required to deduct or withhold from any payment of principal or interest in respect of any Class of the Notes any amount for or on account of any present or future Taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by the Commonwealth of Australia or any of its political sub-divisions or any of its authorities; or
- (b) the total amount payable in respect of interest in relation to any of the Housing Loans for a Collection Period ceases to be receivable (whether or not actually received) by the Trustee during such Collection Period (but, for the avoidance of doubt, this paragraph does not apply to the failure by the Trustee to receive any interest on any Housing Loans merely by reason of the failure by the relevant Borrowers to pay that interest in breach of the relevant Loan),

the Trustee must, when so directed by the Trust Manager, at the Trust Manager's option (provided that the Trustee will be in a position on such Payment Date to discharge (and the Trust Manager will so certify to the Trustee) all its liabilities in respect of that Class of Notes and any amounts required under the Security Trust Deed to be paid in priority or *pari passu* with those Notes as if the security for the Notes were being enforced), having given not

more than 60 nor less than 10 days' notice to the Noteholders of those Notes (and all other Noteholders whose Notes are to be redeemed at the same time), redeem all, but not some only, of those Notes at their Invested Amount (or, if the relevant Noteholders have so agreed by Extraordinary Resolution, at their Stated Amount) together with accrued interest to (but excluding) the date of redemption on any subsequent Payment Date, provided that the relevant Noteholders may by Extraordinary Resolution elect, and shall notify the Trustee and the Trust Manager in writing, that they do not require the Trustee to redeem the relevant Notes.

4.8 Final Redemption

Each Note shall be redeemed in full, and the obligations of the Trustee with respect to the payment of the Invested Amount of that Note shall be finally discharged, on the first to occur of:

- (a) the date upon which the Invested Amount of that Note is reduced to zero;
- (b) if the Stated Amount is less than the Invested Amount, the date on which the Stated Amount of that Note is reduced to zero and the Trust Manager determines there are insufficient assets to reimburse that Note;
- (c) the date upon which the relevant Noteholder renounces all of its rights to any amounts payable under or in respect of that Note; and
- (d) the Payment Date immediately following the date on which the Trustee completes a sale and realisation of all assets of the Trust in accordance with the Trust Deed or the Series Notice.

4.9 Rounding-down of Coupon and Principal Payments

All payments in respect of Notes will be rounded down to the nearest cent.

4.10 Method of Payment

Any amounts payable to a Noteholder will be paid in Australian dollars and may be paid by:

- (a) crossed "not negotiable" cheque in favour of the Noteholder despatched by post to the address of the Noteholder shown in the Register on the Record Date;
- (b) electronic transfer through Austraclear;
- (c) direct transfer to a designated account of the Noteholder held with a bank or other financial institution in Australia; or
- (d) any other manner specified by the Noteholder and agreed to by the Trust Manager and the Trustee.

4.11 Register of Noteholders

The Trustee will maintain a register of Noteholders (the *Register*) at its offices at Level 2, 1 Bligh Street, Sydney NSW 2000. The register will include the names and addresses of the Noteholders, the Invested Amount and Stated Amount of each Note or Class of Notes from time to time, a record of each payment made in respect of the Notes and such other information as the Trustee or the Trust Manager reasonably requires.

The Trustee is entitled to rely on the Register as being a correct, complete and conclusive record of the matters set out in it.

The Trustee may, without prior notice to the Noteholders, close the Register:

- in relation to all Notes, each period from the close of business (Sydney time) on the Business Day preceding each Payment Date to close of business on that Payment Date; or
- (b) when required for the Auditor to conduct any audit in relation to the Trust.

The Trustee may, with prior notice to the Noteholders, close the Register for other periods not exceeding 30 days (or, subject to the Corporations Act, such other period of time as agreed between the Trustee and the Trust Manager, with the approval of an Extraordinary Resolution of Noteholders) in aggregate in any calendar year.

On each Payment Date, principal and Coupon will be paid to those Noteholders whose names appear in the Register on the Record Date.

The Register is open for inspection by a Noteholder during normal business hours but only in respect of information relating to that Noteholder. The Register is not available to be copied by any person (other than the Trust Manager) except in compliance with such terms and conditions (if any) as the Trust Manager and Trustee in their absolute discretion nominate from time to time, or as required by law.

Notes may be held in the Austraclear System. If Notes are held in the Austraclear System, the rights of each Noteholder and any other person holding an interest in those Notes are subject to the rules and regulations of the Austraclear System. The Trustee is not responsible for anything the Austraclear System does or omits to do.

Persons acquiring beneficial ownership interests in the Notes will hold interest in the relevant Notes through Austraclear as described in section 4.16.

4.12 Note Acknowledgment

When a person has been entered in the Register as the Noteholder, as soon as practicable (and in any event no later than five Business Days) thereafter, the Trustee shall issue a Note Acknowledgment to that person in respect of those Notes. If the person has been entered into the Register under a Note Transfer and Acceptance Form and the transferor continues to retain a holding of Notes, the Trustee shall within the same period issue to the transferor a Note Acknowledgment in respect of that retained holding of Notes.

No certificates will be issued in respect of Notes. A Note Acknowledgment is not a certificate of title to Notes and the Register is the only conclusive evidence of the ownership of Notes and the entitlements under them. A Note Acknowledgment cannot be pledged or deposited as security nor can a Note be transferred by delivery of only a Note Acknowledgment.

If any Note Acknowledgment is worn out or defaced, then on production to the Trustee it may cancel the same and may issue a new Note Acknowledgment. If any Note Acknowledgment is lost or destroyed then on proof to the satisfaction of the Trustee, and on such indemnity as the Trustee may consider adequate having been given, a new Note Acknowledgment will be given to the person entitled to the lost or destroyed Note

Acknowledgment. An entry as to the issue of the new Note Acknowledgment and of the indemnity (if any) will be made in the Register. A fee prescribed by the Trustee (not exceeding A\$10) is required to be paid to the Trustee by the person requesting the new Note Acknowledgment.

4.13 Note Transfers

Interests in Notes held in the Austraclear System may only be transferred in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Austraclear System. Notes not held in the Austraclear System must be transferred by sending a transfer form as described below.

A Noteholder must not transfer any Notes held by it unless:

- (a) where the Notes are traded on the ASX, they are traded in parcels with a minimum value of A\$500,000; and
- (b) if the transfer is in or from Australia:
 - the amount payable for the Notes on transfer (whether on the ASX or elsewhere) by the transferee is a minimum amount of A\$500,000 (disregarding amounts, if any, lent by the Trustee or other person offering the Notes or an associate (as defined in the Corporations Act) of either of them); or
 - (ii) the offer or invitation to the transferee by the Noteholder otherwise does not require disclosure under Parts 6D.2 or 7.9 of the Corporations Act and the Corporations Regulations made under the Corporations Act; and
- (c) if the transfer is in or from Australia, the transfer is to a person who is not a retail client within the meaning of section 761 of the Corporations Act.

Notwithstanding the above, Notes to be transferred must have an aggregate transfer consideration of at least A\$100,000.

No Note has been or will be registered under the Securities Act or the securities laws of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States and the Notes may not be offered, sold, delivered, transferred, encumbered or otherwise disposed of (directly or indirectly) within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, US persons except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Terms used in this paragraph and not otherwise defined have the meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act.

None of the Trustee, the Security Trustee, the Trust Manager, the Servicer or the Approved Seller is liable to any Noteholder in relation to a breach by that Noteholder of these restrictions.

Every transfer of Notes (other than interests in Notes transferred through the Austraclear System) shall be effected by a Note Transfer and Acceptance Form in the prescribed form (a *Note Transfer*). Copies of this form are available from the offices of the Trustee.

Every Note Transfer must be duly completed and executed by the transferor and transferee, stamped (if applicable) and lodged, together with the Note Acknowledgment to which it relates, with the Trustee for registration.

The Trustee is entitled to accept and assume the authenticity and genuineness of any Note Transfer to be duly executed. The Trustee is not bound to enquire into the authenticity or genuineness of any Note Transfer, nor will it incur any liability for registering any Note Transfer which is subsequently discovered to be a forgery or otherwise defective, unless the Trustee had actual notice of such forgery or defect at the time of registration of the Note Transfer.

The Trustee may refuse to register any Note Transfer which would result in:

- (a) a contravention of or failure to observe:
 - the terms of the Trust Deed, the Series Notice or the Security Trust Deed;or
 - (ii) a law of any State or Territory of the Commonwealth of Australia, or of the Commonwealth of Australia; or
- (b) an obligation to procure registration of the Notes, the Trust Deed, the Security Trust Deed or the Series Notice with, or the approval of any of them by, any government agencies.

The Trustee shall not be bound to give any reason for refusing to register any Note Transfer and its decision shall be final, conclusive and binding. If the Trustee refuses to register a Note Transfer it shall as soon as practicable (and in no event later than seven days after the date the Note Transfer was lodged with it) send to the transferor and the transferee notice of such refusal.

A Note Transfer shall not take effect until registered by the Trustee and until the transferee is entered in the Register as the holder of the Notes which are the subject of the Note Transfer the transferor shall remain the holder of those Notes.

When a Note Transfer is received by the Trustee during any period when the Register is closed for any purpose, the Trustee shall not register the Note Transfer until the next Business Day on which the Register is reopened.

4.14 Marked Transfer and Acceptance

A Noteholder may request the Trustee to provide a marked Note Transfer in relation to their Notes. Once a Note Transfer has been marked by the Trustee, for a period of 90 days thereafter the Trustee will not register any transfer of Notes relating thereto other than on that marked Note Transfer.

4.15 Rights of Noteholders

No Noteholder shall be entitled to:

- (a) an interest in any particular part of the Trust or asset comprised in the Trust;
- (b) require the transfer to it of any asset comprised in the Trust;
- (c) interfere with or question the exercise or non-exercise of the rights or powers of the Servicer, the Trust Manager or the Trustee in their dealings with the Trust or any asset:
- (d) exercise any rights, powers or privileges in respect of any asset in the Trust;

- (e) attend meetings or take part in or consent to any action concerning any property or corporation which the Trustee as trustee of the Trust holds an interest;
- (f) seek to wind up or terminate the Trust;
- (g) seek to remove the relevant Servicer, Trust Manager or Trustee;
- (h) interfere in any way with the Trust;
- lodge or enter a caveat or similar instrument in relation to the Register or claim any estate or interest in any land over which a Mortgage is held or to which any other asset relates, in respect of the Trust;
- (j) except where the Noteholder is Westpac, or the Trustee has otherwise consented, and subject to any provision of a Transaction Document which allows any such communication, negotiate or communicate in any way with any Borrower under any Housing Loan assigned to the Trustee or with any person providing a Support Facility to the Trustee or any other person who is party to any Transaction Document;
- (k) take any proceedings of any nature whatsoever in any court or otherwise or to obtain any remedy of any nature (including against the Trustee, the Trust Manager or the Servicer or any former Trustee, Trust Manager or Servicer or in respect of the Trust or any asset of the Trust). This does not limit the right of the Noteholders to compel the Trustee, the Trust Manager and any Servicer to comply with their respective duties and obligations under the Transaction Documents; or
- (I) any recourse whatsoever to the Trustee or the Trust Manager in their personal capacity, except to the extent of any fraud, negligence, wilful misconduct (in the case of the Trustee only) or breach of duty on the part of the Trustee or the Trust Manager respectively.

4.16 Lodgement of the Notes in Austraclear

It is intended that the Notes will be lodged in Austraclear after the issue of the relevant Class on the Closing Date. It is also intended that those Notes will be lodged with Austraclear on the basis that they will not be uplifted.

Once the relevant Notes are lodged into the Austraclear system, Austraclear will become the registered holder of those Notes in the register to be maintained by the Trustee. While those Notes remain in the Austraclear system:

- (a) all payments and notices required of the Trustee and the Trust Manager in relation to those Notes will be made to Austraclear or as it directs;
- (b) all dealings and payments in relation to those Notes within the Austraclear system will be governed by the rules and regulations of the Austraclear System; and
- (c) interests in the Notes may be held through Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. as operator of the Euroclear System (*Euroclear*) or Clearstream Banking S.A. (*Clearstream*, *Luxembourg*). In these circumstances, entitlements in respect of holdings of interests in the Notes in Euroclear would be held in the Austraclear System by HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited as nominee of Euroclear, while

entitlements in respect of holdings of interests in the Notes in Clearstream, Luxembourg would be held in the Austraclear System by a nominee of JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. as custodian for Clearstream, Luxembourg. The rights of a holder of interests in Notes held through Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg are subject to the respective rules and regulations for accountholders of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and their respective nominees and the rules and regulations of the Austraclear System. In addition, any transfer of interests in Notes which are held through Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg will to the extent such transfer will be recorded in the Austraclear System and is in respect of offers or invitations received in Australia be subject to the Corporations Act and the other requirements and restrictions set out in the Notes.

4.17 Notices to Noteholders

A notice, request or other communication by the Trustee, the Trust Manager or the Servicer to Noteholders shall be deemed to be duly given or made by:

- (a) an advertisement placed on a Business Day in The Australian Financial Review (or other nationally distributed newspaper);
- (b) mail, postage prepaid, to the address of the Noteholders as shown on the Register, or email to the email address of the Noteholder as shown in the Register. Any notice so mailed or emailed shall be conclusively presumed to have been duly given whether or not the Noteholder actually receives the notice; or
- (c) if the relevant Notes are listed on the ASX, by publication on the ASX.

4.18 Joint Noteholders; no trusts

If a single parcel of Notes is held by more than one person, only the person whose name stands first in the Register in relation to that parcel of Notes shall be entitled to be issued the relevant Note Acknowledgment, if applicable to be given a marked Note Transfer, to be given any notices, and to be paid any moneys due in respect of such Notes.

The Trustee is not obliged to enter on the Register notice of any trust, Security Interest or other interest in respect of any Notes and the Trustee may recognise a Noteholder as the absolute owner of Notes and the Trustee shall not be bound or affected by any trust affecting the ownership of any Notes unless ordered by a court or required by statute.

5. Westpac and its housing loan business

5.1 Background to Westpac

Westpac is one of the four major banking organisations in Australia and one of the largest banking organisations in New Zealand. Westpac provides a broad range of banking and financial services in these markets, including consumer¹, business and institutional banking and wealth management services.

Westpac has branches, affiliates and controlled entities² (the *Westpac Group*) throughout Australia, New Zealand, Asia and the Pacific region, and maintains branches and offices in some of the key financial centres around the world.

Westpac was founded in 1817 and was the first bank established in Australia. In 1850, Westpac was incorporated as the Bank of New South Wales by an Act of the New South Wales Parliament. In 1982, Westpac changed its name to Westpac Banking Corporation following its merger with the Commercial Bank of Australia. On 23 August 2002, Westpac was registered as a public company limited by shares under the *Corporations Act 2001* of Australia.

As at 31 March 2021, Westpac and its controlled entities had total assets of approximately A\$889 billion. Westpac's ordinary shares and certain other securities are quoted on ASX and, as at 20 August 2021, Westpac's ordinary share market capitalisation was approximately A\$95 billion.

5.2 Origination of Housing Loans

The Housing Loans to be included in the assets of the Trust will be originated or purchased by Westpac in the ordinary course of its business. Westpac sources its housing loans through its branch network, mobile finance managers, accredited brokers, national telemarketing centres, referrers and through the internet. Advertising and direct mail campaigns also generate inquiries that develop into originations.

5.3 Approval and Underwriting Process

The following is a description of the underwriting processes employed by Westpac in evaluating whether to fund a particular housing loan application.

All housing loan applications, including the applications relating to the Housing Loans, must satisfy Westpac's residential housing loan credit policy and procedures described in this section 5.3. Each housing loan application is considered on its merits.

Westpac, like many other lenders in the Australian residential housing loan market, does not divide its borrowers into groups of differing credit quality for the purpose of setting base standard interest rates for its residential housing loans. In August 2019, Westpac

¹ A consumer is defined as a person who uses Westpac's products and services. It does not include business entities.

² Refer to Note 31 of Westpac's 2020 audited consolidated financial statements for a list of Westpac's material controlled entities as at 30 September 2020.

commenced an interest rate discounting policy whereby new loans with a lower LVR are provided with larger package rate discounts than loans with higher LVRs.

Westpac assesses the credit of each loan applicant initially through its centrally controlled credit decision making system. This system is based on proprietary information, such as Westpac's own historical credit underwriting standards and credit underwriting rules and includes an application scorecard. Assessment also takes into account details of the applicant's personal financial circumstances obtained at point of application from the applicant and selectively verified as well as the information obtained from credit checks done through independent credit reporting agencies.

Housing loan applications are either approved, declined or referred to a credit specialist. Housing loan applications are generally referred to a credit specialist for assessment if they are complex or for reassessment if they have been declined because of failure to meet the initial underwriting standards (including responsible lending standards).

Applications referred to a credit specialist are assessed according to Westpac's credit policy and the specialist's credit approval limits. Staff with credit approval limits include:

- (a) credit officers;
- (b) accredited bank managers and home finance managers; or
- (c) officers at state-based credit centres.

The value of the proposed security property and confirmation of the ability of the applicant to make payments on the housing loan are central to the approval process. The accuracy and correctness of the information provided by the applicant is verified, particularly documentation provided by the applicant, through the financial situation verification process, which includes: income documentation verification, serviceability assessment, credit bureau enquiry and check, commitment assessment and checking for undisclosed liabilities. Income of self-employed applicants is verified generally by checking financial statements, taxation returns and ATO notices of assessment. Westpac typically requires that all loan applicants satisfy a minimum disposable income level after deducting all commitments, including allowances for living expenses and the proposed housing loan and an allowance for interest rate increases.

An appraisal of the proposed security property is obtained according to Westpac's valuation policy. This policy has been tailored to target areas of higher risk associated with a geographical area, security type or a combination of factors relating to the nature of the application. Depending on the circumstances and subject to conditions being met, Westpac's valuation policy permits the market value of a property to be assessed by way of:

- (a) a Full Valuation (an external valuation provided by an independent valuer who is typically registered, a member of the Australian Property Institute and included on Westpac approved panel of valuers. A Full Valuation generally includes an internal inspection of the property);
- (b) a contract of sale (where the purpose of the loan is for the purchase of the property);

(c) or a customer's estimate.

Where a contract of sale or customer's estimate has been used, Westpac will validate the valuation by way of an Electronic Assessment (which is a statistical validation of the property's estimated value) or Desktop Assessment Report (a panel valuer's assessment using a range of property specific data and imagery, but will not include an inspection of the property). If an Electronic Assessment or Desktop Assessment Report is not available, or the value provided is outside of Approved Tolerance Levels (currently being that the value provided by the Electronic Assessment or Desktop Assessment Report cannot be more than 10% or \$50,000 less than the value obtained from the customer estimate or contract of sale), a Full Valuation report may be obtained.

The property value used and recorded by Westpac (including in determining LVR) is:

- (a) the value outlined in the Full Valuation report, or if the loan purpose is a property purchase, the lesser of the value outlined in the Full Valuation report and the contract price, when a Full Valuation is used;
- (b) the customer estimate or contract price, if the Electronic Assessment or Desktop Assessment Report is within Approved Tolerance Levels, when a customer estimate or contract of sale is used; or
- (c) the Electronic Assessment or Desktop Assessment when a customer estimate is not within Approved Tolerance Levels and application structure permits.

When a housing loan is secured by more than one property the combined value of the properties is considered.

All housing loans originated by brokers must comply with Westpac's credit policy (and relevant Consumer Credit Legislation).

After a loan application has been approved, each loan applicant is provided with a general terms and conditions booklet. Once details have been verified relating to the housing loan and the accepted loan offer has been received, the housing loan proceeds through to settlement and disbursement. The real estate security documents are stamped and registered after all documentation is completed to Westpac's satisfaction and disbursement and settlement has occurred. It is a condition of settlement that the mortgagor establishes and maintains full replacement property insurance on all real estate security properties (that had any improvements on the land when taken as supporting security).

Westpac's credit policies are subject to constant review. Credit policies may change from time to time due to business conditions and legal or regulatory changes. Unless otherwise specified, references in this Information Memorandum to Westpac's credit policies are generally references to Westpac's current credit policies, noting that the Housing Loans in the pool will have been originated and serviced under different credit policies over time.

5.4 Product Types

Westpac currently offers a wide variety of housing loan product types with various features and options that are further described in section 6.2. Market competition and economics may require that Westpac offer new product types or add features to a Housing Loan that

are not described in this section. The Housing Loans will consist of the following product types.

(a) Owner-Occupied Home Loans

Rocket Repay Home Loan

This is a variable interest rate owner-occupied home loan. It provides a full range of product features including interest offset, free redraw access and full transactional banking capability. The maximum term for this product is 30 years.

Flexi First Option Home Loan

This is a low, variable interest rate owner-occupied home loan. Principal and interest loans are currently offered an introductory interest rate discount for 2 years from loan settlement. This product was developed to compete with products offered by bank and non-bank originators. Additional loan options described in this section may be combined with this product at the Borrower's request for a fee. The maximum term for this product is 30 years.

Premium Option Home Loan

This is a variable interest rate owner-occupied home loan. This product is more flexible than the flexi first option home loan because it offers various loan options at no or reduced additional cost. This product typically has a higher interest rate than the flexi first option home loan rate. The maximum term for this product is 30 years.

Fixed Options Home Loan

This is a fixed rate owner-occupied home loan which bears a fixed rate of interest for up to 5 years. The maximum term for this product is 30 years. The loan converts to the Rocket Repay Home Loan variable rate home loan upon the maturity of the fixed rate period unless the Borrower requests an additional fixed rate period.

(b) Investment Property Loans

Rocket Repay Investment Property Loan

This is an investment property home loan. It provides a full range of product features including interest offset, free redraw access and full transactional banking capability. The maximum term for this product is 30 years.

Flexi First Option Investment Property Loan

This is a basic variable interest rate loan offered to Borrowers who will use the loan proceeds for investment purposes such as to purchase or refinance residential property. It typically has a lower interest rate. Principal and interest loans are currently offered an introductory interest rate discount for 2 years from loan settlement. Additional loan options described in this section may be combined with this product at the request of the Borrower for a fee. The maximum term for this product is 30 years.

Fixed Rate Investment Property Loan

This is a fixed rate loan offered to Borrowers who will use the loan proceeds for investment purposes such as to purchase or refinance residential property. The maximum term for this product is 30 years. These loans may have fixed interest rate terms for up to 12 years,

however since October 2016, the maximum fixed interest rate terms have been 5 years. After this term expires, the loan will convert to the Variable Rate Investment Property Loan rate unless the Borrower requests another fixed rate term. Some product features such as repayment holiday and top-up are not available during the fixed rate period. There are also restrictions on the amount of additional repayments that can be made and the amount of surplus funds available for redraw during the fixed rate period.

5.5 Additional features of fixed rate loans

In addition to the features set out for fixed rate loans above, Westpac's fixed rate loans generally allow for additional repayments of up to A\$30,000 before break costs apply. Further Advances are not available for fixed rate loans. However, the other features described in section 6.2 are available.

5.6 Servicing of Housing Loans

Servicing procedures include responding to customer enquiries, managing and servicing the features and facilities available under the Housing Loans. The management of delinquent Housing Loans is performed by a specialist collections team.

The Servicer

Prior to 2 December 2011, Westpac subcontracted certain of its servicing functions, including certain of its servicing obligations under the Servicing Agreement, to HP Enterprise Services BPA Pty Limited (*HP*) (formerly EDS (Business Process Administration) Pty Limited). Westpac re-assumed these servicing functions in stages between December 2011 and September 2012. In doing so, Westpac took over all of the operations (including most employees and servicing processes) that previously performed these functions at HP. Some information technology functions relating to servicing continue to be subcontracted to HP.

Westpac uses third party service providers to perform certain other non-material functions and may delegate additional servicing functions to third party service providers again in the future.

Servicing of Housing Loans

The day-to-day servicing of Housing Loans is currently performed at Westpac Lockleys site in Adelaide and in Bangalore. The servicing functions are supported by the activities of Westpac's branches, telemarketing and telebanking centres.

The Servicer is contractually obligated to administer the Housing Loans:

- (a) according to the Servicing Agreement;
- (b) according to Westpac's policies, which are under regular review and may change from time to time as a result of business changes, or legislative and regulatory changes; and
- (c) to the extent not covered by paragraphs (a) and (b), with the same degree of diligence and care expected of an appropriately qualified servicer of similar housing loans.

Under the Servicing Agreement, the Servicer is also responsible for custody of the mortgage title documents on behalf of the Trustee and has custody of the relevant documents (either in machine readable or hard copy format). The Trustee may terminate the Servicer's appointment, including as custodian, if among other things:

- (a) the Servicer becomes insolvent;
- (b) the Servicer is in default under the Servicing Agreement where the default will have an Adverse Effect and does not remedy the default within 30 days;
- (c) the Servicer breaches any of its representations and warranties where the breach will have an Adverse Effect and does not remedy the breach within 90 days;
- (d) the Servicer does not comply with the requirements of the Servicing Agreement to the satisfaction of the auditor, and a further audit also results in an adverse finding by the auditor; or
- (e) the Servicer is in default under a servicing agreement between it and any other person, and by reason of the default that other person removes any documents in the Servicer's custody under the servicing agreement where that person would otherwise not have been entitled to do so.

Collection and Enforcement Procedures

The Servicer will make reasonable efforts to collect all payments called for under the Housing Loans and any applicable credit enhancement. It will also follow collection procedures that are consistent with the Servicing Agreement and consistent with the procedures it follows for Westpac's residential housing loans.

Pursuant to the terms of the Housing Loans, Borrowers must make the minimum payment due under the terms and conditions of the Housing Loans, on or before each instalment due date. The Servicer will credit repayments to an individual Housing Loan on the date of their receipt. Interest will be accrued daily on the balance outstanding after close of business and charged on each instalment due date. Any payments not received by the due date will produce a compounding interest effect.

A Housing Loan is considered delinquent for collection purposes whenever there is a failure to pay an amount due. However, the Servicer will not consider a Housing Loan delinquent if the Borrower is entitled to a repayment holiday as described in section 6.2 or the minimum instalment is reduced in connection with parental leave.

After a default by a Borrower, a mortgagee can exercise its power of sale of the mortgaged property. To exercise this power, a mortgagee must comply with the statutory restrictions of the relevant State or Territory as to notice requirements. The length of time between the decision to exercise its power of sale and final completion of the sale will be dependent on factors outside the control of the Servicer. For example, whether or not the mortgagor contests the sale and the market conditions at the time are both factors outside the control of the Servicer.

The Servicer may, in the ordinary course of its business and in accordance with its then applicable policies and procedures, determine that an amount payable in respect of a Housing Loan is unrecoverable and should be written off against that Housing Loan prior to

enforcement of security. That write-off would usually only be an accounting write-off, in which case it would not change the amount owed by the Borrower. The Trust Manager may determine that the amount of any write-off in respect of any Housing Loan will be treated as a Determined Loss.

The collection and enforcement procedures may change from time to time as a result of business changes, or legislative and regulatory changes.

6. Housing Loans

6.1 Eligible Housing Loans

(a) (General) The Mortgage Pool consists of Housing Loans originated by the Approved Seller in the ordinary course of its business and serviced by the Servicer. All loans have been selected from the Approved Seller's standard product range of housing loans and are one of the product types set out in section 5.4, and may have some or all of the features set out in section 6.2.

The Approved Seller has made the following representations and warranties with respect to each Housing Loan:

- (i) All consents required in relation to the assignment of the Housing Loan and the related Receivable Rights have been obtained. The Housing Loan and Receivable Rights are assignable.
- (ii) It is the sole, legal and beneficial owner of the Housing Loan and the related Receivable Rights. The Housing Loan and the related Receivable Rights, together with the interest of the Approved Seller under the Relevant Documents, are owned by it free and clear of any security interest (other than any security interest arising solely as the result of any action taken by the Trustee).
- (iii) As at the Cut-Off Date, the Housing Loan is an Eligible Receivable. In relation to any related Receivable Security that is required to be registered with any Governmental Agency and which is not registered at the Cut-Off Date, it will be registered.
- (iv) The Housing Loan, Receivable Security and Related Security is valid, binding and enforceable against the relevant Obligor(s) in all material respects except to the extent that it is affected by laws relating to creditors rights generally, or doctrines of equity.
- (v) Once equitably assigned to the Trustee, the Housing Loan and Receivable Rights will not be subject to any right of rescission, set off, counterclaim or similar defence. The Housing Loan and Related Rights are not subject to, or affected by, any interest off-set arrangement or right subject to any set off or other arrangement arising under an Interest Offset Deposit Account in respect of any Interest Offset Amount).
- (vi) At the time the Housing Loan and Receivable Security was entered into it complied in all material respects with applicable laws, including, without limitation, where the Consumer Credit Legislation applies, the Consumer Credit Legislation.
- (vii) In relation to each Receivable Security for the Housing Loan the relevant Obligor(s) is or are the sole legal owner of the relevant Mortgaged Property and registered as the sole proprietor(s) of the relevant Mortgaged Property.

- (viii) There is no fraud, dishonesty, material misrepresentation or negligence on the part of the Approved Seller in connection with the selection and offer to the Trustee of the Housing Loan or related Receivable Securities.
- (ix) The assignment of the Housing Loan and Receivable Rights will not be held by a court to be an undervalue transfer, a fraudulent conveyance, or a voidable preference under any law relating to insolvency.
- (x) The sale, transfer and assignment of the Approved Seller's interest in the Housing Loan and the related Receivable Rights will not constitute a breach of any Relevant Document or the Approved Seller's obligations or a default by the Approved Seller under any security interest.
- (xi) The Approved Seller holds in its possession or control all Relevant Documents that relate to the Housing Loan and the related Receivable Securities necessary to enforce the provisions of and the security created by the relevant Receivable Securities.
- (xii) The Approved Seller is solvent.
- (xiii) As at the Cut-Off Date, the Housing Loan and Receivable Securities were not satisfied, cancelled, discharged or rescinded and the Mortgaged Property relating to the Housing Loan and Receivable Security had not been released from the security of the relevant Receivable Securities.
- (xiv) Except as may be provided in the relevant agreement for the Housing Loan or in the Receivable Security, and subject to applicable laws, the interest rate for each Housing Loan is not subject to any limitation, no consent, additional memoranda or other writing is required from the relevant Obligor to give effect to a change in that rate and any change in that rate will be effective on notice being given to that Obligor in accordance with the terms of the Housing Loan or Receivable Security.
- (xv) Between the Cut-Off Date and the Closing Date, the Approved Seller dealt with the Housing Loan and the Receivable Securities in the ordinary course of its business.

For the purposes of the above representations, an "Eligible Receivable" is a Housing Loan which satisfies the following criteria (the *Eligibility Criteria*):

- (A) it is denominated and payable only in Australian dollars in Australia:
- (B) it is secured by a Receivable Security that constitutes a first ranking mortgage over land, or an interest in a company title scheme with respect to land and situated in Australia which is or will be registered or lodged for registration under the Real Property Legislation, or where a Receivable Security is not, or will not be when registered, a first ranking mortgage, the relevant Sale Notice includes an offer in relation to all prior ranking registered mortgages;

- (C) it is secured by a Receivable Security over a Mortgaged Property which has erected on it a residential dwelling;
- (D) it has an LVR less than or equal to 95%;
- (E) it was approved and originated by Westpac in the ordinary course of its business:
- (F) the Housing Loan Principal is not more than A\$2,000,000;
- (G) its relevant Obligor was required to repay the housing loan within 30 years of the Cut-Off Date;
- (H) it is not in Arrears for more than 30 consecutive days;
- the sale of an equitable interest in it, or the sale of an equitable interest in any related Receivable Security, does not contravene or conflict with any law;
- (J) together with the related Receivable Security, it has been or will be stamped, or has been taken by the relevant stamp duties authority to be stamped, with all applicable duty;
- (K) it is subject to the terms and conditions of Westpac's standard loan offer for the loan products referred to in the definition of "Receivable" in the Series Notice, or any similar loan product, however named, where the Trust Manager has given a Rating Notification for the relevant product features;
- (L) it is not a loan with an interest only payment period of more than 10 years from the Cut-Off Date;
- (M) its Borrower in respect of which is a resident of Australia;
- (N) if the initial purpose of the Housing Loan was solely for constructing a residential dwelling, all progress drawings have been made by the relevant Borrower and construction of the residential dwelling has been completed; and
- (O) it is not a loan with an interest only payment type which has a bullet principal repayment at the end of the interest only period.
- (b) (Breach of Representations)
 - (i) If the Approved Seller, the Trust Manager or the Trustee becomes aware that a representation or warranty from the Approved Seller relating to any Housing Loan or Mortgage is incorrect, it must notify the other parties and the Rating Agencies within five Business Days of it becoming so aware.
 - (ii) If such a notice in relation to a breach is given not later than five Business Days before 120 days after the Closing Date and the breach is not waived or remedied to the satisfaction of the Trustee within five Business Days then, without any action being required by either party, the Approved Seller shall be taken to have offered to repurchase the relevant Housing Loan and Mortgage for an amount equal to its Unpaid Balance.

- (iii) On payment of that amount the Trustee shall cease to have any interest in the relevant Housing Loan and Mortgage, and the Approved Seller shall hold both the legal and beneficial interest in the Housing Loan and Mortgage and be entitled to all interest and fees that accrue in respect of them from (and including) the date of repurchase.
- (iv) If such notice is given after the date in paragraph (ii), the Trustee's rights in relation to a breach of a representation or warranty shall give rise only to a claim for damages, limited to an amount equal to the Unpaid Balance of that Housing Loan at the time the Approved Seller pays the damages.

6.2 Housing Loan Features

- (a) (General) Each Housing Loan originated or purchased by Westpac as Approved Seller may have some or all of the features or options described in this section. In addition, during the term of any Housing Loan, Westpac may from time to time at its own initiative, or at the request of the Borrower, change any of the features and options of the Housing Loans. Depending on the product type and the nature of the feature or option selected, various fees may apply.
- (b) (Redraws and Further Advances) The Housing Loans generally provide for a redraw facility which allows the Borrower to redraw principal repayments made in excess of scheduled principal repayments. This is available for both variable and fixed rate Housing Loans. Restrictions apply to the amount that can be redrawn on fixed rate Housing Loans. Borrowers may request a Redraw or Further Advance at any time via various methods such as online, phone or branch withdrawals, cheque, direct debit or via card access. The Approved Seller may provide a redraw if the Borrower is entitled to a redraw because of prepayments and if the loan is not a delinquent loan. A Redraw will not result in the Housing Loan being removed from the Mortgage Pool.

The loan documentation and/or the Mortgage for a Housing Loan may allow a Borrower to request additional funds from Westpac through increasing their credit limit. Unlike a Redraw, this causes the relevant Housing Loan Principal to exceed the current amortised scheduled balance of the relevant Housing Loan. Such an advance is known as a Further Advance. Westpac may provide a Further Advance if the Approved Seller purchases the relevant Housing Loan from the Trustee within 2 Business Days of the Further Advance.

- (c) (SmartPay) Since December 2018 SmartPay has no longer been available for new loans. Prior to this, a Borrower may elect to have his/her salary paid in full or in part into their loan account. If this amount exceeds the scheduled repayment, surplus funds are created which may be Redrawn. This feature will allow a customer up to 15 free automatic disbursements in each month against these surplus funds to other accounts. These disbursements are treated as Redraws.
- (d) (Repayment Holiday/Repayment Pause) The documentation for a Housing Loan may allow the Borrower a repayment holiday/repayment pause when the Borrower has prepaid principal, creating a difference between the relevant Housing Loan

Principal of the Housing Loan and the scheduled amortised principal balance of the Housing Loan. The Borrower is not required to make any payments, including payments of interest, until the relevant Housing Loan Principal of the Housing Loan plus unpaid interest equals the scheduled amortised principal balance. If the Borrower fails to make payments during a repayment holiday/repayment pause the related Housing Loan will not be considered delinquent if the Borrower has notified Westpac and complied with the provisions of its Housing Loan.

(e) (Early Repayment) Depending on when the loan was originated, a Borrower may incur an early repayment fee under a standard variable rate Housing Loan contract.

A Borrower may also incur break fees if an early repayment or partial prepayment of principal occurs on a fixed rate Housing Loan.

- (f) (**Substitution of Security**) A Borrower may apply to the Servicer to:
 - (i) substitute a different Mortgaged Property in place of the existing security property securing a Housing Loan;
 - (ii) add a further Mortgage as security for a loan; or
 - (iii) release a Mortgaged Property from a Mortgage.
 - (iv) If Westpac's credit criteria are satisfied and another property is substituted for the existing security for the Housing Loan, the Mortgage which secures the existing Housing Loan may be discharged without the Borrower being required to repay the Housing Loan and the new Mortgage will secure the existing Housing Loan.

If all of the following conditions occur, the Housing Loan will remain in the Housing Loan pool, secured by the new Mortgage:

- (A) the substitute property subject to the Mortgage satisfies the Eligibility Criteria at the time the new Mortgage is entered into;
- (B) the Mortgage over the substitute property is granted by the Borrower simultaneously with the discharge of the original Mortgage; and
- the substitute property is acceptable to the Mortgage Insurer (if applicable).

If any of the following conditions occur, the Unpaid Balance will be repaid by Westpac and the Housing Loan will cease to be an asset of the Trust:

- (a) the new property does not satisfy the Eligibility Criteria at the time the new Mortgage is entered into;
- (b) where applicable, the new property is not acceptable to the Mortgage Insurer (if applicable); or
- (c) settlement does not occur simultaneously with discharge.
- (g) (Interest Rate Switching and Switching Between Housing Loan Product Types) Fixed rate loans will automatically convert to variable rate loans at the end of the fixed rate period as specified in the related loan documentation, unless the Borrower elects another fixed rate period.

- Borrowers may switch between certain housing loan products. This may involve conversion from a variable rate to a fixed rate or vice versa.
- (h) (Switching to an Investment or owner-occupied Housing Loan) A Borrower may request to switch the use of the Mortgaged Property from owner-occupied property to investment or vice versa. Westpac requires notification from the Borrower of a switch from an owner-occupied to investment Housing Loan and reserves the right to change the interest rate or the fees charged with respect to the Housing Loan. Westpac may from time to time review the product classification of a loan as owner-occupied or investment, for example, for changes in borrower circumstance such as residential address. As a result of these reviews, a loan may switch from an owner-occupied product to investment, or vice versa. The loan will remain an asset of the Trust after the switch.
- (i) (Combination Housing Loan) A Borrower may elect to split a loan into separate funding portions which may, among other things, be subject to different interest rates. Each part of the Housing Loan is effectively a separate loan even though all of the separate loans are secured by the same Mortgage.
 - If a Housing Loan is split, only the original segment of the "split" loan will remain in the Trust. The new segment will be removed from the Trust.
- (j) (Payment Type) The loan payment types on the Cut-Off Date for the Trust will be either interest only and fees or principal, interest and fees. A Borrower may elect to switch from paying principal, interest and fees to interest only and fees provided certain criteria are satisfied. The interest only periods can only be for terms of one to ten years. As a policy exception, a credit specialist may approve a further extension past ten years for up to an additional 12 months. The interest only and fees payment type is available on most variable rate and fixed rate loans. Additionally, fixed rate investment property loans with an interest only and fees payment type permit Borrowers to pay their interest up to 12 months in advance. At the end of any interest only and fees period, the payment type under the related housing loan will convert to a principal, interest and fees payment type. The scheduled payments will be adjusted at this time to ensure that the housing loan will be repaid within its original term.
- (k) (Parental Leave) Some of the variable rate loans allow a Borrower who is on maternity or paternity leave and who meets the eligibility criteria to request a reduction in repayment of the related home loan by up to 50% for a maximum of 12 months. If the reduced payments are not sufficient to cover the interest due on the loan, the unpaid interest rate will be capitalised on the loan balance, which may cause the loan to negatively amortise. The scheduled payments are adjusted at the end of the parental leave period to ensure that the loan will be repaid within its original contracted maturity.
- (I) (Reduced Repayment) Some of the variable rate loans allow a Borrower who meets certain eligibility criteria to reduce their home loan repayment by up to 50% for as long as six months. This feature is designed to cater for certain lifestyle events such as travel, marriage, long service leave and home improvements which

- might warrant activating this feature. If the reduced payments are not sufficient to cover the interest due on the housing loan, the unpaid interest rate will be capitalised on the housing loan balance, which may cause the housing loan to negatively amortise. The scheduled payments are adjusted at the end of the reduced repayment period to ensure that the housing loan will be repaid within its original contracted maturity.
- (m) (Insurance premiums) A Borrower may request that any insurance premium payable by the Borrower in relation to lender's mortgage insurance be capitalised. If Westpac agrees to that request, the premium will be capitalised and will thus constitute part of the principal to be amortised over the life of the Housing Loan.
- (n) (Capitalised Fees) A Borrower may request that Westpac provide product features under its Housing Loan contract without requiring the Borrower to pay the usual up-front fee relating to that product. In those cases, Westpac may capitalise the fee, which will thus constitute part of the principal to be amortised over the life of the Housing Loan.
- (o) (Housing Loan Packages) Borrowers may elect to take out a housing loan package. The housing loan package has qualifying criteria based on the Borrower's total aggregate loan amount and provides various benefits. These benefits include interest rate discounts and fee waivers or reductions on certain housing loan product types.
- (p) (Interest offset features) A Borrower may elect to enter into an arrangement with Westpac under which the amount of interest which would (but for such arrangement) have been payable in respect of a Housing Loan (including a rocket repay loan type) is reduced by reference to any credit balance on any eligible savings or cheque account in the name of that Borrower (whether alone or jointly with another person) which is kept with Westpac.
- (q) (Interest Only Periods) Currently, the loans may provide that, unless approved by a credit specialist, owner occupier borrowers pay interest only for up to 5 years or that investor borrowers pay interest only for up to 10 years. After the interest only period, the Borrower must make payments of principal and interest. However, the Eligibility Criteria does not permit loans with an interest only payment period of more than 10 years from the Cut-Off Date.
- (r) (COVID-19 Deferral Packages) In March 2020, Westpac announced a number of support measures for customers impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. One of these measures assisted customers who met eligibility criteria could apply to defer principal and interest repayments. Deferred interest is capitalised and any deferred principal repayments must be repaid during the remaining loan term. This support was viewed as temporary in nature and could be extended (subject to credit assessment) to a maximum period of 10 months. These support measures have concluded and customers have either recommenced paying their loans or have transitioned into Westpac's standard hardship process. Subsequently on 10 July 2021, Westpac announced new support measures (similar to disaster relief associated with bushfire or flood) for all customers impacted by the continuing

COVID-19 pandemic. Customers who meet eligibility criteria are supported by a 3 month deferral of repayments with no serviceability period in accordance with industry and regulatory guidance. In addition to the COVID-19 disaster relief packages, customers may also be supported by a tailored hardship solution with a serviceability period applied.

(s) (Additional features) The Approved Seller may, in relation to a Housing Loan, from time to time seek to offer additional features which are not referred to above. Before doing so, the Approved Seller must satisfy the Trust Manager that the Trust Manager would be able to give a Rating Notification in relation to the additional features.

6.3 Housing Loan Statistics

For statistics relating to the proposed pool of securitised Housing Loans, refer to section 15.

The Trust Manager will provide to the Security Trustee and the Class A Noteholders a report on the statistics for the Housing Loans at least quarterly no later than 4.00pm (Sydney time) on the Remittance Date following the last Collection Period of the relevant quarter, by publishing such report on the website www.westpac.com.au/about-westpac/investor-centre/fixed-income-investors, or such other website as it may notify Class A Noteholders from time to time.

7. Cashflow methodology

7.1 General

This section 7 describes the methodology for the calculation of the amounts to be paid by the Trustee as directed by the Trust Manager on each Payment Date to, among others, the Noteholders. The Series Notice provides for Collections to be allocated by the Trust Manager and paid monthly, in accordance with a set order of priorities, to satisfy the Trustee's obligations in relation to the Trust. Those priorities are detailed in this section 7.

7.2 Collections and Payment

Collections in respect of interest and principal will be received during each Collection Period. Primarily, Collections are derived from interest and principal receipts from the Housing Loans. Other sources of Collections are proceeds of enforcement of Mortgages, proceeds of claims under Mortgage Insurance Policies (in respect of those Housing Loans which have the benefit of Mortgage Insurance Policies), interest on cash deposits and payments by the Approved Seller or the Servicer in respect of breaches of representations or undertakings.

Each month the Trust Manager will determine the Collections received and reconcile the receipts against expenses (including Coupon payable to Noteholders for the relevant period) that have accrued during that Collection Period. To the extent necessary, the Trust Manager may direct the Trustee to draw on or claim against Support Facilities to make up shortfalls in Collections due but not received. The Trust Manager will make these calculations in the time period between the last day of the Collection Period and the Determination Date.

Once the calculations are finalised on a Determination Date, the Trust Manager advises the Trustee of the amounts to be paid on the relevant Payment Date. The Trustee will arrange for the relevant payments to occur on the Payment Date.

Collections

The Servicer (who is initially the Approved Seller) will receive the Collections in respect of the Housing Loans.

Subject to the following paragraph, the Trust Manager must deposit or use its best endeavours to procure that Westpac (in its capacity as Servicer or otherwise) deposits an amount equal to all Available Income and Gross Principal Collections it receives during a Collection Period into the relevant Collection Account by no later than 4:00pm on the day which is two Business Days prior to the relevant Payment Date (the *Remittance Date*) for that Collection Period, together with all other Available Income and Gross Principal Collections to the extent received on or before that time, provided that Westpac may retain out of Gross Principal Collections any amounts in accordance with section 7.9(c) in relation to the relevant Collection Period.

If Westpac's:

(a) short term rating is less than A-1 (S&P); or

(b) long term rating is less than A (Fitch Ratings) and short term rating is less than F1 (Fitch Ratings),

Westpac (whether in its capacity as Servicer or otherwise) must deposit in the Collection Account all Available Income and Gross Principal Collections for that Collection Period within two Business Days of receipt.

7.3 Calculation of Total Available Funds

On each Determination Date the Trust Manager will, for the immediately preceding Collection Period, calculate the total of the following (being *Total Available Funds*):

- (a) Available Income (refer to section 7.4); plus
- (b) Principal Draws (refer to section 7.5); plus
- (c) Liquidity Draws (refer to section 7.6).

7.4 Available Income

Available Income means, for a Collection Period the aggregate of:

- (a) Finance Charge Collections being, for a Collection Period, the aggregate of:
 - (i) all amounts received by or on behalf of the Trustee during that Collection Period in respect of Government Charges, interest, fees and other amounts in the nature of income payable under or in respect of the Housing Loans and the related Receivable Rights, to the extent not included within any other paragraph of this definition, including:
 - (A) any Liquidation Proceeds received on account of interest received during that Collection Period;
 - (B) any payments by any person to the Trustee on the repurchase of a Housing Loan under the Transaction Documents during that Collection Period which are attributable to interest, fees and other income; and
 - (C) the Prepayment Cost Surplus for that Collection Period (if any).
 - (ii) all amounts in respect of interest, fees and other amounts in the nature of income, received by or on behalf of the Trustee during that Collection Period including:
 - (A) from the Approved Seller, in respect of any breach of a representation, warranty or undertaking contained in the Trust Deed or the Series Notice;
 - (B) from the Approved Seller under any obligation under the Trust Deed or the Series Notice to indemnify or reimburse or pay damages to the Trustee for any amount;
 - (C) from the Servicer in respect of any breach of a representation, warranty or undertaking contained in the Servicing Agreement or the Series Notice; and

(D) from the Servicer under any obligation under the Servicing Agreement or the Series Notice to indemnify or reimburse or pay damages to the Trustee for any amount,

in each case which are determined by the Trust Manager to be in respect of interest, fees and other amounts in the nature of income payable under the Housing Loans and the related Receivable Rights;

- (iii) recoveries received by or on behalf of the Trustee during that Collection Period:
- (iv) any payments in the nature of income by any person to the Trustee on the repurchase of a Housing Loan under the Transaction Documents (including pursuant to a disposal referred to in section 4.5) in relation to a sale of Housing Loans as described in section 2.4, the amount of the relevant sale proceeds for those Housing Loans attributable to interest, fees or other income which are received on or before the Payment Date immediately following the end of that Collection Period (and the Finance Charge Collections for the Collection Period in which that Payment Date falls will exclude any such payments),

less:

- (v) the Government Charges collected by or on behalf of the Trustee for that Collection Period:
- (vi) the aggregate of all fees and charges due to the Servicer or the Approved Seller under the Housing Loans as agreed by them from time to time and collected by the Approved Seller or the Servicer during that Collection Period; and
- (vii) the Prepayment Cost Surplus (if any) due to Westpac under section 7.12(b) for that Collection Period and collected by Westpac (whether in its capacity as Servicer or otherwise) during that Collection Period,

plus, to the extent not included in Finance Charge Collections:

- (b) any amount received or due to be received by or on behalf of the Trustee in relation to that Collection Period on or by the Payment Date immediately following the end of that Collection Period with respect to net receipts under any Hedge Agreement (and for this purpose net receipts under the Basis Swap and the Interest Rate Swap will be determined before any payment in section 7.8);
- (c) any interest income received by or on behalf of the Trustee during that Collection Period in respect of moneys credited to the Collection Account;
- (d) all amounts received by or on behalf of the Trustee during that Collection Period under section 7.13;
- (e) amounts in the nature of interest otherwise paid by Westpac, the Servicer or the Trust Manager to the Trustee in respect of Collections held by it received during that Collection Period;

- (f) all other amounts received by or on behalf of the Trustee during that Collection Period in respect of the assets of the Trust in the nature of income; and
- (g) all amounts received by or on behalf of the Trustee during that Collection Period from any provider of a Support Facility (other than the Redraw Facility) under that Support Facility and which the Trust Manager determines should be accounted for to reduce a Finance Charge Loss,

but excluding interest, fees and other amounts in the nature of income paid in error by the relevant Obligor in respect of a Housing Loan after that Housing Loan has been repaid in full and discharged.

7.5 Principal Draws

If the Trust Manager determines on any Determination Date that there is a Payment Shortfall for the relevant Collection Period the Trust Manager must direct the Trustee to pay out of Gross Principal Collections, as an Initial Principal Distribution under section 7.10(a), an amount (the *Principal Draw*) equal to the lesser of:

- (a) the Payment Shortfall; and
- (b) the amount of Gross Principal Collections available for distribution on the Payment Date following that Determination Date.

Principal Draws may be reimbursed out of any Excess Available Income available for this purpose on subsequent Payment Dates.

7.6 Liquidity Draws

- (a) If the Trust Manager determines on any Determination Date that there is a Liquidity Shortfall for the relevant Collection Period the Trust Manager must on that date direct the Trustee to make a Liquidity Draw on or before the Payment Date following that Determination Date equal to the amount which the Trustee is permitted to draw under clause 3.1 of the Liquidity Facility.
- (b) The Trustee must, if so directed by the Trust Manager but subject to the terms of the Liquidity Facility, make that Liquidity Draw and have the proceeds of the Liquidity Draw deposited into the Collection Account on or before 11.00 am (Sydney time) on the Payment Date. The Trust Manager must deal with the amount so deposited in accordance with this section 7.

For a detailed description of the Liquidity Facility, see section 8.1.

7.7 Remaining Liquidity Shortfall

If the Trust Manager determines that a Remaining Liquidity Shortfall exists for a Collection Period, then the Trust Manager on behalf of the Trustee must reduce the Class A Coupon to be paid on the immediately following Payment Date, in each case in relation to that Collection Period, as follows:

(a) the amount of the Class A Coupon available to be paid to the Class A Noteholders; and

(b) the amount of any draw fee under clause 4.2 of the Redraw Facility available to be paid,

in each case for that Payment Date, on that Payment Date, pari passu and rateably among themselves.

Nothing in this section 7.7 limits or reduces the Trustee's obligation to any Noteholder to pay the full amount of any Coupon to that Noteholder on any Payment Date, including for the purposes of section 10.3(a).

7.8 Distribution of Total Available Funds

- (a) (Total Payments)
 - (i) Subject to sub-paragraphs (ii) and (iii) and section 10.5, on each Payment Date, and based on the calculations and instructions provided to it by the Trust Manager, the Trustee must pay out of Total Available Funds, in relation to the Collection Period ending immediately before that Payment Date, the following amounts in the following order of priority:
 - (A) first, an amount up to any Accrued Interest Adjustment required to be paid to the Approved Seller (the Trustee acknowledges and agrees that it has no entitlement to the moneys comprising the Accrued Interest Adjustment);
 - (B) second, subject to sub-paragraph (F), Trust Expenses which have been incurred prior to that Payment Date and which have not previously been paid or reimbursed under an application of this section 7.8 (in the order of priority set out in the definition of *Trust Expenses*), provided that the total amount of Increased Costs payable under this sub-paragraph (B) must not exceed the Increased Cost Amount for that Payment Date;
 - (C) third, pari passu and rateably as between themselves:
 - (1) the net amount (if any) payable by the Trustee to the Swap Provider under each Hedge Agreement (except any Settlement Amount where the Swap Provider is the Defaulting Party); and
 - (2) any interest or fees payable by the Trustee under the Liquidity Facility,
 - (D) fourth, any repayment of a Liquidity Draw made on or prior to the previous Payment Date;
 - (E) fifth, pari passu and rateably as between themselves:
 - (1) the payment to the Class A Noteholders of all accrued but unpaid Class A Coupon at that date; and
 - (2) any interest or fees payable by the Trustee under the Redraw Facility Agreement;

- (F) sixth, any fees or expenses which constitute Trust Expenses payable to Westpac, under sub-paragraph (B) but which the Trustee and Westpac have expressly agreed in writing not to treat as Trust Expenses for the purposes of sub-paragraph (B).
- (ii) The Trustee shall only make a payment under any of sub-paragraphs (a)(i)(A) to (a)(i)(F) inclusive to the extent that any Total Available Funds remain from which to make the payment after amounts with priority to that payment have been distributed.
- (iii) Provided no Event of Default is subsisting, the Trust Manager may, on any day during a Collection Period, direct the Trustee to apply some of the Total Available Funds received during that Collection Period towards Trust Expenses (including any fees that may be payable to Austraclear) provided that the Trust Manager is satisfied that, notwithstanding such payment, there will be sufficient Total Available Funds to meet the Total Payments on the immediately following Payment Date.
- (b) (Accrued Interest Adjustment) The Accrued Interest Adjustment represents interest and fees which have accrued on the relevant Housing Loans but are unpaid as at (and excluding) the Closing Date. During the period between the Cut-Off Date and the Closing Date the Housing Loans continue to be owned by the Approved Seller, however any Collections after the Cut-Off Date will not be received until after the assignment of the relevant Housing Loans to the Trust. The purchase price for the relevant Housing Loans excludes any such accrual. Therefore, an amount equal to that accrued interest and fees and Collections in respect of interest and fees for the period between the Cut-Off Date and the Closing Date will be paid to the Approved Seller on each Payment Date following the Closing Date as a priority payment from Total Available Funds until paid in full.
- (c) (**Trust Expenses**) On each Determination Date the Trust Manager will determine the following payments to be made under section 7.8(a)(i)(B) in the following order of priority on the next Payment Date:
 - (i) Taxes payable in relation to the Trust in respect of the Collection Period immediately before that Payment Date;
 - (ii) the monthly fee payable to the Trustee in relation to the Trust (refer to section 9.1(g));
 - (iii) any fee payable to the Security Trustee under the Security Trust Deed (refer to section 10.6);
 - (iv) the monthly fee payable to the Trust Manager in relation to the Trust (refer to section 9.2(e));
 - (v) the monthly fee payable to the Servicer (refer to section 9.4(h));
 - (vi) pari passu, any costs, charges or expenses (other than fees) properly incurred by, and any liabilities owing under any indemnity granted to, the Security Trustee or the Servicer in relation to the Trust under the Transaction Documents, for that Collection Period; and

(vii) pari passu any other Expenses (as defined in the Trust Deed) properly incurred in relation to the Trust, including (without limitation) Expenses relating to reporting of information relating to the Trust,

(together, the Trust Expenses).

(d) (Excess Available Income)

Subject to paragraph (e) and section 10.5, on each Determination Date, the Trust Manager must apply any Excess Available Income for the Collection Period relating to that Determination Date in the following order of priority (and must direct the Trustee to pay, and the Trustee must pay, the relevant amounts accordingly on the following Payment Date in that order of priority):

- first, as Gross Principal Collections for the relevant Collection Period in an amount up to all Principal Draws which have not been repaid as at the Payment Date immediately after the expiry of that Collection Period;
- (ii) second, as Gross Principal Collections for the relevant Collection Period in an amount up to the Principal Charge Offs for that Collection Period;
- (iii) third, pari passu and rateably between themselves (based on the Principal Outstanding and the Stated Amount of the Class A Notes):
 - (A) as Gross Principal Collections for the relevant Collection Period in reinstating the Principal Outstanding by an amount up to the Carryover Redraw Charge Offs (if any);
 - (B) as Gross Principal Collections for the relevant Payment Date in reinstating the Stated Amount of the Class A Notes by an amount up to the Carryover Class A Charge Offs (if any);
- (iv) fourth, the payment to the Class B Noteholders of all accrued but unpaid Class B Coupon as at that date;
- fifth, as Gross Principal Collections for the relevant Collection Period in reinstating the Stated Amount of the Class B Notes by an amount up to the Carryover Class B Charge Offs (if any);
- (vi) sixth, pari passu and rateably between themselves:
 - (A) Increased Costs (if any) due but unpaid on that Payment Date to the extent not paid under section 7.8(a)(i)(B); and
 - (B) any Secured Moneys due but unpaid to the Dealers in that capacity under the Dealer Agreement on that Payment Date;
- (vii) seventh, pari passu and rateably in or towards payment of any Settlement Amount payable to the relevant Swap Provider under any Hedge Agreement where that Swap Provider is the Defaulting Party; and
- (viii) eighth, to pay any fee agreed between Westpac, the Trustee and the Trust Manager as payable to Westpac as the Approved Seller, provided that the amount of such fee must not exceed the fair market value of the fee for the origination services provided by Westpac in relation to Housing Loans.

- (e) The Trustee shall only make an application or payment under any of subparagraphs (d)(i) to (d)(viii) inclusive to the extent that any Excess Available Income remains from which to make an application or payment after amounts with priority to that application or payment have been distributed.
- (f) The Trustee must pay any Excess Collections Distribution for a Collection Period to the Residual Income Beneficiary on that Payment Date.
- (g) Once distributed to a Residual Income Beneficiary, an Excess Collections Distribution will not be available to the Trustee to meet its obligations in respect of the Trust in subsequent periods.

7.9 Gross Principal Collections and Principal Collections

- (a) On each Determination Date the Trust Manager must determine Gross Principal Collections for the Collection Period ending immediately prior to that Determination Date, being:
 - all amounts received by or on behalf of the Trustee from or on behalf of Borrowers under the Housing Loans during the Collection Period in respect of principal, in accordance with the terms of the Housing Loans, including principal prepayments;
 - (ii) all other amounts received by or on behalf of the Trustee under or in respect of principal under the Housing Loans and the related Receivable Rights during that Collection Period including:
 - (A) any Liquidation Proceeds received on account of principal;
 - (B) any amounts in the nature of principal received by or on behalf of the Trustee during that Collection Period pursuant to the sale or transfer of any asset of the Trust (including any amount received by the Trustee on the issue of Notes, which was not used to purchase a Housing Loan or Housing Loan Security and which the Trust Manager determines is surplus to the requirements of the Trust);
 - (C) any Prepayment Costs applied towards Prepayment Benefits under section 7.12(b); and
 - (D) any Prepayment Benefit Shortfall paid by Westpac to the Trust under section 7.12(c);
 - (iii) all amounts received by or on behalf of the Trustee during that Collection Period from any provider of a Support Facility under that Support Facility and which the Trust Manager determines should be accounted for to reduce a Principal Loss;
 - (iv) all amounts received by or on behalf of the Trustee during that Collection Period:

- (A) from the Approved Seller, in respect of any breach of a representation, warranty or undertaking contained in the Transaction Documents;
- (B) from the Approved Seller under any obligation under the Transaction Documents to indemnify or reimburse or pay damages to the Trustee for any amount;
- (C) from the Servicer, in respect of any breach of a representation, warranty or undertaking contained in the Servicing Agreement; and
- (D) from the Servicer under any obligation under the Servicing
 Agreement to indemnify or reimburse or pay damages to the
 Trustee for any amount,

in each case, which are determined by the Trust Manager to be in respect of principal payable under the Housing Loans and the related Receivable Rights;

- (v) any amount of Excess Available Income to be added to or applied as Gross Principal Collections under section 7.8(d);
- (vi) any Prepayment Calculation Adjustment for that Collection Period;
- (vii) in relation to a sale of Housing Loans described in section 2.4, the amount of the relevant sale proceeds for those Housing Loans attributable to principal which are received on or before the Payment Date immediately following the end of that Collection Period (and the Principal Collections for the Collection Period in which that Payment Date falls will exclude any such sale proceeds); and
- (viii) any payments in the nature of principal by any person to the Trustee on the purchase or repurchase of a Housing Loan pursuant to a disposal referred to in section 4.5 which are received on or before the Payment Date immediately following the end of the Collection Period (and the Gross Principal Collections for the Collection Period in which the Payment Date falls will exclude any such payments),

but excluding any principal paid in error by the relevant Borrower in respect of a Housing Loan after that Housing Loan has been repaid in full and discharged.

- On each Determination Date the Trust Manager must calculate *Principal Collections* for the preceding Collection Period, being:
 - (i) the Gross Principal Collections for that Collection Period (refer to section 7.9(a)); less
 - (ii) any amounts allocated under section 7.10(a) in relation to that Collection Period.
- (c) The Trustee and the Trust Manager irrevocably authorise Westpac to deduct from Gross Principal Collections received by it (whether in its capacity as Servicer or otherwise) the total amount of all Redraws provided by Westpac in relation to Housing Loans, to the extent that Westpac has not previously been reimbursed in

relation to any Redraws and only to the extent that the Trust Manager is reasonably satisfied that amounts would be available from Gross Principal Collections to make all payments (if any) under section 7.10(a)(i)(A) on the following Payment Date.

7.10 Distribution of Principal Collections

- (a) (Initial Principal Distributions)
 - (i) Subject to paragraph (ii) and section 10.5, on each Payment Date and based on the calculations and instructions provided to it by the Trust Manager, the Trustee must distribute out of Gross Principal Collections, in relation to the Collection Period ending immediately before that Payment Date, the following amounts in the following order of priority:
 - (A) first, to allocate to Total Available Funds any Principal Draw calculated in accordance with section 7.5;
 - (B) second, to reimburse any Redraws provided by Westpac in relation to Housing Loans to the extent that it has not previously been reimbursed in relation to those Redraws in accordance with section 2.8; and
 - (C) third, to repay all Principal Outstanding under the Redraw Facility on that Payment Date.
 - (ii) The Trustee shall only make a payment under any of sub-paragraphs

 (a)(i)(A) to (a)(i)(C) inclusive to the extent that any Gross Principal
 Collections remain from which to make the payment after amounts with priority to that payment have been distributed.
 - (iii) Only after Initial Principal Distributions have been satisfied will Principal Collections be available to repay the Class A Noteholders and the Class B Noteholders in accordance with the principal allocation methodology outlined in section 7.10(b).
- (b) (Principal Payments)
 - (i) If on any Determination Date, to the extent that the Serial Paydown Conditions are taken not to be met in full, the Trustee must (subject to paragraph (iv) and section 10.5), based on the calculations and instructions given to it by the Trust Manager, on the next Payment Date pay and apply the balance of the Principal Collections for the Collection Period ending immediately before that Payment Date (after making the payments and allocations required by section 7.10(a)) in the following order of priority:
 - (A) first, to the Class A Noteholders by way of Principal Payment, in or towards repayment, pari passu and rateably, of the aggregate Invested Amount of all Class A Notes;
 - (B) next, to the Class B Noteholders by way of Principal Payment, in or towards repayment, pari passu and rateably, of the aggregate Invested Amount of all Class B Notes; and

- (C) next, and only if no Notes are then outstanding, as a payment to the Residual Income Beneficiary on that Payment Date.
- (ii) If on any Determination Date, to the extent that the Serial Paydown Conditions are and will, following payment and application in accordance with this section, be taken to continue to be met in full, the Trustee must (subject to paragraph (iv) and section 10.5), based on the instructions given to it by the Trust Manager, on the next Payment Date, pay and apply the balance of the Principal Collections for the Collection Period ending immediately before that Payment Date (after making the payments and allocations required by section 7.10(a)) as follows:
 - (A) as to an amount equal to the Class A Proportion of the balance of the Principal Collections, by way of Principal Payment, in or towards repayment, pari passu and rateably, of the aggregate Invested Amount of all Class A Notes;
 - (B) as to an amount equal to the Class B Proportion of the balance of the Principal Collections, by way of Principal Payment, in or towards repayment, pari passu and rateably, of the aggregate Invested Amount of all Class B Notes; and
 - (C) if and only if, following the making of the payments required by sub-paragraphs (A) and (B) above, no Notes are then outstanding, any balance will be paid to the Residual Income Beneficiary on that Payment Date.
- (iii) If on the Determination Date the Trust Manager determines that:
 - (A) all Serial Paydown Conditions are satisfied except for paragraph
 (a) of the definition of "Serial Paydown Conditions" in section 14
 (Condition A); and
 - (B) following the payment of Principal Collections on the following Payment Date, Condition A would be satisfied if tested at any time on that following Payment Date following any application of Principal Collections on that Payment Date,

then the Trust Manager will determine the Principal Collections to be applied under section 7.10(b)(i) on the Payment Date following that Determination Date until the point at which Condition A would be satisfied if tested as at that Payment Date following that application. The balance of the Principal Collections will then be applied under section 7.10(b)(ii) on that Payment Date as contemplated by section 7.10(b)(iv).

- (iv) The Trustee shall only make a payment:
 - (A) under any of sub-paragraphs (b)(i)(A) to (b)(i)(C) inclusive to the extent that any Principal Collections remain from which to make the payment after amounts with priority to that payment have been distributed; and

(B) under sub-paragraph (b)(i) for so long as the Serial Paydown Conditions are, as determined on the preceding Determination Date (in accordance with sub-paragraph (b)(iii) above), taken not to be satisfied on the relevant Payment Date,

and if, as determined on the preceding Determination Date (in accordance with sub-paragraph (b)(iii) above), on any Payment Date following the initial application of amounts under sub-paragraph (b)(i) the Serial Paydown Conditions would be taken to be met, sub-paragraph (b)(ii) will apply on that Payment Date in respect of the balance of Principal Collections to be applied on that Payment Date.

7.11 Principal Charge Offs

(a) Allocating Liquidation Losses

On each Determination Date, the Trust Manager must determine, in relation to the aggregate of all Liquidation Losses arising during that Collection Period:

- the amount of those Liquidation Losses which is attributable to interest, fees and expenses in relation to the relevant Housing Loans (*Finance Charge Loss*); and
- (ii) the amount of those Liquidation Losses which is attributable to principal in relation to the relevant Housing Loans,

on the basis that all Liquidation Proceeds actually received by or on behalf of the Trustee in relation to a Housing Loan are applied first against interest, fees and other Enforcement Expenses (other than property restoration expenses) relating to that Housing Loan, and then against the Housing Loan Principal and property restoration expenses relating to that Housing Loan.

(b) (General)

- (i) If on any Determination Date, the Trust Manager determines there has been a Liquidation Loss in relation to a Housing Loan, the Trust Manager will direct the Servicer, if the Servicer has not already done so promptly, and in any event within 20 Business Days of that notice, to make a claim under the relevant Mortgage Insurance Policy, if any, for the aggregate amount of that Liquidation Loss.
- (ii) Upon receipt of any amount under or in respect of a Mortgage Insurance Policy (if applicable) in payment of a claim referred to in paragraph (i), the Trust Manager must determine which part of the amount is attributable to interest, fees and other amounts in the nature of income, and which part of that amount is attributable to principal.
- (iii) If either:
 - (A) the sum of:
 - (1) the total amount recovered and recoverable in respect of that Housing Loan under any applicable Mortgage

- Insurance Policies, determined to be attributable to principal under section 7.9(a)(ii); and
- (2) the total amount recovered and recoverable by the Trustee from the Approved Seller or the Servicer (as the case may be) in respect of that Housing Loan (by way of damages or otherwise) under or in respect of the Trust Deed, the Series Notice or the Servicing Agreement (as the case may be), determined by the Trust Manager to be attributable to principal,
- (B) is less than the amount equal to the Principal Loss for that Housing Loan; or
- (C) there is a Determined Loss for the relevant Collection Period then a *Mortgage Shortfall* equal to that shortfall or that Determined Loss (as applicable) will arise for that Collection Period.
- (iv) For the purposes of calculating a Mortgage Shortfall under sub-paragraph(b)(iii)(A), an amount shall be regarded as not recoverable upon the earlier of:
 - (A) a determination being made, in the case of paragraph (b)(iii)(A)(1), by the Trust Manager, and in the case of paragraph (b)(iii)(A)(2), by the Trustee, in each case upon the advice of such suitably qualified expert advisers as the Trust Manager or the Trustee (as the case may be) thinks fit, that there is no such amount, or that such amount is not likely to be recovered (including because any relevant Mortgage Insurance Policy has been terminated, the Mortgage Insurer is entitled to reduce the amount of the claim or the Mortgage Insurer defaults in payment of a claim); and
 - (B) the date which is two years after the Determination Date upon which the relevant Principal Loss was determined under section 7.11(a)(ii).

The aggregate amount of all Mortgage Shortfalls for that Collection Period (a *Principal Charge Off*) will be applied to reduce the Stated Amounts of relevant Notes as set out in paragraph (c).

- (c) (Charge Offs) If the Principal Charge Off for any Collection Period exceeds an amount equal to the Excess Available Income calculated on the Determination Date for that Collection Period minus the amount required to be applied on the following Payment Date as referred to in section 7.8(d)(i), the Trust Manager must, on and with effect from the Payment Date immediately following the end of the Collection Period:
 - reduce pari passu the Stated Amount of the Class B Notes by the amount of the balance of that excess until the Stated Amount of the Class B Notes is zero; and

- (ii) if the Stated Amount of all Class B Notes has been reduced to zero and any amount of that excess has not been applied under paragraph (i), reduce pari passu and rateably as between the Class A Notes and the Redraw Facility by an amount equal to the balance of that excess:
 - (A) pari passu as between the Class A Notes, the Stated Amount of each Class A Note until the Stated Amount of each Class A Note is zero; and
 - (B) the Principal Outstanding under the Redraw Facility, applied against Redraw Advances (as defined in the Redraw Facility) in inverse chronological order of their Drawdown Dates (as defined in the Redraw Facility), until the Principal Outstanding is zero.
- (d) (Reimbursement of Carryover Charge Offs) On any Determination Date, if there is Excess Available Income remaining after the reimbursement of any current period Principal Charge Offs, then the remaining Excess Available Income must be applied as set out in section 7.8(d).

7.12 Prepayment Costs and Prepayment Benefits

- (a) On each Determination Date the Trust Manager will determine total Prepayment Benefits and total Prepayment Costs for the relevant Collection Period and will apply an amount equal to those total Prepayment Costs in payment of those total Prepayment Benefits. If:
 - (i) there is a Prepayment Cost Surplus, it will be applied under paragraph (b); and
 - (ii) there is a Prepayment Benefit Shortfall, it will be funded under paragraph (c).
- (b) On each Payment Date, and based on the calculations and instructions provided to it by the Trust Manager, the Trustee shall pay to the relevant Swap Provider an amount equal to the Prepayment Cost Surplus (if any) for the Collection Period on that Payment Date to the extent received by or on behalf of the Trustee.
- (c) If, on any Determination Date, the Trust Manager calculates that there is a Prepayment Benefit Shortfall, the Trust Manager shall by close of business on that Determination Date notify the relevant Swap Provider of the amount of that Prepayment Benefit Shortfall. That Swap Provider must, by 4.00 pm (Sydney time) on the Remittance Date deposit in the Collection Account for the credit of the Trustee an amount equal to that Prepayment Benefit Shortfall. That amount will be treated as a Gross Principal Collection.

7.13 Interest Offset Amount

- (a) Subject to paragraph (b), on each Determination Date, Westpac is required to pay to the Trustee an amount equal to all Interest Offset Amounts for the Collection Period immediately preceding that Determination Date.
- (b) If Westpac's:

- (i) short term rating is less than A-1 from S&P; or
- (ii) short term rating is less than F1 (Fitch Ratings) and its long term rating is less than A (Fitch Ratings),

Westpac must pay to the Trustee all Interest Offset Amounts within two Business Days of the date on which the relevant offset interest would otherwise have been paid by the relevant Obligor.

7.14 Calculations and Directions

The calculations referred to in this section 7 are required to be made by the Trust Manager and notified to the Trustee on each Determination Date in respect of the Collection Period ending before that Determination Date. The Trust Manager will instruct the Trustee as to payments to be made by the Trustee on the relevant Payment Date. In this regard, the Trustee is entitled to rely conclusively on, and is not required to investigate the accuracy of, the Trust Manager's calculations

8. Support Facilities

8.1 Liquidity Facility

- (a) (The Liquidity Facility) Under the Liquidity Facility, the Liquidity Facility Provider agrees to make advances to the Trustee for the purpose of funding certain income shortfalls in the Trust, up to the Liquidity Limit being the lesser of:
 - (i) subject to section 8.1(j)(iv), A\$12,000,000;
 - (ii) the aggregate outstanding principal amount of all Performing Loans at that date; and
 - (iii) any other amount as agreed in writing between the Liquidity Facility
 Provider, the Trustee and the Trust Manager and in respect of which the
 Trust Manager has given a Rating Notification,

as reduced or cancelled under the Liquidity Facility.

A **Performing Loan** at any date is a Housing Loan which is not in Arrears or has been in Arrears for less than 90 consecutive days.

- (b) (Liquidity Draws) If the Trust Manager determines on any Determination Date that there will be a Liquidity Shortfall on the following Payment Date, then the Trust Manager must direct the Trustee to make a drawing under the Liquidity Facility to apply towards the Liquidity Shortfall. The drawing will (subject to certain assumptions as to payment) be the lesser of the Liquidity Shortfall and the difference between the Liquidity Limit and the aggregate of all outstanding amounts under the Liquidity Facility (the Available Liquidity Amount). A drawing may only be made by a duly completed drawdown notice signed by the Trustee.
- (c) (Conditions Precedent to a Liquidity Draw) A drawing may only be made under the Liquidity Facility (a Liquidity Draw) if (among other things) no event of default subsists under the Liquidity Facility (as described in sub-paragraph (h)) at the date of the relevant drawdown notice and the relevant drawdown date or will result from the provision of the Liquidity Draw.
- (d) (Deposit into a Collateral Account) If at any time:
 - the Fitch Highly Rated Thresholds apply and the Liquidity Facility
 Provider's short term rating is less than F1+ from Fitch Ratings and its long term rating is less than AA- from Fitch Ratings;
 - the Fitch Highly Rated Thresholds do not apply and the Liquidity Facility
 Provider's short term rating is less than F1 from Fitch Ratings and its long
 term rating is less than A from Fitch Ratings;
 - (iii) the Liquidity Facility Provider does not have the S&P Required Ratings; or
 - (iv) S&P or Fitch Ratings ceases to provide the relevant credit rating for the Liquidity Facility Provider (other than because S&P or Fitch Ratings, as the case may be, cease to provide such ratings generally),

the Liquidity Facility Provider must within:

- (A) 60 days in the case of sub-paragraph (i);
- (B) 14 days in the case of sub-paragraph (ii) or (iv) (in the case of Fitch Ratings);
- (C) 90 days in the case of sub-paragraph (iii) or (iv) (in the case of S&P),

or such longer period in respect of which the Trust Manager gives a Rating Notification, deposit into an account held in the name of the Trustee with a Bank having a short term rating of at least F1 or a long term rating of at least A from Fitch Ratings and the S&P Required Ratings, or in respect of which the Trust Manager otherwise gives a Rating Notification (the *Collateral Account*), an amount equal to the Available Liquidity Amount at that time.

If at any time the Bank holding the Collateral Account has a short term rating of lower than F1 and a long term rating of lower than A from Fitch Ratings or does not have the S&P Required Ratings, then the Collateral Account, and all amounts standing to the credit of the Collateral Account, must (subject to certain limited restrictions) be transferred within:

- (i) 60 days by reason of a rating from Fitch Ratings; or
- (ii) 90 days by reason of a rating from S&P,

after such direction (or such longer period in respect of which the Trust Manager gives a Rating Notification) to a new account in the name of the Trustee with a Bank which has the S&P Required Ratings and a short term rating from Fitch Ratings of not lower than F1 or a long term rating of not lower than A from Fitch Ratings.

Withdrawals from a Collateral Account are restricted to, among other things, making a Liquidity Draw, paying any Tax payable in respect of maintenance of, or payments into or withdrawals from the Collateral Account, and investing in short term investments.

All interest accrued on the moneys in the Collateral Account shall belong to the Liquidity Facility Provider and will be paid to the Liquidity Facility Provider on each relevant Payment Date in accordance with section 7.

If, at any time when the Collateral Account is not maintained with the Liquidity Facility Provider, the credit rating of the Liquidity Facility Provider is upgraded so that it has the S&P Required Ratings and a short term rating from Fitch Ratings of not lower than F1 or a long term rating of not lower than A from Fitch Ratings, the Trust Manager may direct the Trustee to, and the Trustee must within two Business Days of being so directed, arrange for the amounts standing to the credit of the Collateral Account to be transferred to an account with the Liquidity Facility Provider (which account will then become the Collateral Account).

(e) (Interest on Liquidity Draws) Interest is payable to the Liquidity Facility Provider on the principal amount drawn under the Liquidity Facility and accrues daily. This interest is payable at the Bank Bill Rate plus a margin, calculated on days elapsed and a year of 365 days. Interest is payable in arrear on each Payment Date and

- on repayment of a drawing. Unpaid interest will capitalise, and interest accrues on any unpaid interest.
- (f) (Commitment Fee) A commitment fee accrues daily from the date of the Liquidity Facility at the agreed rate on the daily amount of the Available Liquidity Amount, and is payable in arrear on each Payment Date and on termination of the Liquidity Facility, in accordance with section 7. The commitment fee is calculated on the actual number of days elapsed and a year of 365 days.
- (g) (Repayment of Liquidity Drawings) If an amount has been drawn down under the Liquidity Facility, the principal amount is repayable on the following Payment Date, to the extent that amounts are available under the Series Notice (see section 7.8(a)(i)(D)). It is not an event of default under the Liquidity Facility if the Trustee does not have funds available to repay the full amount outstanding on the following Payment Date (unless the Available Liquidity Amount is zero and repayment does not occur within 10 Business Days of the due date).
- (h) (Events of Default) Each of the following is an event of default under the Liquidity Facility (whether or not it is in the control of the Trustee):
 - at any time the Available Liquidity Amount is zero, the Trustee fails to pay an amount payable by it under the Liquidity Facility within 10 Business Days of its due date;
 - (ii) an amount is available for payment under section 7.8(a)(i)(D) and the Trustee does not pay that amount;
 - (iii) an Insolvency Event occurs in relation to the Trust;
 - (iv) an Insolvency Event occurs in relation to the Trustee, and a successor trustee of the Trust is not appointed with 60 days of that Insolvency Event;
 - (v) the Termination Date occurs in relation to the Trust; or
 - (vi) an Event of Default occurs and any action is taken to enforce the security interest under the Security Trust Deed over the assets of the Trust (including appointing a receiver or receiver and manager or selling any of those assets).
- (i) (Consequences of Default) In addition to rights provided by law or any
 Transaction Document, at any time after an event of default has occurred under the
 Liquidity Facility (whether or not it is continuing), the Liquidity Facility Provider may
 do all or any of the following by notice to the Trustee and the Trust Manager:
 - (i) declare all moneys actually or contingently owing at that time under the Liquidity Facility immediately due and payable, and the Trustee must immediately pay the total amount of all Liquidity Draws previously made, together with accrued interest and fees; and
 - (ii) cancel the Liquidity Limit with effect from any date specified in that notice.
- (j) (**Termination**) The Liquidity Facility will terminate on the earliest of the following to occur:

- (i) when the Notes have been redeemed in full;
- (ii) following an event of default under the Liquidity Facility, the date on which the Liquidity Facility Provider declares the Liquidity Facility terminated;
- (iii) the date on which the Trustee enters into a replacement liquidity facility as previously notified to the Rating Agencies;
- (iv) the date on which the Trustee, on giving not less than five Business Days irrevocable notice to the Liquidity Facility Provider, has cancelled all or part of the Liquidity Limit. Cancellation is conditional on the Trust Manager giving a Rating Notification in relation to such cancellation; and
- (v) the Maturity Date.

8.2 Redraw Facility

- (a) (General) On or prior to the Closing Date, Westpac will enter into a Redraw Facility in its capacity as Redraw Facility Provider with the Trustee and the Trust Manager. Pursuant to the terms of the Redraw Facility, the Redraw Facility Provider shall be obligated, subject to certain limitations, to fund the amount of any Redraws not funded with Gross Principal Collections. To the extent that Gross Principal Collections are insufficient to fund Redraws, and amounts are available under the Redraw Facility, the Trust Manager must direct the Trustee to draw on the Redraw Facility. Under the Redraw Facility, the Redraw Facility Provider agrees to make advances to the Trustee up to the Redraw Limit from time to time or any other amount as agreed between the Redraw Facility Provider, the Trustee and the Trust Manager. On the Closing Date, the Redraw Limit is expected to be A\$12,000,000. The Redraw Limit may not be increased unless the Trust Manager has given a Rating Notification in relation to the increase.
- (b) (**Revocation**) The Redraw Facility Provider may revoke the Redraw Facility in whole or in part at any time during the term of the Redraw Facility immediately on giving notice to the Trustee, the Trust Manager and each Rating Agency.
- (c) (**Drawings**) In the event that the aggregate amount of Redraws for a Collection Period is greater than Gross Principal Collections allocated or to be allocated to Westpac under section 7.10(a)(i)(B) for that Collection Period (that shortfall being a **Redraw Shortfall**), the Trust Manager must direct the Trustee to draw down a Redraw Advance under the Redraw Facility for an amount equal to the lesser of the Redraw Shortfall and the Available Redraw Amount (but taking account of all payments, appropriations and applications to be made under the terms of the Series Notice on or before the relevant drawdown date).

The Trustee must, if so directed by the Trust Manager but subject to the terms of the Redraw Facility, make that drawing and pay that amount to Westpac on or before the relevant Payment Date.

The sum of all Redraw Advances outstanding on any particular date less the Carryover Redraw Charge Offs at that time shall be the principal outstanding under the Redraw Facility.

- A drawing may only be made under the Redraw Facility on account of a Redraw Shortfall.
- (d) (Conditions Precedent to Drawing) The obligations of the Redraw Facility Provider to make available each Redraw Advance are subject to the conditions precedent that:
 - (i) (no default) no event of default subsists under the Redraw Facility at the date of the relevant drawdown notice and the relevant drawdown date or will result from the provision of the Redraw Advance; and
 - (ii) (representations true) the representations and warranties by the Trustee in the Redraw Facility are true as at the date of the relevant drawdown notice and the relevant drawdown date as though they had been made at that date in respect of the facts and circumstances then subsisting.
- (e) (Draw fee) A draw fee accrues from day to day on the daily amount of each Redraw Advance. That fee is payable at the Bank Bill Rate plus a margin, calculated on days elapsed and a year of 365 days. The draw fee is payable on each Payment Date and at the end of the term of the Redraw Facility. Any amount of unpaid draw fee will be capitalised and interest will accrue on any unpaid draw fee.
- (f) (Availability Fee) An availability fee accrues daily from the date of the Redraw Facility at the agreed rate on the Available Redraw Amount, and is payable in arrear on each Payment Date and termination of the Redraw Facility.
 - The availability fee is calculated on the actual number of days elapsed and a year of 365 days.
- (g) (Repayment of Redraw Advances) If an amount has been drawn down under the Redraw Facility, the Principal Outstanding is repayable on the following Payment Date and on the date of termination of the Redraw Facility, to the extent that there are funds available (see section 7.10(a)(ii)). It is not an event of default if the Trustee does not have funds available to repay the full amount of the Principal Outstanding on the following Payment Date.
- (h) (Events of Default) Each of the following is an event of default under the Redraw Facility (whether or not it is in the control of the Trustee):
 - (i) any amount is available for payment under or in respect of the Redraw Facility as described in section 7 and is not paid within 10 Business Days of its due date;
 - (ii) an Insolvency Event occurs in relation to the Trust;
 - (iii) an Insolvency Event occurs in relation to the Trustee, and a successor trustee of the Trust is not appointed within 60 days of that Insolvency Event;
 - (iv) the Termination Date occurs in relation to the Trust; or
 - (v) an Event of Default occurs and any action is taken to enforce the security interest under the Security Trust Deed over the assets of the Trust

(including appointing a receiver or receiver and manager or selling any of those assets).

- (i) (Consequences of Default) At any time after an event of default under the Redraw Facility (whether or not it is continuing) the Redraw Facility Provider may do all or any of the following:
 - (i) by notice to the Trustee and the Trust Manager declare all moneys actually or contingently owing under the Redraw Facility immediately due and payable, and the Trustee will pay the Principal Outstanding together with accrued interest and fees and all such other moneys in accordance with the Transaction Documents; or
 - (ii) by notice to the Trustee and the Trust Manager cancel the Redraw Limit with effect from any date specified in that notice.

The Redraw Limit may be reduced in whole or in part by the Redraw Facility Provider immediately upon giving notice to the Trustee and the Trust Manager. A reduction of the Redraw Limit will not result in a termination of the Redraw Facility.

8.3 Hedge Agreements

(a) (**General**) The Trustee will enter into two swaps, a Basis Swap and an Interest Rate Swap, with the Swap Provider.

The Basis Swap will be used to hedge the basis risk between the floating rate obligations of the Trust (including Coupon payable on the Notes) and the variable rate set, as permitted by the relevant Housing Loan agreements, at the discretion of the Approved Seller. The Trustee will pay an amount calculated by reference to the aggregate principal balance of all variable rate Housing Loans at the daily weighted average variable interest rate applicable to the variable rate Housing Loans and will receive an amount calculated by reference to the same notional principal amount at the Bank Bill Rate plus an agreed spread. The spread has been set having regard to the ongoing obligations of the Trust.

The Interest Rate Swap will hedge the basis risk between the floating rate obligations of the Trust (including Coupon payable on the Notes) and the fixed rates agreed between Westpac and the Borrower on the Housing Loans which for the time being bear a fixed rate of interest. The minimum period for which the interest rate on a Housing Loan may be fixed is one year and the maximum is 5 years. The Trustee will pay the applicable daily weighted average fixed rate for each Collection Period on a notional amount equal to the balance of the fixed rate Housing Loans, and will receive the Bank Bill Rate plus the spread specified in the confirmation for the Interest Rate Swap. The spread has been set having regard to the ongoing obligations of the Trust.

If the Swap Provider is required to deduct or withhold from any payment under a Hedge Agreement an amount for or on account of any Tax, it is not required to gross up such payments.

- (b) (**Termination**) The following events are events entitling termination of the Hedge Agreements.
 - (i) Failure by the Swap Provider or the Trustee to make, when due, any payment or delivery required by the agreement and such failure is not remedied within 10 Business Days of notice being given;
 - (ii) An Insolvency Event has occurred in respect of the Swap Provider.
 - (iii) An event which constitutes illegality will be a termination event under the Hedge Agreements; and
 - (iv) Failure by the Swap Provider to comply with its obligations under certain collateral arrangements after its credit rating is downgraded below certain levels
- (c) (Threshold Rate) If at any time the Basis Swap is terminated, the Servicer is required, not more than seven Business Days following the date on which the Basis Swap is terminated, to ensure that the process is commenced to change the interest rate payable on all discretionary variable rate Housing Loans, subject to the terms of the loan agreements for the relevant Housing Loans, such that the weighted average rate of interest payable on all relevant discretionary variable rate Housing Loans is not less than the Threshold Rate and immediately to notify the Trustee when that process has been completed.

8.4 The Mortgage Insurance Policies

General

Housing Loans with a higher LVR at the time of origination may be required by Westpac's lending policies to be covered by individual mortgage insurance policies issued by the Mortgage Insurer. If mortgage insurance is required, it will cover an amount up to the principal balance of the Housing Loan assessed at origination (although in some cases it may cover a lesser amount for the relevant Housing Loan, for example, where a further advance was provided that did not require mortgage insurance under Westpac's relevant lending policies or depending on the terms of the relevant mortgage insurance policy), plus it may cover (subject to the relevant policy) accrued interest and reasonable enforcement costs.

Housing Loans with an LVR less than or equal to 80% at the time of origination would generally not be required to be covered by individual mortgage insurance policies.

Loans insured by ALMI

Arch Lenders Mortgage Indemnity Limited (formerly named Westpac Lenders Mortgage Insurance Limited) ABN 60 074 042 934 (*ALMI*) is a wholly owned subsidiary of Arch Financial Holdings Australia Pty Ltd (*AFHA*) ABN 18 605 164 627. ALMI was previously a wholly owned subsidiary of Westpac and was acquired by AFHA on 31 August 2021.

On 26 June 2002, APRA issued ALMI with an authorisation to carry on insurance business in Australia under section 12(1) of the Insurance Act 1973 (Cth).

Prior to the acquisition by AFHA, ALMI's authorisation was subject to the following conditions imposed by APRA:

- (a) That ALMI must not issue or renew new insurance policies other than policies that provide lenders mortgage insurance and do not provide any other kind of insurance; and
- (b) That ALMI must only indemnify policyholders against default on loans that are assessed and maintained by Westpac, each of which loan:
 - has been assessed and approved by Westpac as meeting Westpac's lending criteria prior to the making of the loan;
 - (ii) is loaded and maintained on Westpac's lending software; and
 - (iii) is subject to Westpac's review processes during the term of the loan.

On 16 September 2021, at the request of AFHA, APRA varied the license conditions imposed on ALMI to remove condition (b) above.

The ALMI lenders mortgage insurance policies contain indemnity limits based on loan type and the year of origination. These limits could impact the amount able to be claimed under ALMI's lenders mortgage insurance policies.

ALMI's lenders mortgage insurance business is reinsured by a panel of reinsurers which from 1 October 2020 includes Arch Re, Trans Re, Everest Re and Sompo International (Endurance Speciality Insurance Ltd Bermuda). From 1 October 2017 to 30 September 2020 the panel of reinsurers included Arch Re, Tokio Millenium Re, Sompo International (Endurance Specialty Insurance Ltd Bermuda), Everest Re, Trans Re, AWAC and Capita 2232 Services (AWAC Lloyds Syndicate). From 1 October 2014 to 30 September 2017 the panel of reinsurers included Arch Re, Tokio Millenium Re, Everest Re, Endurance Re, Trans Re and AWAC. Prior to 1 October 2014, the panel of reinsurers included Genworth Financial Mortgage Insurance Pty Limited (ABN 60 106 974 305) and QBE Lenders' Mortgage Insurance Limited (ABN 70 000 511 071).

As of 31 August 2021, ALMI had total assets of A\$1,308 million and shareholder's equity of A\$353 million.

ALMI currently has an A insurer financial strength and counterparty credit rating from S&P (negative outlook) and an A2 rating (stable outlook) from Moody's. The place of business of ALMI is Level 11, 175 Pitt Street, Sydney NSW 2000.

8.5 Servicer Undertakings with respect to Mortgage Insurance Policy

Under the Servicing Agreement, the Servicer undertakes to:

- (a) act in accordance with the terms of any Mortgage Insurance Policy (where applicable);
- (b) not do anything that would prejudicially affect the rights of the Trustee under a Mortgage Insurance Policy (where applicable); and
- (c) promptly make claims and notify the Trust Manager when claims are made.

9. The Trust

9.1 The Trust

- (a) (Creation of Trust) The Series 2021-1 WST Trust is established by a notice of creation of trust entered into under the Trust Deed. The Trust is incorporated under the laws of New South Wales. The specific terms of the Trust are governed by the Series 2021-1 WST Trust Series Notice. The assets of the Trust are not available to meet the liabilities of any other trust formed under the Trust Deed. The assets of any other trust formed under the Trust Deed are not available to meet the liabilities of the Trust.
- (b) (**The Role of the Trustee**) The Trustee is appointed as trustee of the Trust on the terms set out in the Trust Deed and the Series Notice.
- (c) (Powers) Subject to the Trust Deed, the Trustee has all the rights, powers and discretions over and in respect of the assets of the Trust which it could exercise if it were the absolute and beneficial owner of those assets. These powers include the ability to invest in Authorised Investments and eligible Housing Loans and Mortgages, to issue Notes and to enter into Support Facilities.
 - The Trust Deed expressly permits the Trustee to appoint the Servicer to retain custody of the mortgage documents for the Trust in accordance with the Servicing Agreement, and for the Trustee to lodge documents with the Servicer.
 - Full details of Trustee powers are outlined in clause 21 of the Trust Deed.
- (d) (Duties) The Trustee is required to act honestly and in good faith and to exercise such diligence and prudence as a prudent person of business would exercise in performing its express functions and in exercising its discretions under the Trust Deed. It must keep each WST trust separate from the others and do everything necessary to ensure it can comply with its obligations under the Transaction Documents.

In particular the Trustee has the duty to maintain a register of Noteholders and of Authorised Investments. The Trustee and the Trust Manager, having regard to their separate functions, have to keep accounting records which correctly record and explain all amounts paid and received by the Trustee.

The Trustee is required to act continuously as trustee of the Trust until the Trust is terminated as provided by the Trust Deed or the Trustee has retired or been removed from office in the manner detailed below.

Each Noteholder acknowledges that:

(i) the Trustee has no duty, and is under no obligation, to investigate whether a Trust Manager's Default, Servicer Transfer Event or Title Perfection Event has occurred in relation to the Trust other than where it has actual notice:

- (ii) the Trustee is required to provide the notices referred to in the Trust Deed in respect of a determination of Adverse Effect only if it is actually aware of the facts giving rise to the Adverse Effect; and
- (iii) in making any such determination, the Trustee will seek and rely on advice given to it by its advisers in a manner contemplated by the Trust Deed.
- (e) (**Trustee's reliance on others**) The Trustee is entitled to rely conclusively on, and is not required to investigate the accuracy of:
 - (i) the contents of a Sale Notice given to it by the Approved Seller;
 - (ii) the contents of any report given to it by the Trust Manager;
 - (iii) any calculations made by the Approved Seller, a Servicer or the Trust Manager including the calculation of payments due to, or to be charged against, the Noteholders;
 - (iv) the amount of, or allocation of, Collections; or
 - (v) the contents of any certificate provided to the Trustee under the Trust Deed or any certificate given by the Trust Manager or the Servicer,
 - (vi) unless the Trustee is actually aware to the contrary. The Trustee is not liable to any person in any manner whatsoever in respect of these matters.
 - (vii) The Trust Deed also contains other provisions which regulate the Trustee's liability to Noteholders, other creditors and any Beneficiary. The Trustee is not liable to any person for any losses, costs, liabilities or expenses arising out of the exercise or non-exercise of its discretion or for any other act or omission on its part (or by the Trust Manager of its discretions or for any other act or omission on its part) or for any instructions or directions given to it by the Trust Manager, the Servicer or any Approved Seller. The Trustee is also not liable for any Trust Manager's Default, Servicer Transfer Event or Title Perfection Event. The Trustee is not liable for any act, omission or default of the Servicer in relation to its custodian duties or its obligations under the Servicing Agreement.
- (f) (Delegation) In exercising its powers and performing its obligations and duties under the Trust Deed, the Trustee may, with the consent of the Trust Manager (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld), delegate any or all of the duties, powers, discretions or other functions of the Trustee under the Trust Deed or otherwise in relation to the Trust, to a related company of the Trustee which is a trustee company or trustee corporation for the purposes of any State or Territory legislation governing the operation of trustee companies.
- (g) (Trustee Fees and Expenses) The Trustee is entitled to a monthly fee based on the aggregate Invested Amount of all Notes on each Determination Date, payable in arrear on the relevant Payment Date.

The Trustee is entitled to be reimbursed out of the assets of the Trust for all expenses incurred in connection with the performance of its obligations in respect of the Trust (but not general overhead costs and expenses).

- (h) (Removal of the Trustee) The Trustee is required to retire as Trustee after a direction from the Trust Manager following a *Trustee's Default*. A Trustee's Default occurs if:
 - (i) an Insolvency Event has occurred and is continuing in relation to the Trustee;
 - (ii) any action is taken by or in relation to the Trustee which causes the rating of any Notes to be downgraded;
 - (iii) the Trustee, or any employee, delegate, agent or officer of the Trustee, breaches any obligation or duty imposed on the Trustee under the Trust Deed or any other Transaction Document in relation to the Trust where the Trust Manager reasonably believes it may have an Adverse Effect and the Trustee fails or neglects after 30 days' notice from the Trust Manager to remedy that breach;
 - (iv) the Trustee merges or consolidates with another entity without obtaining the consent of the Trust Manager and ensuring that the resulting merged or consolidated entity assumes the Trustee's obligations under the Transaction Documents; or
 - (v) there is a change in effective control of the Trustee from that subsisting as at the date of the Trust Deed unless approved by the Trust Manager.

Where the Trustee is removed because of its default, it shall bear the costs of its removal. The Trustee indemnifies the Trust Manager and the Trust for those costs.

- On the removal of the Trustee, the Trust Manager, subject to giving prior notice to the Rating Agencies, shall be entitled to appoint in writing some other statutory trustee to be the Trustee under the Trust Deed provided that appointment will not in the reasonable opinion of the Trust Manager materially prejudice the interests of Noteholders. If the Trust Manager does not appoint a successor Trustee within 60 days, an Extraordinary Resolution of the Voting Mortgagees may do so.
- (i) (Voluntary Retirement of the Trustee) The Trustee may resign on giving to the Trust Manager (with a copy to the Rating Agencies) not less than 3 months' notice in writing (or such other period as the Trust Manager and the Trustee may agree) of its intention to do so.
 - Before retirement, the Trust Manager is entitled to appoint a successor Trustee whose appointment will not in the Trust Manager's reasonable opinion materially prejudice the interests of Noteholders. If the Trust Manager does not appoint a replacement Trustee within 60 days, an Extraordinary Resolution of Voting Mortgagees may do so.
- (j) (Limitation on Trustee's Liability) The limitation of the Trustee's liability applies despite any other provisions of the Transaction Documents and extends to all Obligations of the Trustee in any way connected with any representation, warranty, conduct, omission, agreement or transaction related to this Information Memorandum or any Transaction Document.

- (i) The Trustee enters into the Transaction Documents for the Trust as trustee of the Trust and in no other capacity.
- (ii) The Mortgagees (other than the Trustee) acknowledge that the Trustee incurs the Obligations solely in its capacity as trustee of the Trust and that the Trustee will cease to have any Obligation under the Transaction Documents in respect of the Trust if the Trustee ceases for any reason to be trustee of the Trust (other than in respect of any liability which arose before the Trustee ceased to be the trustee of the Trust).
- (iii) Except in the case of and to the extent of fraud, negligence or wilful misconduct on the part of the Trustee, the Trustee will not be liable to pay or satisfy any Obligations except out of the assets of the Trust against which it is actually indemnified in respect of any liability incurred by it as trustee of the Trust.
- (iv) Except in the case of and to the extent of fraud, negligence or wilful misconduct on the part of the Trustee, the Mortgagees (other than the Trustee) may enforce their rights against the Trustee arising from nonperformance of the Obligations only to the extent of the Trustee's right of indemnity out of the assets of the Trust.
- (v) Except in the case of and to the extent of fraud, negligence or wilful misconduct on the part of the Trustee, if any Mortgagee (other than the Trustee) does not recover all money owing to it arising from nonperformance of the Obligations it may not seek to recover the shortfall by:
 - (A) bringing proceedings against the Trustee in its personal capacity; or
 - (B) applying to have the Trustee in its personal capacity put into administration or wound up or applying to have a receiver or similar person appointed to the Trustee in its personal capacity or proving in the administration or winding up of the Trustee in its personal capacity.
- (vi) Except in the case of and to the extent of fraud, negligence or wilful misconduct on the part of the Trustee, the Mortgagees (other than the Trustee) waive their rights and release the Trustee from any personal liability whatsoever, in respect of any loss or damage:
 - (A) which they may suffer as a result of any:
 - (1) breach by the Trustee of any of its Obligations; or
 - (2) non-performance by the Trustee of the Obligations; and
 - (B) which cannot be paid or satisfied out of the assets of the Trust of which the Trustee is entitled to be indemnified in respect of any liability incurred by the Trustee as trustee of the Trust.
- (vii) The Transaction Documents are subject to certain provisions which are as described in this section and the Trustee shall in no circumstances be

required to satisfy any liability of the Trustee arising under, or for non-performance or breach of any Obligations under or in respect of, any Transaction Document to which it is expressed to be a party out of any funds, property or assets other than the assets of the Trust under the Trustee's control as and when they are available to the Trustee to be applied in exoneration for such liability PROVIDED THAT if the liability of the Trustee is not fully satisfied out of the assets of the Trust, the Trustee will be liable to pay out of its own funds, property and assets the unsatisfied amount of that liability but only to the extent of the total amount, if any, by which the assets of the Trust have been reduced by reasons of fraud, negligence or wilful misconduct by the Trustee in the performance of the Trustee's duties as trustee of the Trust.

- (viii) The Mortgagees agree that no act or omission of the Trustee (including any related failure to satisfy any Obligations) will constitute fraud, negligence or wilful misconduct of the Trustee for the purposes of this section to the extent to which the act or omission was caused or contributed to by any failure of the Trust Manager or any other person to fulfil its obligations relating to the Trust or by any other act or omission of the Trust Manager or any other person (except to the extent that the relevant failure, act or omission by the Trust Manager or other person was caused by the fraud, negligence or wilful misconduct of the Trustee).
- (ix) No attorney, agent or other person appointed in accordance with a Transaction Document has authority to act on behalf of the Trustee in a way which exposes the Trustee to any personal liability, and no act or omission of such a person will be considered fraud, negligence or wilful misconduct of the Trustee for the purposes of this section.
- (x) In this section *Obligations* means all obligations and liabilities of whatever kind undertaken or incurred by, or devolving upon, the Trustee under or in respect of any Transaction Document.
- (k) (Trustee's Rights of indemnity) Except where the Trustee fails to exercise due care due to the Trustee's fraud, negligence or wilful misconduct, the Trustee will be indemnified out of the assets of the Trust against all losses and liabilities properly incurred by the Trustee in performing any of its duties or exercising any of its powers under the Transaction Documents in relation to the Trust.

9.2 Role of the Trust Manager

- (a) (**General**) The Trust Manager is appointed as trust manager of the Trust on the terms set out in the Trust Deed and the Series Notice.
- (b) (Powers) The Trust Manager shall carry out and perform the duties and obligations on its part contained in the Trust Deed and shall have full and complete powers of management of the Trust, including in relation to the conduct of the day to day operation of the Trust and the administration and servicing of the assets (which are not serviced by the Servicer), borrowings and other liabilities of the

Trusts. The Trustee has no duty to supervise the Trust Manager in the performance of its functions and duties or the exercise of its discretions.

The Trust Manager has the absolute discretion to recommend investments to the Trustee and direct the Trustee in relation to those investments. The Trustee's role is to give effect to all such recommendations or directions.

- (c) (**Delegation**) The Trust Manager may in carrying out and performing its duties and obligations contained in the Trust Deed delegate to Westpac, or any of the Trust Manager's or Westpac's officers and employees all acts, matters and things (whether or not requiring or involving the Trust Manager's judgment or discretion), or appoint any person to be its attorney, agent, delegate or sub-contractor for such purposes and with such powers as the Trust Manager thinks fit.
- (d) (Reporting) The Trust Manager will provide to:
 - the Trustee, a report relating to cashflows of the Trust for a Collection Period no later than 4.00pm (Sydney time) on the Remittance Date following that Collection Period; and
 - (ii) the Security Trustee and the Class A Noteholders, a report on the statistics for the Housing Loans at least quarterly no later than 4.00pm (Sydney time) on the Remittance Date following the last Collection Period of the relevant quarter, by publishing such report on the website www.westpac.com.au/about-westpac/investor-centre/fixed-incomeinvestors, or such other website as it may notify the Class A Noteholders from time to time.
- (e) (Trust Manager's Fees and expenses) The Trust Manager is entitled to a monthly fee at an agreed rate on the average daily balance of the Housing Loan Principal during that Collection Period payable in arrear on the relevant Payment Date.

The Trust Manager is entitled to be reimbursed out of the assets of the Trust for all expenses incurred in connection with the performance of its obligations in respect of the Trust (but not general overhead costs and expenses).

- (f) (Removal of the Trust Manager) The Trust Manager shall retire as trust manager if so directed by the Trustee following a *Trust Manager's Default*. A Trust Manager's Default occurs if:
 - (i) the Trust Manager fails to make any payment required from it within the time period specified in a Transaction Document, and that failure is not remedied within 10 Business Days of receipt from the Trustee of notice of that failure;
 - (ii) an Insolvency Event has occurred and is continuing in relation to the Trust Manager;
 - (iii) the Trust Manager breaches any obligation or duty imposed on the Trust Manager under the Trust Deed, any other Transaction Document or any other deed, agreement or arrangement entered into by the Trust Manager

- under the Trust Deed in relation to the Trust, the Trustee reasonably believes that breach has an Adverse Effect and the breach is not remedied after 30 days' notice from the Trustee (except in the case of reliance by the Trust Manager on the Servicer); or
- (iv) a representation, warranty or statement by or on behalf of the Trust Manager in a Transaction Document or a document provided under or in connection with a Transaction Document, is not true in a material respect or is misleading when repeated and is not remedied to the Trustee's reasonable satisfaction within 90 days after notice from the Trustee where (as determined by the Trustee) it has an Adverse Effect.

The costs of removal of the Trust Manager in default shall be borne by the Trust Manager. The Trust Manager indemnifies the Trustee and the Trust for those costs.

On retirement or removal of the Trust Manager, the Trustee may appoint another trust manager, provided the appointment will not materially prejudice the interests of Noteholders. If a replacement Trust Manager is not appointed within 90 days of the Trustee electing to appoint a new Trust Manager, the Trustee will be the new Trust Manager (subject to the limitations on its liability in that capacity specified in the Transaction Documents).

- (g) (Voluntary Retirement of the Trust Manager) The Trust Manager may resign on giving to the Trustee (with a copy to the Rating Agencies) not less than 90 days' notice in writing (or such other period as the Trust Manager and the Trustee may agree) of its intention to do so.
 - Before retirement, the Trust Manager must appoint a successor Trust Manager who is approved by the Trustee, or (by the election of the Trustee itself) who may be the Trustee, and whose appointment or election by the Trustee will not materially prejudice the interests of Noteholders. If a successor Trust Manager has not been appointed by the end of the 90 days' notice period the Trustee shall act as Trust Manager until a successor trust manager is appointed (subject to the limitations on its liability in that capacity specified in the Transaction Documents) and will be entitled to the Trust Manager's Fee for the period it so acts as Trust Manager.
- (h) (Limitation on Trust Manager's Liability) The principal limits on Trust Manager's liability are set out in clause 33 of the Trust Deed. These include the following limits.

In the absence of fraud, negligence or wilful default on its part or on the part of any of its officers, employees, agents or delegates, the Trust Manager shall not be liable personally in the event of failure to pay moneys on the due date for payment to any Noteholder, any Beneficiary, the Trustee or any other person or for any loss howsoever caused in respect of any of the Trusts or to any Noteholder, any Beneficiary, the Trustee or other person.

Extent of liability of Trust Manager

The Trust Manager shall not be personally liable to indemnify the Trustee or make any payments to any other person in relation to the Trust except that there shall be no limit on the Trust Manager's liability for any fraud, negligence or wilful default by it in its capacity as the Trust Manager of the Trust.

Right of indemnity

The Trust Manager shall be indemnified out of the Trust in respect of any liability, cost or expense properly incurred by it in its capacity as Trust Manager of the Trust or so incurred by any of its delegates, sub-delegates or agents.

Oversights

Subject to the Trust Deed, the Trust Manager is not responsible for any act, omission, misconduct, mistake, oversight, error of judgment, forgetfulness or want of prudence on the part of the Trustee, the Servicer or any agent appointed by the Trustee or the Trust Manager or on whom the Trustee or the Trust Manager is entitled to rely under the Trust Deed (other than a related company), attorney, banker, receiver, barrister, solicitor, agent or other person acting as agent or adviser to the Trustee or the Trust Manager.

9.3 Beneficiary

The beneficial ownership of the Trust is divided into two units, the Residual Income Unit and the Residual Capital Unit. The Residual Capital Unit cannot be transferred, and gives the holder no right to any distributions of the Trust except a right to A\$10 on the winding up of the Trust.

The Residual Income Unit entitles the holder to surplus income of the Trust for any Collection Period, after distribution of all income for that Collection Period to creditors expressed in the Series Notice to have priority to all Beneficiaries, in the circumstances set out in section 7.8. The Residual Income Unit is not transferable without the consent of the Trust Manager.

A *Beneficiary* of the Trust will hold the Residual Capital Unit or the Residual Income Unit.

The Trustee may not recover any amounts properly paid to a Beneficiary once they are paid unless there has been a manifest error in the relevant calculation of the amount distributed to that Beneficiary.

9.4 The Servicer

- (a) (Appointment as Servicer and Custodian) Under the Servicing Agreement, Westpac will be appointed as the initial Servicer of the Housing Loans and Custodian of the Mortgage Documents.
- (b) (Normal Servicing Procedures) The Servicer shall manage and service the Housing Loans in accordance with the Servicing Agreement. To the extent not provided in the Servicing Agreement, the Servicer shall manage and service the Housing Loans in accordance with the applicable procedures manual as that is interpreted and applied by the Servicer in the ordinary course of its business. To

the extent not covered by the Servicing Agreement or procedures manual, the Servicer shall manage and service the Housing Loans by exercising the degree of diligence and care expected of an appropriately qualified Servicer of the relevant financial products and custodian of documents.

All acts of the Servicer in servicing the Housing Loans in accordance with the relevant procedures manual are binding on the Trustee.

- (c) (**Powers**) Subject to paragraphs (b) and (e)(vi), and the final sub-paragraph of paragraph (e), the Servicer has the express power, among other things, to the extent such action will not cause an Adverse Effect (that is, an event which will materially and adversely affect the amount of any payment to be made to any Noteholder, or will materially and adversely affect the timing of such payment):
 - to waive any fees and break costs which may be collected in the ordinary course of servicing the Housing Loans or arrange the rescheduling of interest due and unpaid following a default under any Housing Loans;
 - (ii) in its discretion, to waive any right in respect of any Housing Loans and Mortgages in the ordinary course of servicing the Housing Loans and Mortgages (including in accordance with its normal collection procedures); and
 - (iii) to grant an extension of maturity beyond 30 years from the date any Housing Loan that relates to a Mortgage was made, when required to do so by Law or a government agency. The restriction on granting extensions that will not have an Adverse Effect shall not apply where the extension is required by Law or a governmental agency.
- (d) (Delegation by the Servicer) The Servicer is entitled to delegate its duties under the Servicing Agreement. The Servicer at all times remains liable for the acts or omissions of any delegate.
- (e) (Servicer undertakings) The Servicer undertakes that it will, among other things:
 - (i) (notice of default) give notice in writing to the Trustee and the Rating
 Agencies of it becoming aware of the occurrence of any Servicer Transfer
 Event;
 - (ii) (compliance with law)
 - (A) maintain in effect all qualifications, consents, licences, permits, approvals, exemptions, filings and registrations as may be required under any applicable law in order to properly service the Housing Loans and Mortgages and to perform or comply with its obligations under the Servicing Agreement; and
 - (B) comply with all Laws in connection with servicing the Housing Loans and Mortgages where failure to do so would have an Adverse Effect;
 - (iii) (Perfect title) If so directed by the Trustee following a Title Perfection Event, perfect the Trustee's title to Housing Loans in the Mortgage Pool by

notifying the Trustee's interests to Borrowers and mortgagors, registering transfers, delivering documents to the Trustee and taking other action required to perfect title.

(iv) (Collections)

- (A) In relation to Housing Loans of which the Approved Seller is the legal owner, it will assist the Approved Seller to collect all moneys due under those Housing Loans and Mortgages and pay them into the Collection Account.
- (B) In relation to Housing Loans of which the Trustee is the legal owner, it will collect all moneys due under those Housing Loans and Mortgages and pay them into the Collection Account.
- (v) (Material Default) If a Material Default occurs in respect to a Housing Loans, it will take action to enforce the relevant Housing Loan and the related Mortgage to the extent it determines.
- (vi) (Insurance Policies) It will:
 - (A) act in accordance with the terms of any Mortgage Insurance Policies (where applicable);
 - (B) not do or omit to do anything reasonably expected prejudicially to affect or limit its rights or the rights of the Trustee under or in respect of a Mortgage Insurance Policy (where applicable);
 - (C) promptly make a claim under any Mortgage Insurance Policy (where applicable) when it is entitled to do so; and
 - (D) promptly notify the Trust Manager when each claim is made.
- (vii) (No security interests) Except in limited circumstances, it will not consent to the creation or existence of any security interest in favour of a third party in relation to any Mortgaged Property in connection with a Housing Loan and the related Mortgage.
- (viii) (Release of debt or vary terms) It will not, except as required by law, release a Borrower or otherwise vary or discharge any Housing Loan or Mortgage where it would have an Adverse Effect.
- (ix) (Setting the Interest Rate) It will set the interest rate on the Housing Loans in accordance with the requirements of the Series Notice.

In performing any services the Servicer shall have regard to whether it does or does not have any Adverse Effect. The Servicer may ask the Trustee or the Trust Manager if any action or inaction on its part is reasonably likely to, or will, have an Adverse Effect. The Servicer may rely upon any statement by the Trustee or the Trust Manager that any action or inaction by the Servicer is reasonably likely to, or will, have an Adverse Effect.

(f) (Approved Seller undertakings) The Approved Seller undertakes that it will, among other things:

- (i) (compliance with law)
 - (A) maintain in effect all authorisations as may be required in relation to its ownership of any Housing Loan or Mortgage and to perform or comply with its obligations under the Servicing Agreement; and
 - (B) comply with all laws in connection with its ownership of any Housing Loans and Mortgages where failure to do so would have an Adverse Effect;
- (ii) (co-operate with the Servicer) co-operate with the Servicer in relation to the provision of the services by the Servicer;
- (iii) (comply with Series Notice) comply with any undertaking specified in relation to it in the Series Notice;
- (iv) (Material Default) if a Material Default occurs in respect to a Housing Loan, take such action as the Servicer directs it to take in accordance with the Servicing Agreement;
- (v) (Insurance Policies) act in accordance with the terms of any Mortgage Insurance Policies (if applicable), and not do or omit to do anything which could be reasonably expected to prejudicially affect or limit the rights of the Trustee under them;
- (vi) (no Security Interests) not consent to the creation or existence of any Security Interest in favour of a third party in relation to any Mortgaged Property in connection with a Housing Loan and the relevant Mortgage which would rank before or pari passu with the relevant Housing Loan and relevant Mortgage;
- (vii) (release of debt or vary terms) not, except as required by law, release a Borrower or otherwise vary or discharge any Housing Loan or Mortgage;
- (viii) (not claim) not claim any security interest over any asset of the Trust; and
- (ix) (additional amounts) notify the Servicer immediately of each request by a Borrower to borrow further moneys under or in relation to a Housing Loan or Mortgage.
- (g) (**Delegation**) The Approved Seller:
 - (i) directs the Servicer to perform the services in a manner that is consistent with any obligation of the Approved Seller under any law; and
 - (ii) authorises the Servicer to conduct correspondence with Borrowers,
 - (iii) in accordance with the Servicing Agreement.
- (h) (Servicing Fee) The Servicer is entitled to a fee for servicing the Housing Loans, payable in arrear on the Payment Date following the end of the Collection Period. The Servicing Fee is based on the average daily balance of Housing Loan Principal during that Collection Period and on the actual number of days in that Collection Period divided by 365 days.

The Servicer must pay from such fee all expenses incurred in connection with servicing the Housing Loans except for expenses relating to the enforcement of any Housing Loan or its Related Securities, the recovery of any amounts owing under any Housing Loan or any amount repaid to a liquidator or Trustee in bankruptcy pursuant to any applicable law, binding code, order or decision of any court, tribunal or the like and based on advice of the Servicer's legal advisers.

- (i) (Servicer Transfer Event and Removal) The Trustee may only terminate the Servicer's appointment if the Trustee determines that a Servicer Transfer Event has occurred and is continuing. A Servicer Transfer Event is any of the following:
 - (i) an Insolvency Event occurs in relation to the Servicer;
 - the Servicer fails to pay any amount in accordance with the Transaction Documents within five Business Days of receipt of a notice to do so from either the Trustee or Trust Manager;
 - (iii) the Servicer fails to comply with any of its other obligations under any Transaction Document and such action has had, or, if continued will have, an Adverse Effect (as determined by the Trustee) and that failure is not remedied within 30 days after the Servicer becomes aware of that failure by receipt of notice from either the Trustee or Trust Manager;
 - (iv) any representation, warranty or certification made by the Servicer is incorrect when made and is not waived by the Trustee or remedied to the Trustee's reasonable satisfaction within 90 days after notice, and the Trustee determines that breach would have an Adverse Effect; or
 - (v) if it is unlawful for the Servicer to perform the services under the Servicing Agreement.

In the event of a Servicer Transfer Event, the Trustee must immediately terminate the rights and obligations of the Servicer and appoint an Eligible Servicer. The Trustee must give notice of the termination to the Trust Manager, the Approved Seller, the Servicer and each Rating Agency. Until an Eligible Servicer is found and has been appointed, and subject to the limitations on its liability in that capacity specified in the Transaction Documents, the Trustee will act as the Servicer.

Subject to paragraph (k), the Servicer indemnifies the Trustee against all expenses incurred as a result of a Servicer Transfer Event or a failure by the Servicer to perform its duties under the Servicing Agreement.

- (j) (Resignation) The Servicer must not resign without first giving 90 days' notice to each Rating Agency and the Trustee. If an Eligible Servicer has not agreed to act as Servicer by the expiration of that 90 day notice period, the Trustee shall act as Servicer and be entitled to the fee payable under section 7 while so acting, provided that:
 - (i) the Trust Manager and the Trustee shall use all reasonable efforts to appoint an Eligible Servicer to be the Servicer; and

- (ii) if, by the expiration of that 90 day notice period, no Eligible Servicer has been appointed and has agreed to act as Servicer, then the Trustee shall be entitled to select an Eligible Servicer and, on behalf of the Trustee and the Trust Manager, appoint that Eligible Servicer to be the Servicer.
- (k) (Limit on damages) The maximum amount that the Servicer may become obliged to pay to the Trustee under any indemnity by it to the Trustee is an amount equal to the Unpaid Balance of each Housing Loan affected by the relevant Servicer Transfer Event or failure, together with any expense, loss, damage or liability which the Trustee incurs in its personal capacity, in each case as at the time the Servicer pays the damages.

9.5 Document Custody

(a) (General) The Servicer will be responsible for custody of the relevant title documents for Housing Loans, Mortgages and related rights (*Title Documents*) on behalf of the Trustee.

The Servicer must hold those documents as custodian, in electronic form or otherwise, at the direction of the Trustee in accordance with its standard safekeeping practices and in the same manner and to the same extent that it holds documents for the Approved Seller.

The Servicer will hold custody of the Title Documents in accordance with procedures contained in the Servicing Agreement. The procedures include maintaining reports on movements of documents.

The Servicer will be audited on an annual basis (or more regularly if any audit gives an adverse finding) in relation to its:

- (i) custodial procedures;
- (ii) identification of documents;
- (iii) security; and
- (iv) tracking systems.
- (b) (Termination of Servicer as document custodian) If any of the following occur:
 - (i) the Servicer becomes insolvent;
 - the Servicer is in default under the Servicing Agreement where the default will have an Adverse Effect and does not remedy the default within 30 days;
 - (iii) the Servicer breaches any of its representations and warranties where the breach will have an Adverse Effect and does not remedy the breach within 90 days;
 - (iv) the Servicer does not comply with the requirements of the Servicing Agreement to the satisfaction of the auditor, and a further audit also results in an adverse finding by the auditor; or

(v) the Servicer is in default under a servicing agreement between it and any other person, and by reason of the default that other person removes any documents in the Servicer's custody under the servicing agreement where that person would otherwise not have been entitled to do so,

the Servicer must deliver the Title Documents to the Trustee. If the Servicer does not do so within 10 Business Days, then the Trustee must enter the premises where the Title Documents are kept, take possession of and remove the Title Documents. If the Trustee does not have possession of the documents within 10 Business Days it must lodge caveats in relation to and/or take all other action it considers necessary to protect its interests.

9.6 Termination of the Trust

The Trust will terminate on the earlier to occur of:

- (a) the date which is 80 years after the date of creation of the Trust;
- (b) the termination of the Trust under statute or general law;
- (c) following full and final enforcement of the Security Trust Deed; or
- (d) at any time after all Notes have been repaid in full, if the Trust Manager notifies the Trustee in writing that the Trust is to be terminated,

each such date being the Termination Date.

9.7 Audit and Accounts

An Auditor will be appointed to the Trust. The Auditor must audit the annual accounts prepared by the Trust Manager for each financial year in respect of the Trust and provide a written report detailing the results of the audit to the Trustee, the Security Trustee and the Rating Agencies. An audit will not be required (at the election of the Trust Manager) if there are no Notes outstanding and the only creditors of the Trust are any of the Trust Manager, the Trustee, the Security Trustee, Westpac or any of their related body corporates (as defined in the Corporations Act).

The accounts of the Trust will be prepared in accordance with the Trust Deed (as amended by the Series Notice), which provide that for each financial year of the Trust the Trust Manager will ascertain the net income of the Trust in accordance with section 95(1) of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 and the income of that Trust in accordance with the laws applicable to the administration of that Trust and the Trust Deed (as amended by the Series Notice). The Trust Manager may apply such accounting policies as the Trust Manager and the Trustee may agree provided that such policies, if applied, would not lead to the downgrade or withdrawal of the rating of any of the Notes.

A copy of the audited Accounts of the Trust and any Auditor's report shall be available for inspection, but not copying, by the Noteholders in relation to the Trust at the offices of the Trust Manager.

9.8 Income Tax

Any income which is held by the Trust at tax year end will be distributed to the relevant Beneficiary. As the Trust will be a member of the Westpac consolidated tax group, Westpac will prepare and lodge all necessary income tax returns. The Trust will not be required to lodge a separate income tax return. The Trust Manager and the Trustee have received an opinion from Clayton Utz confirming the application of the relevant taxation principles.

9.9 Amendments to the Trust Deed

The Trustee, the Trust Manager and the Servicer may by way of supplemental deed alter, add to or modify the Trust Deed or a Transaction Document other than the Dealer Agreement so long as such alteration, addition or modification is:

- (a) to correct a manifest error or ambiguity or is of a formal, technical or administrative nature only;
- (b) necessary to comply with the provisions of any statute or regulation or with the requirements of any government agencies;
- (c) appropriate or expedient as a consequence of an amendment to any statute or regulation or altered requirements of any government agencies; or
- (d) in the opinion of the Trustee is desirable to enable the provisions of the Trust Deed to be more conveniently, advantageously, profitably or economically administered or is otherwise desirable for any reason.

Where in the reasonable opinion of the Trustee a proposed alteration, addition or modification to the Trust Deed (other than referred to in any of paragraphs (a) to (d) (inclusive) above) is prejudicial or likely to be prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders or the Beneficiaries of the Trust, such alteration, addition or modification may only be effected by the Trustee with the prior consent of the Noteholders in the Trust under an Extraordinary Resolution of those Noteholders or with the prior written consent of the Beneficiaries (as the case may be).

However, the Trust Manager may at any time direct the Trustee to amend the counterparty downgrade provisions of an Interest Rate Swap following changes to the criteria of the relevant Rating Agency without the consent of the Noteholders or the Beneficiaries of the Trust provided that the variations will not cause a Rating Downgrade Event.

9.10 Meeting of Noteholders

- (a) (Who Can Convene Meetings) Noteholders or a Class of Noteholders holding in aggregate not less than 20% of the Invested Amounts of all Notes or in that Class, may at any time convene a meeting of the Noteholders or Class, as the case may be.
- (b) (Notice of Meetings) At least seven days' notice must be given to the relevant Noteholders of a meeting unless 95% of the holders of the then outstanding Notes of the Trust or the Class (as the case may be) agree on a shorter period of time. The notice must specify the day, time and place of the proposed meeting, the

agenda, the terms of any proposed resolution, that persons appointed to maintain the register of Noteholders may not register any transfer of a Note in the period two Business Days prior to the meeting, that appointments of proxies must be lodged no later than 24 hours prior to the time fixed for the meeting and such additional information as the person giving the notice thinks fit. Accidental omission to give notice or the non-receipt of notice by any Noteholder will not invalidate the proceedings at any meeting.

(c) (Quorum) The quorum for a meeting is any person or persons being Noteholders holding, or representatives of Noteholders holding or representing, in the aggregate not less than 67% of the Invested Amounts of all Notes issued in relation to the Trust or constituting the Class (as the case may be).

If within 15 minutes from the time appointed for any meeting a quorum is not present, the meeting shall stand adjourned (unless the Trustee agrees that it be dissolved) for such period, not being less than seven days nor more than 42 days, as may be appointed by the chairman. At such adjourned meeting two or more persons present in person being Noteholders holding, or being representatives holding or representing, in the aggregate not less than 25% of the Invested Amounts of all Notes issued by the Trust or constituting the Class (as the case may be) and then outstanding (whatever the Notes so held or represented) shall form a quorum.

At least five days' notice of any meeting adjourned through want of a quorum shall be given in the same manner as for the original meeting and such notice shall state the quorum required at such adjourned meeting.

- (d) (Voting Procedures) Resolutions submitted to any meeting will be decided in the first instance by show of hands or, if demanded by the chairman, the Trustee, the Trust Manager or by one or more persons being Noteholders holding in aggregate not less than 2% of the Notes issued by the Trust or constituting the Class (as the case may be) and then outstanding, by a poll.
 - Every person being a Noteholder holding then outstanding Notes will have one vote on a show of hands and one vote for each Note held by them on a poll.
- (e) (Powers of a Meeting of Noteholders) The powers of a meeting of Noteholders are specified in the Trust Deed (including to sanction action which the Trustee, Trust Manager or Servicer propose to take to enforce the provisions of any Transaction Document (in the case of Voting Noteholders only), and to consent to the amendment of Transaction Documents affecting the relevant Class of Noteholders) and can only be exercised by an Extraordinary Resolution. A meeting of Noteholders does not have the power to:
 - (i) remove the Servicer or the Trust Manager from office;
 - (ii) interfere with the management of the Trust;
 - (iii) wind up or terminate the Trust;
 - (iv) alter the Authorised Investments of the Trust or any Housing Loans or Mortgages owned by the Trustee;

- (v) amend any Transaction Document (except in respect of amendments proposed by the Trustee or Trust Manager for which an Extraordinary Resolution of Noteholders is required under section 9.9); or
- (vi) alter the Payment Dates, Coupon, or other terms of the Series Notice in relation to any Notes.
- (f) (Binding Resolutions) An Extraordinary Resolution passed at a meeting of the Noteholders of the Trust or of any Class duly convened and held in accordance with the Trust Deed shall be binding on all the Noteholders of the Trust or of the Class whether or not present at such meeting.
- (g) (Written Resolutions) A resolution of the Noteholders of the Trust or any Class (including an Extraordinary Resolution) may be passed, without any meeting or previous notice being required, by an instrument in writing which has in the case of a resolution (including an Extraordinary Resolution) of the Noteholders of the Trust or any Class, been signed by all Noteholders of the Trust or the Class (as the case may be).

9.11 Perfection of Title

On the occurrence of a Title Perfection Event, the Trustee and the Trust Manager must take all reasonable steps to perfect the Trustee's title in and to the Housing Loans and related Mortgages, and may:

- (a) by notice to the Approved Seller, terminate the rights and obligations between the Trustee and the Approved Seller;
- (b) complete, execute and register any relevant transfers on behalf of the Approved Seller:
- (c) give notice of the perfection of its title to interested persons, including (where relevant) the Mortgage Insurer;
- (d) do anything else reasonably necessary to perfect its interest in the relevant Housing Loans and Mortgages.

The Approved Seller must promptly (and in any event within 10 Business Days or such longer period as the Trustee permits) take all action to perfect the Trustee's legal title to the Housing Loans and the related Mortgages by giving written notice of the Trustee's interest to any Borrower, registering any relevant transfer and delivering all relevant documents to the Trustee.

Each of the following is a *Title Perfection Event* in relation to the Housing Loans:

- (i) an Insolvency Event occurs with respect to the Approved Seller;
- the Approved Seller fails to pay Collections within five Business Days of receipt of notice from the Trustee or the Trust Manager to do so under the Servicing Agreement; and
- (iii) Westpac is required by Law to perfect legal title in the Housing Loans or Related Securities for the benefit of the Trustee.

10. The Security Trust Deed

10.1 Security interest granted under the Security Trust Deed

Under the Security Trust Deed, the Trustee has granted a first ranking security interest, to be registered in accordance with the PPSA, over all of the assets of the Trust and anything in respect of which the Trustee has a sufficient right or interest to grant a security interest under the PPSA or any other law, in favour of the Security Trustee in order to secure the Trustee's obligations to the Noteholders, the Trust Manager, the Servicer, the Swap Provider, the Security Trustee, the Support Facility Providers (other than the Mortgage Insurer), and in respect of any Accrued Interest Adjustment and unreimbursed Redraws owed to the Approved Seller (together, those creditors being the *Mortgagees*).

10.2 Security Trustee

The Security Trustee is appointed to act as trustee on behalf of the Mortgagees on the terms and conditions of the Security Trust Deed. It holds the benefit of the security interest granted under the Security Trust Deed, the secured property and the benefit of each of the Trust Documents to which it is a party on trust for each Mortgagee in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Security Trust Deed.

Subject to the provisions of the Security Trust Deed, if there is at any time a conflict between a duty owed by the Security Trustee to any Mortgagees or class of Mortgagees, and a duty owed by it to another Mortgagee or class of Mortgagee, the Security Trustee must give priority to the interests of the Noteholders.

Subject to the provisions of the Security Trust Deed (other than the paragraph above), the Security Trustee must give priority to the interests only of:

- (a) the Class A Noteholders if, in the Security Trustee's opinion, there is a conflict between the interests of the Class A Noteholders and the interests of the Class B Noteholders or the other persons entitled to the benefit of the security interest granted under the Security Trust Deed; and
- (b) the Class B Noteholders if, in the Security Trustee's opinion, there is a conflict between the interests of the Class B Noteholders and any other persons entitled to the benefit of the security interest granted under the Security Trust Deed.

Provided that the Security Trustee acts in good faith, it shall not incur any liability to any Mortgagee for so doing.

The Security Trustee:

- (a) has no responsibility for the form or contents of any Transaction Document and has no liability arising as a result of or in connection with any inadequacy, invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of any Transaction Document;
- (b) is not required to keep itself informed as to the compliance by the Trustee or the Trust Manager with any Transaction Document or any other document or agreement or to inspect any property or book of the Trustee or the Trust Manager;

- (c) may rely on any document it believes to be genuine and correct, and on the advice and statements of advisers where permitted by the terms of that advice or those statements;
- (d) is not obliged to disclose any information relating to the Trustee if in the opinion of the Security Trustee (on the basis of the advice of its legal advisers) disclosure would or might breach a law or a duty or secrecy or confidence; and
- (e) is not obliged to do anything unless its liability is limited in a manner satisfactory to it in its absolute discretion.

The Security Trustee has no liability under or in connection with the Security Trust Deed or any other Transaction Document to any person other than to the extent to which the liability is able to be satisfied in accordance with the Security Trust Deed out of the property of the trust established under the Security Trust Deed from which the Security Trustee is actually indemnified for the liability. This limitation will not apply to a liability of the Security Trustee to the extent that it is not satisfied because, under the Security Trust Deed or by operation of law, there is a reduction in the extent of the Security Trustee's indemnification as a result of the Security Trustee's fraud, negligence or wilful misconduct.

10.3 Events of Default

Each of the following is an *Event of Default* under the Security Trust Deed:

- (a) the Trustee fails to pay:
 - (i) any Coupon within 10 Business Days of the Payment Date on which the Coupon was due, together with all interest accrued and payable on that Coupon; or
 - (ii) any other Secured Money, within 10 Business Days of the due date (or within any applicable grace period agreed in writing with the Mortgagees to whom the Secured Moneys relate).

Sub-paragraphs (i) and (ii) above will not constitute Events of Default if the Secured Moneys which the Trustee failed to pay are subordinated to payments of amounts due to:

- (A) Class A Noteholders while any Secured Moneys remain owing:
 - (1) to Class A Noteholders; or
 - (2) to any other person, which rank in priority to amounts due to Class A Noteholders; or
- (B) Class B Noteholders while any Secured Moneys remain owing:
 - (1) to Class B Noteholders; or
 - to any other person, which rank in priority to amounts due to Class B Noteholders;
- (b) the Trustee fails to perform or observe any other provisions (other than an obligation referred to in paragraph (a)) of the Transaction Documents where such failure will have an Adverse Effect and that default (if in the opinion of the Security

Trustee is capable of remedy (that opinion having been approved in writing by the Noteholders)) is not remedied within 30 days after written notice (or such longer period as may be specified in the notice, that longer period having been approved by the Noteholders) from the Security Trustee requiring the failure to be remedied;

- (c) an Insolvency Event occurs in relation to the Trustee (as trustee of the Trust or in its personal capacity) and the Trustee is not replaced in accordance with the Transaction Documents within 60 days or such longer period as the Security Trustee (on the direction of an Extraordinary Resolution of the Voting Mortgagees) may agree;
- (d) the Security Trust Deed is not or ceases to be valid and enforceable or the Trustee breaches the terms set out in clause 4.1(a) of the Security Trust Deed where such breach will have an Adverse Effect. Under clause 4.1(a) of the Security Trust Deed, except with the prior written consent of the Security Trustee, or as expressly permitted in any Transaction Document, the Trustee must not:
 - (i) create or allow to exist any Security Interest (other than the charge created under the Security Trust Deed and any Security Interest arising under any Transaction Documents) over any assets of the Trust; or
 - (ii) in any way dispose of, create or allow any interest in or part with possession of, any assets of the Trust.

For the purposes of this paragraph (d) only, the words "allow to exist" in paragraph (d)(i) shall be interpreted as allowing a Security Interest to exist for a period of time of more than 10 Business Days;

- (e) any security interest over the assets of the Trust is enforced;
- (f) either:
 - (i) any Transaction Document or a material part of any Transaction Document (other than a Support Facility) is terminated or is or becomes void, illegal, invalid, unenforceable or of limited force and effect; or
 - (ii) a party becomes entitled to terminate, rescind or avoid all or part of any Transaction Document (other than a Support Facility),

where that event has or will have an Adverse Effect;

- (g) all or a material part of a Support Facility (other than the Redraw Facility or the Basis Swap) is terminated or is or becomes void, illegal, invalid, unenforceable or of limited force and effect and is not replaced, substituted or supplemented as contemplated by clauses 4.6(a) and 4.6(d) of the Trust Deed, where that event has or will have an Adverse Effect; and
- (h) without prior consent of the Security Trustee (that consent having been approved by the Noteholders):
 - the Trust is wound up, or the Trustee is required to wind up the Trust under the Trust Deed or applicable law, or the winding up of the Trust commences;

- (ii) the Trust is held or is conceded by the Trustee not to have been constituted or to have been imperfectly constituted; or
- (iii) unless another trustee is appointed to the Trust under the Transaction Documents, the Trustee ceases to be authorised under the Trust to hold the property of the Trust in its name and to perform its obligations under the Transaction Documents.

The Trustee must promptly notify the Security Trustee if it becomes aware of the occurrence of an Event of Default, including full details of the Event of Default.

10.4 Enforcement

The Security Trustee must, on becoming actually aware of an Event of Default occurring under the Security Trust Deed, promptly convene a meeting of the Voting Mortgagees.

At the meeting, the Voting Mortgagees must vote by *Mortgagee Extraordinary Resolution* (being a resolution by Voting Mortgagees representing in aggregate at least 75% of the then Secured Moneys capable of being cast at the meeting or by written resolution signed by all of the Voting Mortgagees) on whether to direct the Security Trustee to:

- (a) declare the security interest granted under the Security Trust Deed immediately enforceable;
- (b) declare the Secured Moneys to be immediately due and payable;
- (c) crystallise the security interest granted under the Security Trust Deed; and/or
- (d) appoint a receiver over the Trust's assets or itself exercise the powers that a receiver would otherwise have under the Security Trust Deed.

The Security Trust Deed sets out detailed meeting procedures for Mortgagees (as set out in Section 10.10 below), which procedures are generally similar to those for meetings of Noteholders under the Trust Deed.

The Security Trustee cannot exercise the powers referred to above unless directed by a Mortgagee Extraordinary Resolution in the manner outlined above. It is not obliged to act unless it obtains an indemnity from the Mortgagees, and is put in funds by them for the relevant enforcement actions, nor is it required to exercise its powers without being directed to do so by a Mortgagee Extraordinary Resolution.

No Mortgagee is entitled to enforce the security interest granted under the Security Trust Deed, or appoint a Receiver or otherwise exercise any power conferred by any applicable law on security interests unless:

- (a) the Security Trustee becomes bound to take steps and/or proceed under the Security Trust Deed and it fails to do so within a reasonable time and such failure is continuing, the Voting Mortgagees may exercise such powers as they determine by Extraordinary Resolution and then only if and to the extent the Voting Mortgagees are able to do so under Australian law and the Transaction Documents; or
- (b) the Voting Mortgagees refuse to grant the requested indemnity, and put it in funds, then the Security Trustee will not be obliged to act in relation to that enforcement.

In those circumstances, the Voting Mortgagees may exercise such Powers as they determine by Extraordinary Resolution.

The Security Trust Deed also sets out mechanisms for enforcement by the Security Trustee upon receiving prior written consent of the Noteholders in accordance with the procedures set out in the Security Trust Deed.

10.5 Priorities after enforcement

The proceeds from the enforcement of the security interest granted under the Security Trust Deed are to be applied in the following order of priority, subject to any other priority which may be required by statute or law:

- (a) first, to pay all costs, charges, expenses and disbursements properly incurred in the exercise of any power by the Security Trustee, a Receiver or an Attorney or other amounts (other than those referred to in paragraph (b)) payable to the Security Trustee under the Security Trust Deed;
- (b) second, to pay (pari passu and rateably):
 - (i) any fees and other expenses due to the Security Trustee;
 - (ii) any fees, and unpaid Expenses, due to the Trustee; and
 - (iii) the Receiver's remuneration;
- (c) third, to pay (pari passu and rateably), any unpaid Accrued Interest Adjustment due to the Approved Seller;
- (d) fourth, to pay (pari passu and rateably):
 - (i) all Secured Moneys owing to Support Facility Providers under the Liquidity Facility Agreement, the Redraw Facility Agreement and each Hedge Agreement (except where the relevant Swap Provider is the Defaulting Party); and
 - (ii) all Secured Moneys owing in relation to any Redraws made by Westpac for which Westpac has not been reimbursed under the Transaction Documents;
- (e) fifth, to pay (pari passu and rateably):
 - (i) all Secured Moneys owing to the Support Facility Providers to the extent not expressly referred to elsewhere in this section 10.5; and
 - (ii) all Secured Moneys owing to the Class A Noteholders (as at the date of payment);
- (f) sixth, to pay all Secured Moneys owing to the Class B Noteholders (as at the date of payment);
- (g) seventh, to pay (pari passu and rateably) all Secured Moneys owing to Swap Providers under a Hedge Agreement where the relevant Swap Provider is the Defaulting Party;
- (h) eighth, to pay (pari passu and rateably) any amounts not covered above owing to any Mortgagee under any Transaction Document;

- (i) ninth, to pay (pari passu and rateably) any amounts referred to in section 7.8(a)(i)(F);
- tenth, to pay the holder of any subsequent Security Interest over assets of the Trust of which the Security Trustee has notice, the amount properly secured by the Security Interest; and
- (k) eleventh, to pay any surplus to the Trustee to be distributed in accordance with the Trust Deed and the Series Notice. The surplus will not carry interest. If the Security Trustee pays the surplus to the credit of an account in the name of the Trustee with any bank carrying on business in Australia, the Security Trustee, Receiver, Mortgagee or Attorney (as the case may be) will be under no further liability in respect of it.

10.6 Security Trustee Fee and Expenses

The Trustee shall reimburse the Security Trustee for all costs and expenses of the Security Trustee properly incurred in acting as Security Trustee.

The Security Trustee shall be entitled to a fee payable monthly in the amount agreed from time to time by the Trustee, the Security Trustee and the Trust Manager.

The Trustee indemnifies the Security Trustee against any loss, cost, liability, expense or damage under or in relation to the Transaction Documents or its engagement as Security Trustee, except where arising from the Security Trustee's fraud, negligence or wilful misconduct.

10.7 Retirement and removal

- (a) The Security Trustee may retire on 3 months' notice in writing to the Trustee, the Trust Manager and the Rating Agencies, subject to the appointment of a successor security trustee and the Trust Manager having given a Rating Notification in relation to that the resignation and appointment of a successor.
- (b) The Trust Manager may remove the Security Trustee if:
 - (i) an Insolvency Event occurs in relation to the Security Trustee in its personal capacity;
 - (ii) the cessation by the Security Trustee of its business;
 - (iii) failure of the Security Trustee to remedy within 14 days after written notice by the Trust Manager any material breach of duty on the part of the Security Trustee; or
 - (iv) if without the prior written consent of the Trust Manager there occurs certain changes in the control or management of the Security Trustee.
- (c) A Mortgagee Extraordinary Resolution may at any time remove the Security Trustee.
- (d) Upon notice of resignation or removal the Trust Manager shall have the right to appoint a successor security trustee who has been previously approved by a Mortgagee Extraordinary Resolution and who accepts the appointment.

(e) If no successor security trustee is appointed within 30 days after notice, the retiring security trustee may on behalf of the Mortgagees appoint a successor security trustee (other than Westpac or a Related Corporation of Westpac) who accepts the appointment.

10.8 Amendment

The Security Trust Deed may be amended by the Trustee and the Security Trustee in the manner (and subject to the restrictions) set out in the Security Trust Deed.

10.9 Information

- (a) The Security Trustee has the right to call for any information relating to the Trust or the Notes which is received by or prepared by the Trustee or the Trust Manager.
- (b) The Trustee will give to the Security Trustee a copy of the Register and any information relating to the Trust or the Notes (of which it is aware or which is in its possession) that the Security Trustee reasonably requests in connection with the exercise and performance of its powers and obligations under the Security Trust Deed, including without limitation the identity, and notice details of, each Mortgagee and Beneficiary and the Secured Moneys owing to each Mortgagee.
- (c) The Trust Manager undertakes to promptly give to the Security Trustee a copy of each custody audit given under the Servicing Agreement, Trust Manager's report and audit report in relation to the Trust, and upon request from the Security Trustee, a copy of each Transaction Document and details and information relating to the identity, and notice details of, each Support Facility Provider and the Secured Moneys owing to each Support Facility Provider.

10.10 Meeting of Mortgagees

- (a) The Security Trustee shall not assent or give effect to any matter which a meeting of Voting Mortgagees is empowered by Extraordinary Resolution to do, unless the Security Trustee has previously been authorised to do so by an Extraordinary Resolution of Voting Mortgagees.
- (b) At least 21 days' notice (inclusive of the day on which the notice is given and of the day on which the meeting is held) of the meeting shall be given to the Voting Mortgagees, the Beneficiary and all the Rating Agencies or such shorter notice period if so agreed by the Voting Mortgagees representing a quorum.
- (c) Every question submitted to a meeting shall be decided in the first instance by a show of hands and in case of equality of votes the chairman shall both on a show of hands and on a poll have a casting vote in addition to the vote or votes (if any) to which he may be entitled as a Voting Mortgagee or as a Representative.
- (d) If at any meeting a poll is so demanded, it shall be taken in such manner and either at once or after such an adjournment as the chairman directs and the result of such poll shall be deemed to be the resolution of the meeting at which the poll was demanded as at the date of the taking of the poll.
- (e) At any meeting:

- on a show of hands, every person holding, or being a representative holding or representing other persons who hold, Secured Moneys shall have one vote; and
- (ii) on a poll, every person who is present shall have one vote for each \$10,000 (but not part thereof) of the Secured Moneys that he holds or in respect of which he is a representative. Any person entitled to more than one vote need not use or cast all of the votes to which he is entitled in the same way.
- (f) An Extraordinary Resolution passed at a meeting of the Voting Mortgagees duly convened shall be binding upon all Mortgagees whether or not present at such meeting and each of the Mortgagees and the Trustee, the Trust Manager and the Security Trustee shall be bound to give effect to it accordingly.
- (g) Notwithstanding the above, a resolution of all the Voting Mortgagees (including an Extraordinary Resolution) may be passed, without any meeting or previous notice being required, by an instrument or notes in writing which have:
 - (i) in the case of a resolution (including an Extraordinary Resolution) of all the Voting Mortgagees, been signed by all the Voting Mortgagees; and
 - (ii) any such instrument shall be effective upon presentation to the Security Trustee for entry in the records.
- (h) For so long as the Noteholders are the only Voting Mortgagees they may direct the Security Trustee to do any act or thing which the Security Trustee is required to do, or may only do, at the direction of an Extraordinary Resolution of Voting Mortgagees.
- (i) Despite anything to the contrary, at any time while an Event of Default subsists:
 - (i) if the Noteholders are not the only Voting Mortgagee; and
 - (ii) if the Noteholders direct the Security Trustee to enforce the security interest granted under this deed,

the Security Trustee shall enforce the security interest granted under the Security Trust Deed as if directed to do so by an Extraordinary Resolution of Voting Mortgagees.

11. Taxation matters

THE FOLLOWING IS A SUMMARY OF (I) THE AUSTRALIAN WITHHOLDING TAX TREATMENT UNDER THE ITAA 1936 AND THE INCOME TAX ASSESSMENT ACT 1997 (CTH) (ITAA 1997) (TOGETHER, THE AUSTRALIAN TAX ACT) AT THE DATE OF THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM OF PAYMENTS OF INTEREST BY THE TRUSTEE ON THE NOTES AND CERTAIN OTHER MATTERS AND (II) THE CURRENT TAX LAW AND PRACTICE IN HONG KONG AS AT THE DATE OF THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM.

IT IS NOT EXHAUSTIVE AND, IN PARTICULAR, DOES NOT DEAL WITH THE POSITION OF CERTAIN CLASSES OF HOLDERS OF NOTES (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, AUSTRALIAN RESIDENTS, NON-RESIDENTS THAT HOLD THE NOTES THROUGH A PERMANENT ESTABLISHMENT IN AUSTRALIA, DEALERS IN NOTES OR CUSTODIANS OR THIRD PARTIES THAT HOLD THE NOTES ON BEHALF OF ANY PERSON).

THE FOLLOWING SUMMARY IS A GENERAL GUIDE AND SHOULD BE TREATED WITH APPROPRIATE CAUTION. IT IS NOT INTENDED TO BE, NOR SHOULD IT BE CONSTRUED AS, LEGAL OR TAX ADVICE TO ANY PARTICULAR HOLDER. PROSPECTIVE HOLDERS SHOULD BE AWARE THAT THE PARTICULAR TERMS OF ISSUE OF ANY SERIES OF NOTES MAY AFFECT THE TAX TREATMENT OF THAT AND OTHER SERIES OF NOTES. HOLDERS SHOULD CONSULT THEIR PROFESSIONAL ADVISERS.

11.1 Australian Interest Withholding Tax (IWT)

Generally, payments of principal and interest on the Notes made by the Trustee to a Holder that is not a resident of Australia for Australian tax purposes (a Non-Resident) (other than one deriving the interest in carrying on business in Australia at or through a permanent establishment in Australia) will not be subject to Australian taxes or duties other than IWT at a rate of 10% of the amount of an interest payment. However, IWT will not be payable if an exemption applies.

For IWT purposes, "interest" is defined to include amounts in the nature of, or paid in substitution for, interest and certain other amounts. Any premium or issue discount would be interest for these purposes.

There are also specific rules that can apply to treat a portion of the purchase price of the Notes as interest for IWT purposes when Notes that are originally issued at a discount, or with a maturity premium, or which do not pay interest at least annually, are sold by a Non-Resident (other than one holding the Notes as part of a business carried on by it at or through a permanent establishment in Australia) to:

- a resident of Australia for Australian tax purposes (a Resident) that does not acquire them in carrying on business at or through a permanent establishment in a country outside Australia; or
- a Non-Resident that acquires them in carrying on business in Australia at or through a permanent establishment in Australia.

Exemption from IWT under section 128F of the Australian Tax Act (section 128F)

Interest on the Notes will be exempt from IWT if the requirements of section 128F are satisfied in relation to those Notes.

The Trust Manager proposes to direct the Trustee to issue the Class A Notes in a manner that will satisfy that exemption.

The Class B Notes will not be issued in a manner that will satisfy the exemption in section 128F of the ITAA 1936, and so interest withholding tax may be deducted on payments of interest in respect of such Notes to any person who is a Non-Resident (unless derived by that Non-Resident in carrying on business at or through a permanent establishment in Australia), or to any person who is a resident which derives the interest income at or through a permanent establishment outside Australia, unless another exemption applies (e.g. under an applicable tax treaty).

The exemption from IWT available under section 128F is not intended to apply to related party loans. In particular, in order for that exemption to apply, the Trustee must not have known or had reasonable grounds to suspect, at the time of their issue, that any of the Notes, or an interest in the Notes, were being or would later be acquired either directly or indirectly by an Offshore Associate of the Trustee (other than one acting in the capacity of a dealer, manager or underwriter in relation to the placement of the Notes, or in the capacity of a clearing house, custodian, funds manager or responsible entity of a registered scheme (as defined in the Corporations Act).

In addition, the exemption from IWT available under section 128F will not apply if, at the time of an interest payment in respect of a Note, the Trustee knew or had reasonable grounds to suspect that the recipient of the payment was an Offshore Associate of the Trustee (other than one receiving the payment in the capacity of a clearing house, paying agent, custodian, funds manager or responsible entity of a registered scheme (as defined in the Corporations Act)).

For these purposes, an *Offshore Associate* means an associate (as defined in section 128F) of the Trustee that is either:

- a Non-Resident that does not acquire the Notes and does not receive all payments under them in carrying on business in Australia at or through a permanent establishment in Australia; or
- a Resident that acquires the Notes and receives payments under them in carrying on business at or through a permanent establishment in a country outside Australia.

Where, as in this case, the Trustee is a trustee of a trust, the entities that are associates of the Trustee for the purposes of section 128F include:

- (a) any entity that benefits, or is capable of benefiting, under the trust (Beneficiary), either directly or through any interposed entities; and
- (b) any entity that is an associate of a Beneficiary. An associate of a Beneficiary for these purposes includes an entity which controls or is controlled by the Beneficiary and any trusts under which those entities benefit.

Accordingly, if you are an Offshore Associate of the Trustee, you should not acquire any of the Class A Notes.

Payment of additional amounts

If the Trustee is at any time required to withhold taxes on payments of interest on any of the Notes, the Trustee is not obliged to pay any additional amounts in respect of such withholding or deduction.

11.2 Withholding for failure to provide Tax File Number (TFN)

The Trustee is required to deduct and withhold tax from payments of interest on the Notes at a rate of 47%, unless a TFN or, in certain circumstances, an ABN, has been provided to the Trustee by the Holder, or the Holder has supplied the Trustee with proof of some other relevant exemption.

Provided that the requirements of section 128F have been satisfied with respect to the Notes, these withholding rules will not apply to payments to Holders that are Non-Residents who do not hold the Notes in carrying on business in Australia at or through a permanent establishment in Australia.

If the Trustee is at any time required to withhold taxes on payments of interest on any of the Notes, the Trustee is not obliged to pay any additional amounts in respect of such withholding or deduction.

11.3 Other Australian withholding taxes

Non-resident withholding tax

Under section 12-315 of Schedule 1 to the Taxation Administration Act 1953 (Cth) (*TAA*), regulations may be made that require amounts to be withheld on account of tax liabilities of Non-Residents from certain payments that are made by an Australian entity to such Non-Residents.

These rules do not currently apply to payments in relation to the Notes by the Trustee. However, the possible application of any future regulations to payments received by Non-Residents in respect of the Notes will need to be monitored.

No ABN withholding tax

Payments in respect of the Notes will be able to be made free and clear of the "no ABN withholding tax" imposed under section 12-190 of Schedule 1 to the TAA.

11.4 Other Australian Tax Matters

Gains on disposal of Notes by Non-Residents

Non-Residents that have never held their Notes in the course of carrying on business at or through a permanent establishment within Australia will not be subject to Australian income tax on gains realised by them on the sale or redemption of the Notes provided that such gains do not have an Australian source. A gain arising on the sale of Notes by a Non-Resident Holder to another Non-Resident where the Notes are sold outside Australia and all negotiations are conducted, and documentation executed, outside Australia would not generally be regarded as having an Australian source.

Garnishee directions

The Commissioner of Taxation for Australia may give a direction under section 255 of the Australian Tax Act or section 260-5 of Schedule 1 to the TAA or any similar provision requiring the Trustee to deduct or withhold from any payment to any other party (including any Holder) any amount in respect of tax payable by that other party. If the Trustee is served with such a direction, the Trustee intends to comply with that direction and make any deduction or withholding required by that direction.

Goods and services tax (GST)

Neither the issue, nor the receipt, of the Notes will give rise to a liability for GST in Australia on the basis that the supply of the Notes will comprise either an "input taxed financial supply" or (in the case of a supply to a Non-Resident Holder outside Australia at the time of supply) a "GST-free supply". Furthermore, neither the payment of principal or interest by the Trustee, nor the disposal or redemption of the Notes, should give rise to any GST liability in Australia.

Estate duties

No Notes will be subject to death, estate or succession duties imposed by Australia, or by any political subdivision or authority therein having power to tax, if held at the time of death.

Stamp duties

No ad valorem stamp, issue, registration or similar taxes are payable in Australia on the issue or transfer of any Notes.

11.5 Hong Kong taxation

Withholding tax

No withholding tax in Hong Kong is payable on payments of principal (including any premium payable on redemption of the Notes) or distributions in respect of the Notes.

Profits tax

Hong Kong profits tax is chargeable on every person carrying on a trade, profession or business in Hong Kong in respect of profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong from such trade, profession or business (excluding profits arising from the sale of capital assets).

Interest on the Notes may be deemed to be profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong from a trade, profession or business carried on in Hong Kong in the following circumstances:

- (a) interest on the Notes is derived from Hong Kong and is received by or accrues to a corporation carrying on a trade, profession or business in Hong Kong;
- (b) interest on the Notes is derived from Hong Kong and is received by or accrues to a
 person, other than a corporation, carrying on a trade, profession or business in
 Hong Kong and is in respect of the funds of that trade, profession or business;
- (c) interest on the Notes is received by or accrues to a financial institution (as defined in the Inland Revenue Ordinance (Cap. 112) of Hong Kong) (*IRO*) and arises

- through or from the carrying on by the financial institution of its business in Hong Kong; or
- (d) interest on the Notes is received by or accrues to a corporation, other than a financial institution, and arises through or from the carrying on in Hong Kong by the corporation of its intra-group financing business (within the meaning of section 16(3) of the IRO).

Gains or profits from the sale, disposal or redemption of Notes will be subject to Hong Kong profits tax where they arise in or are derived from Hong Kong and are received by or accrue to a person, including a corporation (whether or not a financial institution), from the carrying on by such person of a trade, profession or business in Hong Kong.

Special rules exist for the assessment and calculation of Hong Kong profits tax for certain types of person (for example financial institutions, corporate treasury centres, life insurance companies and partnerships) and certain types of security (for example "regulatory capital securities" and "qualifying debt instruments", each as defined in the IRO), and prospective holders of the Notes are advised to seek their own professional advice in relation to Hong Kong profits tax.

Stamp duty

No Hong Kong stamp duty is payable on the issue of the Notes. Hong Kong stamp duty is not payable on any transfers of Notes provided either:

- (a) the register of holders of the Notes is maintained outside of Hong Kong; or
- (b) the Notes are denominated in a currency other than the currency of Hong Kong and are not repayable in any circumstances in the currency of Hong Kong.

Therefore, the transfer of the Notes will not be subject to Hong Kong stamp duty.

12. Selling Restrictions

12.1 Selling Restrictions - General

Each Dealer represents, warrants and agrees that it will:

- (a) observe all applicable laws and regulations in any jurisdiction in which it may offer, sell or deliver Class A Notes; and
- (b) not directly or indirectly offer, sell, resell, re-offer or deliver Class A Notes or distribute this Information Memorandum or any Offer Material in any country or jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations.

Each Dealer will only have an allocation for Class A Notes under the Dealer Agreement.

12.2 Australia

Selling Restrictions

Each Dealer acknowledges that:

- no information memorandum, offering circular, prospectus or other disclosure document in relation to any Class A Notes has been lodged with, or registered by, ASIC; and
- (b) none of the Trustee, the Trust Manager or the Approved Seller has or will take any action or seek any authorisation to enable the offer or sale of any Class A Notes, or the distribution of this Information Memorandum or Offer Material in any other jurisdiction.

Each Dealer represents and agrees that it (directly or indirectly):

- has not offered for issue or sale, invited applications for the issue of, invited applications for offers to purchase, or sold, any Class A Notes and will not do so; and
- (b) has not distributed and will not distribute any draft, preliminary or definitive Information Memorandum or any Offer Material that was or is received in the Commonwealth of Australia, its territories or possessions,

unless:

- (c) the amount payable on acceptance of the offer by each offeree or invitee for the Class A Notes is a minimum amount (disregarding amounts, if any, lent by the Trustee or other person offering the Class A Notes or an associate (as defined in Division 2 of Part 1.2 of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) of either of them) of A\$500,000 or the offer or invitation is otherwise an offer or invitation for which no disclosure is required to be made under Part 6D.2 or 7.9 of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) and the Corporations Regulations made under the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth); and
- (d) the offer or invitation is not made to a "retail client" within the meaning of section 761 of the Corporations Act; and

(e) the offer, invitation or distribution complies with all applicable laws and regulations in relation to the offer, invitation or distribution.

Section 128F

- (a) Each Dealer acknowledges that:
 - no information memorandum, offering circular, prospectus or other disclosure document in relation to any Notes has been lodged with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission; and
 - (ii) none of the Trustee, the Trust Manager or the Approved Seller has or will take any action or seek any authorisation to enable the offer or sale of any Notes, or the distribution of this Information Memorandum or Offer Material, in any other jurisdiction.
- (b) Each Dealer undertakes:
 - (i) to offer the Class A Notes for sale within 30 days of the launch date for offering the Class A Notes to:
 - (A) at least 10 persons each of whom:
 - (1) was carrying on a business of providing finance, investing in or dealing in securities, in the course of operating in financial markets; and
 - (2) was not known, or suspected, by its employees in relation to a sale to be an associate of any other person covered by this sub-paragraph (A); or
 - (B) to at least 100 persons who it would be reasonable to regard as either:
 - having acquired instruments similar to the relevant Class A
 Notes in the past; or
 - (2) likely to be interested in acquiring such instruments; or
 - (C) as a result of negotiations being initiated publicly in electronic form, or in another form, that is used by financial markets for dealing in instruments similar to the relevant Class A Notes; and
 - (ii) that it shall not:
 - (A) offer the Class A Notes to a person actually known, or reasonably suspected, by the employees of the Dealer acting in relation to the sale, to be an Offshore Associate of the Trustee; and
 - (B) sell any Class A Notes to any person if, at the time of such sale, its employees in relation to a sale know or have reasonable grounds to suspect that the Class A Notes, or an interest in the Class A Notes, will be acquired by an Offshore Associate of the Trustee,

other than an Offshore Associate in the capacity of a dealer, manager or underwriter in relation to the placement of the Class A Notes, or in the

capacity of a clearing house, custodian, funds manager or responsible entity of an Australian registered scheme.

For the avoidance of doubt, if any employee of a Dealer acting in relation to the sale, does not know or have reasonable grounds to suspect that a person is an Offshore Associate of the Trustee, nothing referred to in this section 12.2(b)(ii) obliges the Dealer to make positive enquiries of that person to confirm that such person is not an Offshore Associate of the Trustee.

12.3 United States

The Notes have not been, and will not be, registered under the Securities Act or the securities laws of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States and may not be offered, sold, delivered, transferred, encumbered or otherwise disposed of (directly or indirectly) at any time, within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Terms used in this section 12.3 and not otherwise defined in this Information Memorandum have the meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act.

Each Dealer represents, warrants and agrees that it will not offer, sell, deliver, transfer, encumber or otherwise dispose of (directly or indirectly), the Notes within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons:

- (a) as part of its distribution at any time; or
- (b) otherwise until 40 days after the later of the commencement of the offering of the Notes and the Closing Date.

Each Dealer represents, warrants and agrees that neither it nor its affiliates nor any person acting on its or their behalf have engaged or will engage in any directed selling efforts with respect to the Notes, and the Dealer, its affiliates and all persons acting on its or their behalf have complied and will comply with the offering restriction requirements of Regulation S.

Each Dealer also represents, warrants and agrees that, at or prior to confirmation of sale of the Notes, the Dealer will have sent to each distributor, dealer or person receiving a selling concession, fee or other remuneration that purchases the Notes from it during the 40 day distribution compliance period a confirmation or notice to substantially the following effect:

"The Securities covered hereby have not been registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), or with any securities regulation authority of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States of America and may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (i) as part of their distribution at any time or (ii) otherwise until 40 days after the later of the commencement of the offering and the Closing Date. Terms used above have the meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act."

In addition, until 40 days after the later of the commencement of the offering of the Notes and the Closing Date, any offer, sale, or offer and sale of the Notes within the United States by a Dealer, whether or not participating in the offering, may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act.

12.4 United Kingdom

UK PRIIPs Regulation

Each Dealer represents, warrants and agrees that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Notes to any retail investor in the United Kingdom. For the purposes of this provision:

- (a) the expression "*retail investor*" means a person who is one (or more) of the following:
 - (i) a retail client as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of the domestic law of the UK by virtue of the EUWA; or
 - (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the FSMA and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97, in the UK, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of UK MiFIR; or
 - (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the UK Prospectus Regulation; and
- (b) the expression "offer" includes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for the Notes.

General

Each Dealer represents, warrants and agrees that:

- (a) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of section 21 of the FSMA received by it in connection with the issue or sale of any Notes in circumstances in which section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Trustee; and
- (b) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by it in relation to any Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

12.5 European Economic Area

EU PRIIPs Regulation

Each Dealer represents, warrants and agrees that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available to and will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Notes to any retail investor in the EEA. For these purposes:

- (a) a *retail investor* means a person who is one (or more) of:
 - (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of **MiFID II**; or

- (ii) a customer within the meaning of the *Insurance Distribution Directive*, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or
- (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the EU Prospectus Regulation; and
- (b) the expression "offer" includes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for the Notes.

12.6 Hong Kong

The Dealer represents, warrants and agrees that:

- (a) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell in the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China (*Hong Kong*), by means of any document, any Notes other than:
 - to "professional investors" as defined in the Securities and Futures
 Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong Kong (SFO), excluding any rules made under the SFO; or
 - (ii) in other circumstances which do not result in the document being a "prospectus" as defined in the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong Kong (CWUMPO) or which do not constitute an offer to the public within the meaning of the CWUMPO; and
- (b) it has not issued, or had in its possession for the purposes of issue, and will not issue or have in its possession for the purposes of issue, whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere, any advertisement, invitation or document relating to the Notes, which is directed at, or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public of Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the securities laws of Hong Kong) other than with respect to Notes which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong or only to "professional investors" as defined in the SFO excluding any rules made under the SFO.

12.7 Japan

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan (Act No. 25 of 1948, as amended) (the *FIEA*) and, accordingly, none of the Notes, nor any interest therein may be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the account or benefit of, any Japanese Person or to others for reoffering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Japan, or to or for the account or benefit of, any Japanese Person except pursuant to an exemption from registration requirements of, and otherwise in compliance with, the FIEA and any other applicable laws, regulations and ministerial guidelines of Japan. For the purposes of this paragraph, "Japanese Person" means any natural person having his/her place of domicile or residence in Japan, or any corporation or other entity having its main office in Japan. A branch, agency or other office in Japan of a non-resident, irrespective of whether it is legally authorised to represent its

principal or not, shall be deemed to be a resident of Japan even if its main office is in any other country than Japan.

12.8 New Zealand

The Dealer acknowledges that the Trustee does not intend that the Notes should be offered to any retail investor or otherwise under any regulated offer in terms of the Financial Markets Conduct Act 2013 of New Zealand (*NZ FMCA*). Accordingly, no product disclosure statement under the NZ FMCA has been prepared, lodged or registered in New Zealand.

The Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed that it has not made any offer of the Notes in New Zealand that would require disclosure to investors under Part 3 of the NZ FMCA. The Dealer has agreed it will not offer, sell or deliver Notes in New Zealand, or distribute or publish in New Zealand any offering material or advertisement in relation to any offer of Notes, other than to a wholesale investor within the meaning of clause 3(2)(a), (c) or (d) of Schedule 1 to the NZ FMCA, being a person who is:

- (a) an "investment business";
- (b) "large"; or
- (c) a "government agency",

in each case as defined in Schedule 1 to the NZ FMCA, provided (for the avoidance of doubt) that the Notes may not be offered or transferred to any "eligible investor" (as defined in clause 41 of Schedule 1 to the NZ FMCA) or to any person who, under clause 3(2)(b) of Schedule 1 to the NZ FMCA, meets the investment activity criteria specified in clause 38 of that Schedule.

12.9 Singapore

The Dealer has acknowledged that this Information Memorandum has not been registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Accordingly, the Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, that it has not offered or sold any Notes or caused the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase and will not offer or sell any Notes or cause the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, and has not circulated or distributed, nor will it circulate or distribute, this Information Memorandum or any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of any Notes, whether directly or indirectly, to any person in Singapore other than:

- (a) to an institutional investor (as defined in Section 4A of the Securities and FuturesAct) pursuant to Section 274 of the Securities and Futures Act;
- (b) to a relevant person (as defined in Section 275(2) of the Securities and Futures Act) pursuant to Section 275(1) of the Securities and Futures Act, or to any person pursuant to Section 275(1A) of the Securities and Futures Act, and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275 of the Securities and Futures Act and (where applicable) Regulation 3 of the Securities and Futures Act (Classes of Investors) Regulations 2018; or

(c) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable provision of the Securities and Futures Act.

This Information Memorandum has not been registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Accordingly, this Information Memorandum and any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of the Notes may not be circulated or distributed, nor may the Notes be offered or sold, or be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, whether directly or indirectly, to any person in Singapore other than:

- (a) to an institutional investor (as defined in Section 4A of the Securities and Futures Act) pursuant to Section 274 of the Securities and Futures Act;
- (b) to a relevant person (as defined in Section 275(2) of the Securities and Futures Act) pursuant to Section 275(1) of the Securities and Futures Act, or to any person pursuant to Section 275(1A) of the Securities and Futures Act, and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275 of the Securities and Futures Act and (where applicable) Regulation 3 of the Securities and Futures (Classes of Investors) Regulations 2018; or
- (c) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable provision of the Securities and Futures Act.

Where the Notes are subscribed or purchased under Section 275 of the Securities and Futures Act by a relevant person which is:

- (a) a corporation (which is not an accredited investor (under Section 4A of the Securities and Futures Act)) the sole business of which is to hold investments and the entire share capital of which is owned by one or more individuals, each of whom is an accredited investor; or
- (b) a trust (where the trustee is not an accredited investor) whose sole purpose is to hold investments and each beneficiary of the trust is an individual who is an accredited investor,

the securities or securities-based derivatives contracts (each term as defined in Section 2(1) of the Securities and Futures Act) of that corporation or the beneficiaries' rights and interest (howsoever described) in that trust shall not be transferred within six months after that corporation or that trust has acquired the Notes pursuant to an offer made under Section 275 of the Securities and Futures Act except:

- to an institutional investor or to a relevant person, or to any person arising from an offer referred to in Section 275(1A) or Section 276(4)(i)(B) of the Securities and Futures Act;
- (b) where no consideration is or will be given for the transfer;
- (c) where the transfer is by operation of law;
- (d) as specified in Section 276(7) of the Securities and Futures Act; or
- (e) as specified in Regulation 37A of the Securities and Futures (Offers of Investments) (Securities and Securities-based Derivatives Contracts) Regulations 2018.

Any reference to the Securities and Futures Act is a reference to the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore and a reference to any term as defined in the Securities and Futures Act or any provision in the Securities and Futures Act is a reference to that term or provision as modified or amended from time to time including by such of its subsidiary legislation as may be applicable at the relevant time.

Notification under Section 309B of the Securities and Futures Act – all Notes shall be capital markets products other than prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018) and Specified Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).

13. Transaction Documents

Copies of each of the Transaction Documents (other than the Dealer Agreement) will be available for inspection by the Noteholders and persons intending to acquire Notes during the ordinary business hours in electronic or other form determined by the Trust Manager on request. However, any person wishing to inspect those Transaction Documents must first undertake not to disclose the contents of the documents without the prior written consent of the Trustee and the Trust Manager.

14. Glossary of Terms

A\$

Accrued Interest Adjustment

means Australian dollars

means, in relation to the Approved Seller, all:

- interest and fees accrued on the Housing Loans up to (but excluding) the Closing Date for those Housing Loans which are unpaid as at the close of business on the Closing Date; and
- (b) all amounts received by the Approved Seller under the Housing Loans applied by the Servicer to payment of interest and fees under the Housing Loans for the period from (but excluding) the Cut-Off Date to (but excluding) the Closing Date,

but without double counting or recovery for any such amounts

Adverse Effect

means an event which will materially and adversely affect:

- (a) the amount of any payment to be made to any Class A Noteholder or the timing of such payment, for so long as any Class A Note is outstanding; or
- (b) otherwise, the amount of any payment to be made to any Class B Noteholder or the timing of such payment

Approved Auditor

means a firm of chartered accountants some of whose members are registered company auditors (which firm may be the Auditor) and whose terms of appointment have been agreed by the Approved Seller (that agreement not to be unreasonably withheld)

Approved Bank

means a bank which has:

- (a) a long term rating of at least BBB from S&P; and
- (b) a short term rating of at least F1 from Fitch Ratings or a long term credit rating of at least A from Fitch Ratings,

but means Westpac Banking Corporation for so long as it has:

(i) a long term rating of BBB or better from S&P; and

(ii) a short term rating of F1 or better from Fitch Ratings or a long term rating of at least A from Fitch Ratings,

or in each case such other rating in respect of which the Trust Manager has given a Rating Notification.

Approved Seller

means Westpac

APRA

the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority

Arrears

subsist in relation to a Housing Loan if the relevant Borrower fails to pay any amount due on the day it was due. Delayed payments arising from agreed payment holidays based on early repayments, or from maternity or paternity leave repayment reductions will not, by themselves, lead to a Housing Loan being in Arrears

ASIC

the Australian Securities and Investment Commission

ASX

means ASX Limited ABN 98 008 624 691

Auditor

means the auditor of the Trust appointed from time to

time

Austraclear

means Austraclear Limited (ABN 94 002 060 773).

Austraclear System

means the system operated by Austraclear for holding certain Australian dollar securities and the electronic recording and settling of transactions in those securities between members of that system in accordance with the Regulations and Operating Manual established by Austraclear (as amended or replaced from time to time) to govern the use of the that system

Authorised Investments

means any investments which at their date of acquisition are:

- (a) cash deposited in an interest bearing account in the name of the Trustee with an Approved Bank;
 or
- (b) certificates of deposit issued by an Approved Bank and provided such investments must:
 - (i) have:
 - (A) a short term rating of A-1+ by S&P or a long term rating of AAA by S&P;
 - (B) a credit rating by Fitch Ratings as follows:
 - (1) for certificates of deposits whose remaining maturities at the time of

Page 153

purchase are less than or equal to 30 days, a short term rating by Fitch Ratings of at least F1 or a long term rating by Fitch Ratings of at least A; and

(2) for certificates of deposits whose remaining maturities at the time of purchase are more than 30 days but less than or equal to 365 days, a short term rating by Fitch Ratings of at least F1+ or a long term rating by Fitch Ratings of at least AA-,

or such other credit ratings by the Rating Agency as may be notified by the Trust Manager to the Trustee from time to time provided that the Trust Manager has delivered a Rating Notification in respect of such other credit ratings;

- (ii) mature on or prior to the next date on which the proceeds from such Authorised Investments will be required to be applied in accordance with section 7;
- (iii) are denominated in Australian dollars; and
- (iv) are held in the name of the Trustee,

in each case which do not constitute a securitisation exposure or a resecuritisation exposure (as defined in Prudential Standard APS 120 issued by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority, including any amendment or replacement of that Prudential Standard).

In addition, in relation to paragraph (b) of this definition, *Authorised Investments* are further restricted so as to ensure that the Notes will at all times constitute mortgage-backed securities for the purposes of the Duties Act 1997 of New South Wales (if applicable).

see section 7.4

see section 8.1(b)

means at any time the amount, if positive, equal to:

Available Income

Available Liquidity Amount

Available Redraw Amount

- (a) the Redraw Limit at that time; minus
- (b) the Principal Outstanding at that time; minus
- (c) the Carryover Redraw Charge Offs at that time

means a corporation authorised under the Banking Act to carry on general banking business in Australia or a corporation formed or incorporated under an Act of the Parliament of an Australian Jurisdiction to carry on the general business of banking

means, for a Coupon Period, the rate for prime bank eligible securities having a tenor closest to the Coupon Period, which is designated as the "AVG MID" on the Bloomberg or Refinitiv Screen BBSW Page (or any designation which replaces that designation on that page, or any page that replaces that page) at approximately 10.30 a.m. (or such other time at which such rate customarily appears on that page, including, if corrected, as recalculated and republished by the relevant administrator) ("Publication Time") on the first Business Day of that Coupon Period. However, if such rate does not appear on the Bloomberg or Refinitiv Screen BBSW Page (or any page that replaces that page) by 10.45 a.m. on that day (or such other time that is 15 minutes after the then prevailing Publication Time), or if it does appear but the Trust Manager determines that there is an obvious error in that rate or the rate is permanently or indefinitely discontinued, "Bank Bill Rate" means such other successor rate or alternative rate for Bank Bill Rate-linked floating rate notes at such time determined by the Trust Manager (acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner) or, an alternate financial institution appointed by the Trust Manager (in its sole discretion), to assist in determining the rate (such financial institution being a "Determining Party"), which rate is notified in writing to the Trust Manager if determined by such Determining Party, together with such adjustment spread (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that is customarily applied to the relevant successor rate or alternative rate (as the case may be) in international debt capital markets transactions to produce an industryaccepted replacement rate for Bank Bill Rate-linked floating rate notes at such time (together with such other adjustments to the business day convention, interest determination dates and related provisions and

Bank

Bank Bill Rate

definitions, in each case that are consistent with accepted market practice for the use of such successor rate or alternative rate for Bank Bill Rate-linked floating rate notes at such time), or, if no such industry standard is recognised or acknowledged, the method for calculating or determining such adjustment spread, determined by the Trust Manager or Determining Party (in consultation with the Trust Manager) to be appropriate. The rate determined by the Trust Manager or Determining Party will be expressed as a percentage rate per annum and will be rounded up, if necessary, to the next higher one ten-thousandth of a percentage point (0.0001%),

Provided that:

- (a) if the first Coupon Period is greater than one month, the *Bank Bill Rate* for that first Coupon Period shall be an interpolated rate calculated by the Trust Manager with reference to the tenor of the relevant period; and
- (b) if the first Coupon Period is less than or equal to one month, the **Bank Bill Rate** for that first Coupon Period shall be the One Month Bank Bill Rate,

the Trust Manager is required under the Transaction Documents to make the relevant calculations of the Bank Bill Rate.

Banking Act

Basis Swap

means the Banking Act 1959

means the Transaction (as defined in the ISDA Master Agreement) between Westpac, the Trustee and the Trust Manager, which states that it is the Basis Swap for the purposes of the Series Notice

Beneficiary

see section 9.3

Borrower

means the borrower under a Housing Loan

Business Day

means any day, other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday, on which banks are open for business in Sydney

Carryover Charge Off

means, in relation to a Note or the Principal Outstanding (as the case may be) and at any time, a Carryover Class A Charge Off, a Carryover Class B Charge Off or a Carryover Redraw Charge Off as at that time

Carryover Class A Charge Off

means, in relation to a Class A Note and at any time, the aggregate of Class A Charge Offs in relation to that Class

A Note made prior to that time and which have not previously been reinstated under section 7.8(d)(iii)(B)

Carryover Class B Charge Off means, in relation to a Class B Note and at any time, the

aggregate of Class B Charge Offs in relation to that Class B Note made prior to that time and which have not

previously been reinstated under section 7.8(d)(v)

Carryover Redraw Charge Off means, at any time, the aggregate of Redraw Charge

Offs made prior to that time and which have not previously been reinstated under section 7.8(d)(iii)(A)

Class means Notes having the same rights and restrictions. For

the purpose of voting in respect of Notes, the Voting

Noteholders constitute a "Class"

Class A Charge Off means, in relation to a Class A Note, the amount of any

reduction in the Stated Amount for that Note under

section 7.11(c)(ii)(A)

Class A Coupon means, in relation to a Coupon Period, all interest

accrued on the Class A Notes in respect of that Coupon Period in accordance with section 4.2(c), and for the purposes of section 7.8(a) includes any amount payable by the Trustee to the relevant Class A Noteholder (in that

capacity) by way of damages or penalties

Class A Note means a note issued by the Trustee as a Class A Note

under the Transaction Documents and will only include New Class A Notes if the New Class A Notes have been

issued in accordance with section 4.5(a)(ii)(A)

Class A Noteholder means a Noteholder of a Class A Note

Class A Proportion means, at any time, the proportion, expressed as a

percentage, which the aggregate Invested Amount of the

Class A Notes at that time bears to the aggregate

Invested Amount of all Notes at that time

Class B Charge Off means, in relation to a Class B Note, the amount of any

reduction in the Stated Amount for that Note under

section 7.11(c)(i)

Class B Coupon means, in relation to a Coupon Period, all interest

accrued on the Class B Notes in respect of that Coupon Period in accordance with section 4.2(c), and for the purposes of section 7.8(d) includes any amount payable by the Trustee to the relevant Class B Noteholder (in that

capacity) by way of damages or penalties

Class B Note means a note issued by the Trustee as a Class B Note

under the Transaction Documents

Class B Noteholder

means a Noteholder of a Class B Note

Class B Proportion

means, at any time, the proportion, expressed as a percentage, which the aggregate Invested Amount of the Class B Notes at that time bears to the aggregate Invested Amount of all Notes at that time

Clean-Up Call Option Date

means the Payment Date after the end of the first Collection Period in which the aggregate Housing Loan Principal of all of the Housing Loans is less than 10% of the aggregate Housing Loan Principal of all Housing Loans as at the Cut-Off Date

Closing Date

means 7 October 2021

Collateral Account

see section 8.1(d)

Collection Account

means the Australian dollar account, with Westpac specified in the Series Notice, or any other account opened and maintained by the Trustee with an Approved Bank under clause 27 of the Trust Deed

Collection Period

means each period commencing on (and including) the 4th day of each calendar month and ending on (and including) the 3rd day of the next calendar month However:

- (a) the first Collection Period commences on (and includes) the next day after the Cut-Off Date and ends on (and includes) 3 November 2021; and
- (b) the last Collection Period commences on (but excludes) the last day of the previous Collection Period and ends on (and includes) the Termination Date of the Trust

Collections

means, in relation to a period, Finance Charge Collections and Gross Principal Collections for that period

Consumer Credit Legislation

- means:
- (a) the National Consumer Credit Protection Act 2009 (Cth), including the Schedules to it;
- (b) the National Consumer Credit Protection (Fees)
 Act 2009 (Cth);
- (c) the National Consumer Credit Protection(Transitional and Consequential Provisions) Act 2009 (Cth);
- (d) the National Consumer Protection Amendment Act 2010 (Cth);

- (e) any acts or other legislation enacted in connection with any of the acts set out in paragraphs (a) to (d) and any regulations made under or in respect of any of the acts set out in paragraphs (a) to (d);
- (f) Division 2 of Part 2 of the Australian Securities and Investments Commission Act 2001 (Cth); and
- (g) any other Commonwealth, State or Territory legislation that covers conduct relating to credit activities (whether or not it also covers other conduct), but only in so far as it covers conduct relating to credit activities

means the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)
means a Class A Coupon or a Class B Coupon
means, for each Class, each period as follows:

- the first Coupon Period commences on (and includes) the Closing Date and ends on (and includes) the day immediately before the first Payment Date; and
- (b) each succeeding Coupon Period commences on (and includes) a Payment Date and ends on (and includes) the day immediately before the next Payment Date; and
- (c) the last Coupon Period for a Class ends on (and excludes) the day on which all amounts due on the Notes of that Class are redeemed in full in accordance with the Transaction Documents

means:

- (a) subject to paragraph (b), for each Class of Notes, any Coupon Period commencing before the Margin Step-Up Date for that Class of Note, the Bank Bill Rate on the first day of that Coupon Period plus the relevant Margin; and
- (b) for the Class A Notes, in relation to any Coupon Period commencing on or after the Margin Step-Up Date for the Class A Notes, the Bank Bill Rate on the first day of that Coupon Period plus the relevant Margin plus the relevant Step-Up Margin.

Corporations Act
Coupon

Coupon Period

Coupon Rate

CRR Amending Regulation means a regulation amending the Capital Requirements

Regulation, as amended

Custodian means Westpac

Cut-Off Date see section 2.3

Date-Based Call Option Date means 16 May 2029

Dealer means Westpac

Dealer Agreement means the Dealer Agreement dated 5 October 2021

made between Westpac, the Trustee and the Trust

Manager

Defaulting Party has the meaning given in the ISDA Agreement

Determined Loss means, in relation to a Housing Loan and a Collection Period, any amount for that Housing Loan which:

(a) the Servicer has determined, in its ordinary course of business and in accordance with its then applicable policies and procedures, is unrecoverable and has written off against that Housing Loan for that Collection Period;

(b) the Servicer notifies the Trust Manager is an amount the Servicer is treating as unrecoverable and written off for that Housing Loan for that Collection Period under paragraph (a); and

(c) the Trust Manager determines, following notification from the Servicer in accordance with paragraph (b) of this definition, should be treated as a Determined Loss for that Housing Loan for that Collection Period

Determination Date means, in relation to a Collection Period, the date which

is four Business Days prior to the Payment Date following

the end of that Collection Period

EEA means the European Economic Area

Eligibility Criteria means the criteria set out in section 6.1(a)

Eligible Servicer see section 3.9

Enforcement Expenses means the costs and expenses incurred by Westpac or

the Servicer in connection with the enforcement of any Housing Loan or the related Receivable Rights referred to

in the Servicing Agreement

EU means the European Union

EU Institutional Investor has the meaning given in section 1.17.

EU Investor Requirements

has the meaning given in section 3.42.

EU Prospectus Regulation

means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, as amended

EU Securitisation Regulation

means Regulation (EU) 2017/2402, together with any implementing regulation, technical standards and official guidance related thereto, in each case as amended,

varied or substituted from time to time

means the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018, as

amended

Event of Default

EUWA

see section 10.3

Excess Available Income

means, for a Collection Period, the amount (if any) by which the Total Available Funds for the Collection Period exceeds the Total Payments for the Collection Period

Excess Collections Distribution

means, in relation to a Collection Period, the amount (if any) by which the Excess Available Income for that Collection Period exceeds the amounts applied under section 7.8(d) on the Determination Date relating to that

Collection Period

Expenses

means the costs, charges and expenses incurred by the Trustee or the Trust Manager in the administration or operation of the Trust under the Transaction Documents, but excluding general overhead costs and expenses (such as rent and employment costs)

Extraordinary Resolution

means in relation to the Noteholders of the Trust or any Class, subject to the provisions of any Security Trust Deed in respect of the Trust:

- (a) a resolution passed at a meeting of the Noteholders of the Trust or Class (as the case may be) duly convened and held in accordance with the Trust Deed by a majority consisting of not less than 75% of the votes able to be cast by Noteholders (cast by show of hands or poll, as the case may be); or
- (b) a resolution in writing signed by all the Noteholders of the Trust or Class.

Fair Market Value

means in relation to a Housing Loan and the related Receivable Rights, the fair market value of that Housing Loan and those Receivable Rights as agreed by the Trustee and the Approved Seller on a basis of valuation agreed by an Approved Auditor in all cases as reflecting the status of the Housing Loan as a performing or non-performing Housing Loan (as determined by the Servicer) and any benefit in respect of that Housing Loan which the

intended purchaser will have under any relevant Support

Facility

FATCA means the Foreign Account Tax Compliance provisions,

as enacted in the HIRE Act (often referred to as FATCA) sections 1471 through 1474 of the United States Internal Revenue Code (or any consolidation, amendment, reenactment or replacement of those provisions and including any regulations or official interpretations issued, agreements entered into or non-US laws enacted with

respect to those provisions)

Finance Charge Collections see section 7.4(a)

Finance Charge Loss means, for a Collection Period, the amount of all Liquidation Losses referred to in section 7.11(a)(i)

Fitch Ratings means Fitch Australia Pty Limited

Fitch Highly Rated Thresholds will not apply unless (and until) the Liquidity Facility

Provider or the Swap Provider (as applicable) notifies the Trustee and the Trust Manager (with a copy to Fitch Ratings) that the Fitch Highly Rated Thresholds are to apply. The Fitch Highly Rated Thresholds will continue to apply from the date of notice until the Liquidity Facility Provider or the Swap Provider (as applicable) notifies the Trustee and the Trust Manager (with a copy to Fitch Ratings) that the Fitch Highly Rated Thresholds are not to apply. For the avoidance of doubt, if the Fitch Highly Rated Thresholds apply, the Fitch Highly Rated Thresholds will not cease to apply at any time merely because the rating of the Liquidity Facility Provider or the Swap Provider (as applicable) has fallen below the

time.

Further Advance means in relation to any Collection Period, an amount

provided to a Borrower by the Approved Seller under a Housing Loan in that Collection Period which increases the Housing Loan Principal of that Housing Loan and which is not a Redraw (notwithstanding that the

Minimum Fitch Highly Rated Counterparty Rating at that

scheduled principal balance is required to be increased

by reason of the provision of that amount)

Government Charges means, for any Collection Period, the aggregate of all

amounts collected by Westpac (whether in its capacity as Servicer or otherwise) in respect of the Housing Loans and the related Receivable Rights representing bank

accounts taxes or similar Taxes

| Gross Principal Collection | see section 7.9(a) |
|--------------------------------|---------------------|
| Ci ccc i illicipai cciicciicii | 000 00011011 7.0(4) |

GST means any goods and services tax, broad based

> consumption tax or value added tax imposed by any government agency and includes GST as defined in the A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 1999

(Cth)

Hedge Agreement means the agreements entered into for the Basis Swap

and the Interest Rate Swap

Hong Kong Stock Exchange means The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Housing Loan means a loan specified in a Sale Notice (including any

> Redraw in respect of that loan) which has been assigned to the Trustee on acceptance of the offer contained in that Sale Notice in accordance with the Series Notice, and in which the Trustee has not ceased to have an interest (whether by sale or disposal, or extinguishment of its

rights in that loan)

Housing Loan Principal means, in relation to a Housing Loan, the principal amount of that Housing Loan from time to time

Housing Loan Security means each Mortgage specified in a Sale Notice, unless

the Trustee has ceased to have an interest in that

Mortgage

means an amount payable to:

the Liquidity Facility Provider under the increased (a) costs provision of the Liquidity Facility; or

(b) the Redraw Facility Provider under the increased

costs provision of the Redraw Facility;

but does not include any margin, interest rate or fee payable under any Note or Support Facility, or any increase in such margin, interest rate or fee

on any Payment Date means the least of:

all Increased Costs due but unpaid on that (a) Payment Date; and

(b) the greater of:

> (i) A\$0; and

(ii) an amount equal to:

> (A) the lesser of:

> > (1) A\$250,000; and

Increased Cost

Increased Cost Amount

- (2) 0.10% of the aggregate
 Housing Loan Principal
 on the immediately
 preceding Determination
 Date; minus
- (B) the aggregate of all Increased
 Costs paid on the immediately
 preceding 11 Payment Dates (or,
 if there are fewer than 11 such
 Payment Dates, the aggregate of
 all Increased Costs paid on all
 preceding Payment Dates),

or such greater amount in respect of that Payment Date for which the Trust Manager has given a Rating Notification

means in respect of a Note, the amount stated as the Initial Invested Amount for that Note in section 2.3

in relation to the Trustee (in its personal capacity and as trustee of the Trust), the Trust Manager, a Servicer, Westpac or the Mortgage Insurer (each a *relevant corporation*) means the happening of any of the following events:

- (a) an administrator of the relevant corporation is appointed;
- (b) except for the purpose of a solvent reconstruction or amalgamation:
 - (i) an application or an order is made, proceedings are commenced, a resolution is passed or proposed in a notice of meeting or an application to a court or other steps (other than frivolous or vexatious applications, proceedings, notices and steps) are taken for:
 - (A) the winding up, dissolution or administration of the relevant corporation; or
 - (B) the relevant corporation entering into an arrangement, compromise or composition with or assignment for the benefit of its creditors or a class of them; or

Initial Invested Amount

Insolvency Event

- (ii) the relevant corporation ceases, suspends or threatens to cease or suspend the conduct of all or substantially all of its business or disposes of or threatens to dispose of substantially all of its assets; or
- (c) the relevant corporation is, or under applicable legislation is taken to be, unable to pay its debts (other than as the result of a failure to pay a debt or claim the subject of a good faith dispute) or stops or suspends or threatens to stop or suspend payment of all or a class of its debts (except, in the case of the Trustee where this occurs in relation to another trust of which it is the trustee), and for the avoidance of doubt an inability of the Trustee in its capacity as trustee of the Trust to pay its debts does not include:
 - the Trustee making any drawing under a Support Facility in accordance with the Transaction Documents; or
 - (ii) until the Class A Notes are repaid in full, the Trustee making any Class B Charge Off or failing to pay the full amount of any Class B Coupon; or
- (d) a receiver, receiver and manager or administrator is appointed (by the relevant corporation or by any other person) to all or substantially all of the assets and undertaking of the relevant corporation or any part thereof (except, in the case of the Trustee where this occurs in relation to another trust of which it is the trustee); or
- (e) anything analogous to an event referred to in paragraphs (a) to (d) (inclusive) or having substantially similar effect, occurs with respect to the relevant corporation

means, in relation to a Housing Loan, any fire and/or risks insurance policy or other general insurance policy in force in respect of that Housing Loan or the related Mortgaged Property

means any payments received by the designated beneficiary of an Insurance Policy

Insurance Policy

Insurance Proceeds

Interest Offset Deposit Account means a deposit account maintained by an Obligor with

Westpac in relation to a Housing Loan where the credit

balance of that account is taken into account in

determining the interest payable by that Obligor on the

Housing Loan

Interest Offset Amount in relation to an Obligor under a Housing Loan and a

Collection Period, the amount by which interest payable on that Housing Loan by the Obligor is reduced because

of the terms of an Interest Offset Deposit Account

Interest Rate Swap means the Transaction (as defined in the ISDA Master

Agreement) between Westpac, the Trustee and the Trust Manager, which states that it is the Interest Rate Swap for

the purposes of the Series Notice

Invested Amount means, on any day in relation to a Note, the Initial

Invested Amount of that Note minus the aggregate of Principal Payments made or to be made in respect of that

Note on or before that date

ISDA Master Agreement means the ISDA Master Agreement (including all

Schedules and Annexures) dated 5 October 2021 made between Westpac, the Trustee and the Trust Manager

Law means common or customary law and any constitution,

decree, judgement, legislation, order, ordinance,

regulation, statute, treaty or other legislative measure in any jurisdiction and any present or future directive, regulation, guideline, practice, concession, request or requirement whether or not having the force of law issued by any governmental body, agency or department or any

central bank or other fiscal, monetary, taxation,

regulatory, self-regulatory or other authority or agency

and includes the Banking Act

Lead Manager means Westpac

Liquidation Loss means, for a Collection Period in relation to a Housing

Loan which is being enforced, the amount (if any) by which the Unpaid Balance of the Housing Loan (together with the Enforcement Expenses relating to the Housing Loan and the related Mortgage) exceeds the Liquidation

Proceeds in relation to the Housing Loan

Liquidation Proceeds means, in relation to a Housing Loan and the related

Mortgage which have been or are being enforced, all amounts recovered in respect of the enforcement of the Housing Loan and the related Mortgage (but does not

Page 166

include the proceeds of any Mortgage Insurance Policy (if

applicable))

Liquidity Draw means a drawing under the Liquidity Facility

Liquidity Facility means the Liquidity Facility Agreement dated 5 October

2021 between the Liquidity Facility Provider, the Trustee and the Trust Manager or the Liquidity Facility provided

thereunder, as the context requires

Liquidity Facility Provider means Westpac

Liquidity Limit means the commitment of the Liquidity Facility Provider

under the Liquidity Facility, as varied from time to time

Liquidity Shortfall means, in relation to a Collection Period, the amount (if

any) by which the Total Payments for the Collection Period exceed the aggregate of the Available Income and

any Principal Draws for the Collection Period

LVR for a Housing Loan, means the Housing Loan Principal of

that Housing Loan at that time, plus any other amount secured by any Mortgage for that Housing Loan including

(where relevant) customer paid Mortgage Insurance Policy premiums (other than any Other Secured Liabilities owed to the Approved Seller), at the date of determination divided by the aggregate value of the Mortgaged Property

recent valuation undertaken if later subject to the related

(determined as at the date of origination) or the most

Mortgages for that Housing Loan, expressed as a

percentage

Margin means, in relation to any Note, the Margin for that Note

determined as set out in section 2.3, and in the case of

Class A Notes means 0.55% per annum

Margin Step-Up Date means, in relation to the Class A Notes, the earlier of the

Date-Based Call Option Date and the Payment Date immediately following the Clean-Up Call Option Date.

There is no Margin Step Lip Date for the Class R Notes.

There is no Margin Step-Up Date for the Class B Notes

Material Default for a Housing Loan, means a failure by a Borrower to pay any amount pursuant to the Housing Loan, which failure

causes the Housing Loan to be in Arrears and which failure to pay continues for a period of 90 days or the occurrence of an event of default (other than a failure to pay) under that Housing Loan or related Mortgage unless the Servicer reasonably determines that such event of

default is of a minor or technical nature and will not result

in an Adverse Effect

Maturity Date in relation to a Note, means the Maturity Date for that

Note specified in section 2.3

Minimum Fitch Highly Rated

Counterparty Rating

Moody's

means, at any time, a long-term issuer default rating from Fitch Ratings of "AA-" or a short-term issuer default rating from Fitch Ratings of "F1+", or such other minimum rating agreed between the Liquidity Facility Provider and the Trust Manager in writing (as notified to the Trustee and subject to a Rating Notification being given by the Trust Manager in respect of such other rating).

3 1

Moody's Investors Service Pty Limited

MiFID II means Directive 2014/65/EU, as amended

Mortgage for a Housing Loan, a registered (or pending registration,

registrable) mortgage over land, situated in any Australian jurisdiction, or an interest in a company title scheme with respect to such land, which was originally granted to the Approved Seller, and securing the repayment of the Housing Loan Principal and all other moneys payable

under the Housing Loan

Mortgage Insurance Proceeds means any amount received by the Trustee (or a Servicer

on its behalf) under any Mortgage Insurance Policy

Mortgage Insurance Policy see section 2.5

Mortgage Insurer see section 2.2

Mortgage Pool means all Housing Loans and related Mortgages

originated by the Approved Seller and equitable title to which are held by the Trustee as trustee of the Trust from

time to time

Mortgage Shortfall see section 7.11(b)(iii)

Mortgaged Property the land, or interest in relation to land, the subject of a

Mortgage

Mortgagee Extraordinary

Resolution

see section 10.4

Mortgagees see section 10.1

National Credit Code means Schedule 1 to the National Consumer Credit

Protection Act 2009 (Cth)

New Class A Notes see section 4.5(a)(ii)(A)

Note means a Class A Note or a Class B Note

Non-Resident means a person who is not a resident of the

Commonwealth of Australia for Australian tax purposes

Noteholder means, at any time in relation to a Note, the person who

is registered as the holder of that Note at that time. If a Note is held in the Austraclear System, references to the

Noteholder of that Note include the operator of the

Austraclear System or its nominee, depository or common depository (in each case acting in accordance with the

rules and regulations of the Austraclear System).

Note Acknowledgment see section 4.12

Note Transfer see section 4.13

Notice of Creation of Trust means the Notice of Creation of Trust dated 17

September 2021 issued under the Trust Deed in relation

to the Trust

Obligor means, in relation to a Housing Loan, the person who is

obliged to make payments with respect to that Housing Loan, whether as a principal or secondary obligation (and in the case of a Housing Loan means the person who is the account debtor under that Housing Loan), and including where the context requires, any other person obligated to make payments with respect to that Housing

Loan (including any guarantor)

Offer Material means any information memorandum, memorandum,

prospectus (as defined in the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)), advertisement, publication, document, material or statement (oral or written) relating to the marketing, issue or sale of the Notes, but does not include this Information

Memorandum

Offshore Associate means an associate (as defined in section 128F(9) of the

Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 (Cth)) of the Trustee that is either a non-resident of Australia that does not acquire the Notes in carrying on a business at or through a permanent establishment in Australia or, alternatively, a resident of Australia that acquires the Notes in carrying on a business at or through a permanent establishment

outside of Australia

Offshore Noteholder means a Non-Resident Noteholder who does not acquire

Notes in the course of carrying on a business at, or

through, a permanent establishment in the Commonwealth of Australia or a resident of the

Commonwealth of Australia who acquires the Notes in the

course of carrying on a business at, or through, a permanent establishment outside the Commonwealth of

permanent establishment outside the Commonwealth of

Australia

Page 169

One Month Bank Bill Rate means the Bank Bill Rate with a tenor of one month

Other Secured Liability has the meaning given in the Trust Deed

Other Trust means any Trust (as defined in the Trust Deed) other

than the Trust

Payment Date in relation to a Note, has the meaning given in relation to

that Note in section 2.3

Payment Shortfall means, in relation to a Collection Period, the amount (if

any) by which the Total Payments for that Collection Period exceed the Available Income for that Collection

Period

Performing Loan see section 8.1(a)

PPSA means the Personal Property Securities Act 2009 (PPSA)

Preparation Date see section 1.3

Prepayment Benefit means, on the early discharge of a Housing Loan which is

a Fixed Option Home Loan or otherwise bears a fixed rate of interest (other than a Housing Loan subject to a concessionary rate of interest for 12 months or less), the amount (if any) credited to the relevant Borrower's loan account by the Approved Seller by means of a reduction in the Housing Loan Principal of that Housing Loan, in accordance with the relevant Housing Loan agreement

Prepayment Benefit Shortfall in relation to a Collection Period, means the amount by

which the total of all Prepayment Benefits for that Collection Period exceeds the total of all Prepayment

Costs for that Collection Period

Prepayment Calculation Adjustment in relation to a Housing Loan, means any amount credited

to the Borrower by the Approved Seller under that Housing Loan to reflect an interest adjustment resulting

from a change in computer systems

Prepayment Cost means, on the early discharge of a Housing Loan which is

a Fixed Option Home Loan or otherwise bears a fixed rate of interest (other than a Housing Loan subject to a concessionary rate of interest for 12 months or less), the amount (if any) owed by the relevant Borrower and collected by the Approved Seller, in accordance with the

relevant Housing Loan agreement

Prepayment Cost Surplus in relation to a Collection Period, the amount by which the

total of all Prepayment Costs for that Collection Period exceeds the total of all Prepayment Benefits for that

Collection Period

Principal Loss

Pricing Date see section 2.3

Principal Charge Off see section 7.11

Principal Collections means, for a Collection Period:

(a) the Gross Principal Collections for that Collection Period; less

(b) any amounts allocated under section 7.10(a) in relation to that Collection Period

Principal Draw means, for a Collection Period, the amount calculated under section 7.5 in relation to that Collection Period

means, for a Collection Period in relation to a Housing

Loan, the amount of any Liquidation Loss for that Housing Loan for that Collection Period referred to in section 7.11(a)(ii) less all Determined Losses (if any) for that

Housing Loan

Principal Outstanding under the Redraw Facility, means the aggregate of

Redraw Advances less Carryover Redraw Charge Offs

Principal Payment means each payment of or in respect of the principal

amount of a Note (by way of reduction in the Invested Amount) made in accordance with the Transaction

Documents

Professional Investor means a professional investor (as defined in Chapter 37

of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited but excluding those prescribed by rules made under section 397 of the

SFO)

Purchase Price see section 2.4

Rating Agency means S&P or Fitch Ratings

Rating Downgrade Event means an event that causes the rating of any Class A

Note to be downgraded or withdrawn

Rating Notification in relation to an event or circumstance means that the

Trust Manager has confirmed in writing to the Trustee

that:

(a) it has notified each Rating Agency of the event or

circumstance; and

(b) the Trust Manager is satisfied in good faith that the event or circumstance is unlikely to result in a

Rating Downgrade Event

Receivable Security in relation to a Housing Loan means the Mortgage or any

guarantee securing that Housing Loan.

Page 171

| Recei | ivabl | le R | ights |
|-------|-------|------|-------|
|-------|-------|------|-------|

means, in relation to a Housing Loan, all of the Approved Seller's or the Trustee's (as the context requires) right, title, benefit and interest (present and future) in, to, under or derived from:

- (a) that Housing Loan and the Mortgage which secures that Housing Loan;
- (b) such of the following as relate to that Housing Loan:
 - (i) the Related Securities;
 - (ii) the Collections; and
- (c) all moneys (present or future, actual or contingent) owing at any time by an Obligor (whether alone or with another person), and all other rights under or in connection with the Relevant Documents for that Housing Loan

Record Date

means with respect to a Payment Date for any Note, 4:00pm (Sydney time) on the second Business Day before that Payment Date

Redraw

means an amount advanced or readvanced to a Borrower by the Approved Seller under a Housing Loan in respect of any principal prepayments previously made to the Borrower's loan account in accordance with the terms of the Borrower's Housing Loan. See section 2.8

Redraw Advance

means a borrowing under the Redraw Facility (see

section 8.2(c))

Redraw Charge Off

means the amount of any reduction in the Principal Outstanding under the Redraw Facility under section

7.11(c)(ii)(B)

Redraw Facility

means the Redraw Facility Agreement dated 5 October 2021 made between the Redraw Facility Provider, the Trustee and the Trust Manager or the Redraw Facility provided thereunder, as the context requires

Redraw Facility Provider

means Westpac

Redraw Limit

means the maximum amount able to be borrowed under the Redraw Facility (expected to be A\$12,000,000 on the

Closing Date)

Redraw Shortfall see section 8.2(c)

Register see section 4.11

Related Securities in relation to a Housing Loan, means:

- (a) any Relevant Document for that Housing Loan;
- (b) any Insurance Policy or Insurance Proceeds with respect to the Housing Loan;
- (c) any Mortgage Insurance Policy or Mortgage
 Insurance Proceeds with respect to the Housing
 Loan; or
- (d) any other agreement specified as a RelatedSecurity for the Housing Loan in the Series Notice

means, with respect to a Housing Loan:

- (a) the agreement relating to that Housing Loan;
- (b) the mortgage document in relation to that Housing Loan;
- (c) the certificate of title for the Mortgaged Property secured by each Receivable Security, if any;
- (d) any amendment or replacement of such documents and any other document which is entered into by or executed in favour of the Approved Seller or Trustee (as the case may be) in connection with that Housing Loan after the Cut-Off Date; or
- (e) any other document specified as a *RelevantDocument* in the relevant Series Notice,

in each case whether in physical or electronic form, but does not include any document or agreement which relates only to an Other Secured Liability (as that term is defined in the Trust Deed)

Relevant Payment Date

Relevant Documents

See section 4.5

Remaining Liquidity Shortfall

means, in relation to a Collection Period, the amount (if any) by which the Liquidity Shortfall (if any) for that Collection Period exceeds the Available Liquidity Amount for that Collection Period

Remittance Date

means, in relation to a Collection Period, the date which is two Business Days prior to the Payment Date following the end of that Collection Period

Residual Capital Unit

has the meaning given in section 9.3

Residual Capital Beneficiary

see section 2.2

Residual Income Unit

has the meaning given in section 9.3

Residual Income Beneficiary

means the holder of the Residual Income Unit from time to time

Page 173

S&P

S&P Required Ratings

means S&P Global Ratings Australia Pty Limited

means, in respect of an entity, a long term rating by S&P of BBB (or above) or such other rating agreed between the Liquidity Facility Provider and the Trust Manager in writing (as notified to the Trustee and subject to a Rating Notification being given by the Trust Manager in respect

of such other rating).

Sale Notice means the Sale Notice (as defined in the Trust Deed) which may be given by Westpac to the Trustee after the

date of execution of the Series Notice and which is

subsequently accepted by the Trustee

Secured Moneys means all money which the Trustee is or at any time may

> become actually or contingently liable to pay to or for the account of any Mortgagee for any reason whatsoever under or in connection with a Transaction Document

has the meaning given in section 2.10

means the trust established under the Security Trust

Deed

Security Trust Deed means the Series 2021-1 WST Trust Security Trust Deed

dated 17 September 2021 between the Trustee, the

Security Trustee and the Trust Manager

means BTA Institutional Services Australia Limited

(ABN 48 002 916 396)

means, as at any Determination Date,

the aggregate Invested Amount of the Class B (a) Notes is equal to or exceeds 19% of an amount equal to the aggregate Invested Amount of all Notes as at that Determination Date:

the two year anniversary of the Closing Date has (b) occurred:

(c) following the making of all applications to be made by the Trust Manager on that Determination Date as referred to in section 7.11(c), no Class A Charge Offs, Class B Charge Offs or Redraw Charge Offs will be made on the next Payment Date after that Determination Date:

(d) following the making of all applications to be made by the Trust Manager on that Determination Date as referred to in section 7.8(d), there will be no Carryover Charge Offs;

Securities Act

Security Trust

Security Trustee

Serial Paydown Conditions

| (e) | the average for the immediately preceding three |
|-----|---|
| | Collection Periods of the aggregate Housing Loan |
| | Principal of all Housing Loans which are in |
| | Arrears for more than 60 days (excluding loans |
| | granted a hardship concession by the Servicer |
| | pursuant to its policies and procedures which are |
| | now performing under agreed commercial terms |
| | after the hardship period has ended) expressed |
| | as a percentage of the aggregate Housing Loan |
| | Principal of all Housing Loans, in each case as at |
| | the end of each of those Collection Periods, is not |
| | greater than 4%; and |

(f) neither the Date-Based Call Option Date nor the Clean-Up Call Option Date has occurred

Servicer

Servicer Transfer Event

Servicing Agreement

Series Notice

Settlement Amount

Solvency II

SFO

Stated Amount

see section 2.2

see section 9.4(i)

means the agreement so entitled dated 12 March 2002 (as amended) between, among others, Westpac Securities Administration Limited and the Servicer

means the Series 2021-1 WST Trust Series Notice dated 5 October 2021 between the Trustee, the Trust Manager, the Security Trustee, the Approved Seller and the Servicer

has the meaning given in the ISDA Master Agreement means the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong Kong

means Directive 2009/138/EC, as amended means, in relation to a Note and at any time, an amount equal to:

- (a) the Initial Invested Amount of that Note; less
- (b) the aggregate of all Principal Payments made before that time in respect of that Note; less
- (c) the Carryover Charge Offs in relation to that Note at that time

Step-Up Margin

means:

- (a) in relation to the Class A Notes, 0.25% per annum; and
- (b) in relation to the Class B Notes, not applicable

Support Facility

in relation to the Trust means the following documents or the Support Facility provided under the following documents (as the context requires):

- (a) the Liquidity Facility;
- (b) the Redraw Facility;
- (c) each Hedge Agreement;
- (d) each Mortgage Insurance Policy; and
- (e) any other document or agreement which is from time to time agreed between the Trustee and the Trust Manager to be a Support Facility for the purposes of the Trust

Support Facility Provider

means, in relation to the Trust, any person who has entered into or agreed to make available a Support Facility (other than a Mortgage Insurance Policy) to the Trustee in relation to the Trust

Swap Provider

means, in relation to a Hedge Agreement, the counterparty which enters into that arrangement with the Trustee and initially means Westpac

Tax and Taxes

means any tax, levy, impost, deduction, charge, rate, stamp duty, financial institutions duty, bank accounts debit tax or any other tax, withholding or remittance of any nature which is now or later payable or required to be remitted to, or imposed or levied, collected or assessed by a government agency, together with any interest, penalty, charge, fee or other amount imposed or made in respect thereof

Termination Date see section 9.6

Threshold Rate see section 2.6

Title Documents see section 9.5(a)

Title Perfection Event means the events set out in section 9.11

Total Available Funds see section 7.3

Total Payments means, in relation to a Collection Period, all amounts paid

or to be paid by the Trustee under section 7.8(a) in

relation to that Collection Period

Transaction Document means:

(a) the Trust Deed;

(b) the Series Notice;

(c) the Servicing Agreement;

| (d) | the Security | / Trust Deed; |
|-----|--------------|---------------|
| (~) | and dodding | ,, |

- (e) each Note;
- (f) the Liquidity Facility;
- (g) the Redraw Facility;
- (h) each Hedge Agreement;
- (i) any other Support Facility for the Trust;
- (j) the Dealer Agreement;
- (k) the Note Issue Direction from the Trust Manager to the Trustee dated on or about 5 October 2021;
- (I) the Notice of Creation of Trust; and
- (m) any other document or agreement which is from time to time agreed between the Trustee and the Trust Manager to be a Transaction Document for the purposes of the Trust

Trust means the Series 2021-1 WST Trust constituted under

the Trust Deed and the Notice of Creation of Trust

Trust Deed means the Master Trust Deed dated 14 February 1997

between Westpac Securities Administration Limited and

The Mortgage Company Pty Limited

Trust Expenses see section 7.8(c)

Trust Manager means Westpac Securitisation Management Pty Limited

(ABN 73 081 709 211)

Trustee means BNY Trust Company of Australia Limited (ABN 49

050 294 052)

Trust Manager's Default see section 9.2(f)

Trustee's Default see section 9.1(h)

UK MiFIR means Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of

the domestic law of the UK by virtue of the EUWA

UK Institutional Investorhas the meaning given in section 1.18UK Investor Requirementshas the meaning given in section 3.43

UK PRIIPs Regulation means Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms part of

the domestic law of the UK by virtue of the EUWA

UK Prospectus Regulation means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of the

domestic law of the UK by virtue of the EUWA

UK Retention Rules means the risk retention and due diligence rules under

the UK Securitisation Regulation

Page 177

UK Securitisation Regulation

means Regulation (EU) 2017/2402 as amended by The Securitisation (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulation 2019 and as it forms part of the domestic laws of the UK by virtue of the EUWA.

Unpaid Balance

of a Housing Loan means the sum of:

- (a) the Housing Loan Principal of that Housing Loan;
- (b) the unpaid amount of all finance charges, interest payments and other amounts accrued on or payable under or in connection with that Housing Loan or the related Mortgage or other rights relating to the Housing Loan

Voting Mortgagee

means:

- (a) for so long as the Secured Moneys of the Class A Noteholders and the Class B Noteholders are 75% or more of total Secured Moneys:
 - (i) the Class A Noteholders alone, until the Class A Notes have been redeemed in full in accordance with section 4.8; and
 - (ii) if the Class A Notes have been redeemed in full in accordance with section 4.8 and there are Class B Notes outstanding, the Class B Noteholders alone;
- (b) at any other time, each Mortgagee:
 - (i) which is a Noteholder in relation to the highest ranking Class of Notes then outstanding; or
 - (ii) to the extent of that Mortgagee's Secured Moneys (if any) which rank as to payment senior to or pari passu with the highest ranking Class of Notes then outstanding.

Voting Noteholder

means:

- (a) the Class A Noteholders, until the Class A Notes have been redeemed in full in accordance with section 4.8: and
- (b) if the Class A Notes have been redeemed in full in accordance with section 4.8 and there are Class B Notes outstanding, the Class B Noteholders alone

Westpac

means Westpac Banking Corporation

Westpac Group see section 5.1

WLMI means Westpac Lenders Mortgage Insurance Limited

Page 179

15. Description of the Housing Loans as at the Cut-Off Date

15.1 Description of the Housing Loans

The information in the following tables in this section 15 sets forth in summary format various details relating to the pool of Housing Loans (*Housing Loan Pool*) produced on the basis of the information available as at the Cut-Off Date. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest Australian dollar. The sum in any column may not equal the total indicated due to rounding.

The statistical information provided in the following tables may not reflect the actual pool of Housing Loans acquired by the Trustee from the Approved Seller on the Closing Date because Housing Loans in the Housing Loan Pool may be substituted with other eligible Housing Loans or additional eligible Housing Loans may be added. For example, a Housing Loan originally included in the Housing Loan Pool may be removed if it is repaid early or if it is determined that the Housing Loan does not comply with the Eligibility Criteria. As the information is provided as at the Cut-Off Date, the information relating to a Housing Loan may change after the Cut-Off Date, including as a result of actions by the Servicer and/or the Obligor. Accordingly, the following details are provided for information purposes only.

15.2 Pool Statistics as at the Cut-Off Date

Summary

| Housing Loan Pool Size (\$) | \$1,200,000,000 |
|---|-----------------|
| Number of Housing Loans | 3,720 |
| Average Housing Loan Balance (\$) | \$322,580.65 |
| Maximum Housing Loan Balance (\$) | \$1,852,695.74 |
| Weighted Average Current Limit Loan-to-Value Ratio (LVR) (%) | 63.67% |
| Weighted Average Current Balance LVR (Unindexed) (%) | 61.68% |
| Weighted Average Current Balance LVR (Indexed) (%) ¹ | 55.86% |
| Highest Consolidated Current Balance LVR (Unindexed) (%) | 94.35% |
| Highest Consolidated Current Balance LVR (Indexed) (%) ¹ | 89.99% |
| Owner Occupied (Product) (%) | 69.24% |
| Low Doc Loans (%) | 0.00% |
| Interest Only Loans (%) | 12.35% |
| Weighted Average Mortgage Rate (%) | 2.74% |
| Weighted Average Seasoning (Months) | 32.06 |
| Weighted Average Remaining Term to Maturity (Months) | 315.79 |
| Maximum Current Remaining Term to Maturity (Months) | 359.92 |
| Non-Australian Resident (%) | 0.00% |

¹ Index used: Australian Property Monitor quarterly index

Page 181

| Current Loan Balance | No. Of Loans | Current Principal Balance (\$) | Average Balance (\$) | No. Of Loans Percentage | Current Principal Balance Percentage |
|------------------------------|-----------------|--------------------------------------|----------------------------|-------------------------------|---|
| < \$50,000.01 | 230 | 7,032,343 | 30,575 | 6.18% | 0.59% |
| \$50,000.01 - \$100,000 | 336 | 26,435,811 | 78,678 | 9.03% | 2.20% |
| \$100,000.01 - \$150,000 | 298 | 37,762,045 | 126,718 | 8.01% | 3.15% |
| \$150,000.01 - \$200,000 | 329 | 58,242,643 | 177,029 | 8.84% | 4.85% |
| \$200,000.01 - \$250,000 | 344 | 78,447,032 | 228,044 | 9.25% | 6.54% |
| \$250,000.01 - \$300,000 | 403 | 111,502,329 | 276,681 | 10.83% | 9.29% |
| \$300,000.01 - \$350,000 | 352 | 114,616,336 | 325,615 | 9.46% | 9.55% |
| \$350,000.01 - \$400,000 | 365 | 137,360,962 | 376,331 | 9.81% | 11.45% |
| \$400,000.01 - \$450,000 | 254 | 108,304,658 | 426,396 | 6.83% | 9.03% |
| \$450,000.01 - \$500,000 | 218 | 103,944,627 | 476,810 | 5.86% | 8.66% |
| \$500,000.01 - \$550,000 | 133 | 69,821,284 | 524,972 | 3.58% | 5.82% |
| \$550,000.01 - \$600,000 | 121 | 69,675,728 | 575,832 | 3.25% | 5.81% |
| \$600,000.01 - \$650,000 | 78 | 48,832,877 | 626,063 | 2.10% | 4.07% |
| \$650,000.01 - \$700,000 | 61 | 41,216,684 | 675,683 | 1.64% | 3.43% |
| \$700,000.01 - \$750,000 | 37 | 26,781,897 | 723,835 | 0.99% | 2.23% |
| \$750,000.01 - \$800,000 | 37 | 28,508,860 | 770,510 | 0.99% | 2.38% |
| \$800,000.01 - \$850,000 | 17 | 13,972,343 | 821,903 | 0.46% | 1.16% |
| \$850,000.01 - \$900,000 | 16 | 14,066,518 | 879,157 | 0.43% | 1.17% |
| \$900,000.01 - \$950,000 | 16 | 14,897,808 | 931,113 | 0.43% | 1.24% |
| \$950,000.01 - \$1,000,000 | 16 | 15,658,087 | 978,630 | 0.43% | 1.30% |
| \$1,000,000.01 - \$1,100,000 | 21 | 22,395,767 | 1,066,465 | 0.56% | 1.87% |
| \$1,100,000.01 - \$1,200,000 | 12 | 13,827,080 | 1,152,257 | 0.32% | 1.15% |
| \$1,200,000.01 - \$1,300,000 | 9 | 11,378,717 | 1,264,302 | 0.24% | 0.95% |
| \$1,300,000.01 - \$1,400,000 | 7 | 9,442,183 | 1,348,883 | 0.19% | 0.79% |
| \$1,400,000.01 - \$1,500,000 | 4 | 5,834,427 | 1,458,607 | 0.11% | 0.49% |
| > \$1,500,000 | 6 | 10,040,954 | 1,673,492 | 0.16% | 0.84% |
| Grand Total | 3,720 | 1,200,000,000 | 322,581 | 100.00% | 100.00% |

| Current Loan To Value Ratio (Unindexed) | No. Of Loans | Current Principal Balance (\$) | Average Balance (\$) | No. Of Loans Percentage | Current Principal Balance Percentage |
|--|-----------------|--------------------------------------|----------------------------|-------------------------------|---|
| <= 5.00% | 62 | 1,813,219 | 29,245 | 1.67% | 0.15% |
| 05.01% - 10.00% | 67 | 5,193,043 | 77,508 | 1.80% | 0.43% |
| 10.01% - 15.00% | 79 | 9,900,787 | 125,326 | 2.12% | 0.83% |
| 15.01% - 20.00% | 88 | 16,667,370 | 189,402 | 2.37% | 1.39% |
| 20.01% - 25.00% | 132 | 27,235,817 | 206,332 | 3.55% | 2.27% |
| 25.01% - 30.00% | 123 | 32,367,052 | 263,147 | 3.31% | 2.70% |
| 30.01% - 35.00% | 138 | 39,032,536 | 282,844 | 3.71% | 3.25% |
| 35.01% - 40.00% | 160 | 46,323,249 | 289,520 | 4.30% | 3.86% |
| 40.01% - 45.00% | 180 | 58,728,808 | 326,271 | 4.84% | 4.89% |
| 45.01% - 50.00% | 211 | 63,353,278 | 300,253 | 5.67% | 5.28% |
| 50.01% - 55.00% | 216 | 78,628,765 | 364,022 | 5.81% | 6.55% |
| 55.01% - 60.00% | 301 | 101,375,030 | 336,794 | 8.09% | 8.45% |
| 60.01% - 65.00% | 317 | 104,959,732 | 331,103 | 8.52% | 8.75% |
| 65.01% - 70.00% | 346 | 119,306,051 | 344,815 | 9.30% | 9.94% |
| 70.01% - 75.00% | 323 | 119,284,577 | 369,302 | 8.68% | 9.94% |
| 75.01% - 80.00% | 670 | 253,206,780 | 377,921 | 18.01% | 21.10% |
| 80.01% - 85.00% | 128 | 53,961,496 | 421,574 | 3.44% | 4.50% |
| 85.01% - 90.00% | 133 | 51,280,102 | 385,565 | 3.58% | 4.27% |
| 90.01% - 95.00% | 46 | 17,382,310 | 377,876 | 1.24% | 1.45% |
| > 95.01% | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.00% | 0.00% |
| Grand Total | 3,720 | 1,200,000,000 | 322,581 | 100.00% | 100.00% |

| Current Loan to Value Ratio (Indexed¹) | No. Of Loans | Current Principal Balance (\$) | Average Balance (\$) | No. Of Loans Percentage | Current Principal Balance Percentage |
|--|--------------------|---|----------------------------|-------------------------------|---|
| <= 5.00% | 71 | 2,339,193 | 32,946 | 1.91% | 0.19% |
| 05.01% - 10.00% | 89 | 8,187,633 | 91,996 | 2.39% | 0.68% |
| 10.01% - 15.00% | 108 | 16,963,661 | 157,071 | 2.90% | 1.41% |
| 15.01% - 20.00% | 117 | 25,000,892 | 213,683 | 3.15% | 2.08% |
| 20.01% - 25.00% | 149 | 37,302,650 | 250,353 | 4.01% | 3.11% |
| 25.01% - 30.00% | 139 | 39,651,982 | 285,266 | 3.74% | 3.30% |
| 30.01% - 35.00% | 166 | 47,171,836 | 284,168 | 4.46% | 3.93% |
| 35.01% - 40.00% | 231 | 72,084,608 | 312,055 | 6.21% | 6.01% |
| 40.01% - 45.00% | 245 | 81,573,568 | 332,953 | 6.59% | 6.80% |
| 45.01% - 50.00% | 214 | 73,835,507 | 345,026 | 5.75% | 6.15% |
| 50.01% - 55.00% | 316 | 110,646,382 | 350,147 | 8.49% | 9.22% |
| 55.01% - 60.00% | 328 | 109,915,370 | 335,108 | 8.82% | 9.16% |
| 60.01% - 65.00% | 348 | 120,346,394 | 345,823 | 9.35% | 10.03% |
| 65.01% - 70.00% | 415 | 149,467,775 | 360,163 | 11.16% | 12.46% |
| 70.01% - 75.00% | 363 | 140,277,939 | 386,441 | 9.76% | 11.69% |
| 75.01% - 80.00% | 251 | 97,979,582 | 390,357 | 6.75% | 8.16% |
| 80.01% - 85.00% | 117 | 47,132,902 | 402,845 | 3.15% | 3.93% |
| 85.01% - 90.00% | 53 | 20,122,127 | 379,663 | 1.42% | 1.68% |
| 90.01% - 95.00% | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.00% | 0.00% |
| > 95.01% | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.00% | 0.00% |
| Grand Total | 3,720 | 1,200,000,000 | 322,581 | 100.00% | 100.00% |

_

¹ Index used: Australian Property Monitor quarterly index

| Mortgage Rate | No. Of Loans | Current Principal Balance (\$) | Average Balance (\$) | No. Of Loans Percentage | Current Principal Balance Percentage |
|-----------------|-----------------|---|----------------------------|-------------------------------|---|
| <= 1.750% | 1 | 403,991 | 403,991 | 0.03% | 0.03% |
| 1.751% - 2.000% | 286 | 112,836,710 | 394,534 | 7.69% | 9.40% |
| 2.001% - 2.250% | 409 | 142,555,872 | 348,547 | 10.99% | 11.88% |
| 2.251% - 2.500% | 639 | 225,942,081 | 353,587 | 17.18% | 18.83% |
| 2.501% - 2.750% | 503 | 158,431,676 | 314,974 | 13.52% | 13.20% |
| 2.751% - 3.000% | 674 | 211,726,244 | 314,134 | 18.12% | 17.64% |
| 3.001% - 3.250% | 441 | 131,173,054 | 297,445 | 11.85% | 10.93% |
| 3.251% - 3.500% | 342 | 96,735,718 | 282,853 | 9.19% | 8.06% |
| 3.501% - 3.750% | 147 | 45,551,575 | 309,875 | 3.95% | 3.80% |
| 3.751% - 4.000% | 198 | 54,726,500 | 276,396 | 5.32% | 4.56% |
| 4.001% - 4.250% | 39 | 9,905,266 | 253,981 | 1.05% | 0.83% |
| 4.251% - 4.500% | 30 | 8,794,352 | 293,145 | 0.81% | 0.73% |
| 4.501% - 4.750% | 9 | 1,127,425 | 125,269 | 0.24% | 0.09% |
| 4.751% - 5.000% | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.00% | 0.00% |
| > 5.000% | 2 | 89,536 | 44,768 | 0.05% | 0.01% |
| Grand Total | 3,720 | 1,200,000,000 | 322,581 | 100.00% | 100.00% |

| Seasoning | No. Of Loans | Current Principal Balance (\$) | Average Balance (\$) | No. Of Loans Percentage | Current Principal Balance Percentage |
|--------------------------|-----------------|---|----------------------------|-------------------------------|---|
| <= 6 mths | 230 | 72,405,754 | 314,808 | 6.18% | 6.03% |
| > 6 mths and <= 12 mths | 1,068 | 354,436,950 | 331,870 | 28.71% | 29.54% |
| > 12 mths and <= 18 mths | 678 | 222,013,340 | 327,453 | 18.23% | 18.50% |
| > 18 mths and <= 24 mths | 199 | 71,965,427 | 361,635 | 5.35% | 6.00% |
| > 24 and <= 36 mths | 269 | 92,637,866 | 344,379 | 7.23% | 7.72% |
| > 36 and <= 48 mths | 288 | 84,911,166 | 294,830 | 7.74% | 7.08% |
| > 48 and <= 60 mths | 234 | 85,201,389 | 364,109 | 6.29% | 7.10% |
| > 60 and <= 72 mths | 214 | 74,497,930 | 348,121 | 5.75% | 6.21% |
| > 72 and <= 84 mths | 153 | 47,696,666 | 311,743 | 4.11% | 3.97% |
| > 84 and <= 96 mths | 91 | 22,934,394 | 252,026 | 2.45% | 1.91% |
| > 96 and <= 108 mths | 76 | 18,796,153 | 247,318 | 2.04% | 1.57% |
| > 108 and <= 120 mths | 54 | 12,413,259 | 229,875 | 1.45% | 1.03% |
| > 120 and <= 150 mths | 112 | 30,732,001 | 274,393 | 3.01% | 2.56% |
| > 150 mths | 54 | 9,357,705 | 173,291 | 1.45% | 0.78% |
| Grand Total | 3,720 | 1,200,000,000 | 322,581 | 100.00% | 100.00% |

| Payment Type | No. Of Loans | Current Principal Balance (\$) | Average Balance (\$) | No. Of Loans Percentage | Current Principal Balance Percentage |
|------------------------|-----------------|--------------------------------------|----------------------------|-------------------------------|---|
| Interest Only | 400 | 148,252,707 | 370,632 | 10.75% | 12.35% |
| Principal and Interest | 3,320 | 1,051,747,293 | 316,791 | 89.25% | 87.65% |
| Grand Total | 3,720 | 1,200,000,000 | 322,581 | 100.00% | 100.00% |

| Interest Rate Type | No. Of Loans | Current Principal Balance (\$) | Average Balance (\$) | No. Of Loans Percentage | Current Principal Balance Percentage |
|--------------------|-----------------|--------------------------------------|----------------------------|-------------------------------|---|
| Fixed | 1,629 | 589,902,596 | 362,126 | 43.79% | 49.16% |
| Variable | 2,091 | 610,097,404 | 291,773 | 56.21% | 50.84% |
| Grand Total | 3,720 | 1,200,000,000 | 322,581 | 100.00% | 100.00% |

| Mortgage Insurance | No. Of Loans | Current Principal Balance (\$) | Average Balance (\$) | No. Of Loans Percentage | Current Principal Balance Percentage |
|--------------------|-----------------|--------------------------------------|----------------------------|-------------------------------|---|
| No Insurance | 3,472 | 1,121,338,654 | 322,966 | 93.33% | 93.44% |
| WLMI ² | 248 | 78,661,346 | 317,183 | 6.67% | 6.56% |
| Grand Total | 3,720 | 1,200,000,000 | 322,581 | 100.00% | 100.00% |

_

² Refer to section 8.4.

| Property Type | No. Of Loans | Current Principal Balance (\$) | Average Balance (\$) | No. Of Loans Percentage | Current Principal Balance Percentage |
|---------------------|--------------------|---|----------------------------|-------------------------------|---|
| Detached House | 3,005 | 972,191,021 | 323,524 | 80.78% | 81.02% |
| Duplex | 37 | 13,578,028 | 366,974 | 0.99% | 1.13% |
| Semi-Detached House | 18 | 6,773,432 | 376,302 | 0.48% | 0.56% |
| Terrace | 1 | 654,934 | 654,934 | 0.03% | 0.05% |
| Townhouse | 129 | 44,113,298 | 341,964 | 3.47% | 3.68% |
| Unit | 516 | 159,670,618 | 309,439 | 13.87% | 13.31% |
| Villa | 14 | 3,018,669 | 215,619 | 0.38% | 0.25% |
| Grand Total | 3,720 | 1,200,000,000 | 322,581 | 100.00% | 100.00% |

| Geographic Distribution - By State | No. Of Loans | Current Principal Balance (\$) | Average Balance (\$) | No. Of Loans Percentage | Current Principal Balance Percentage |
|------------------------------------|--------------------|---|----------------------------|-------------------------------|---|
| ACT | 101 | 32,628,021 | 323,050 | 2.72% | 2.72% |
| NSW | 985 | 360,631,876 | 366,124 | 26.48% | 30.05% |
| NT | 16 | 4,231,785 | 264,487 | 0.43% | 0.35% |
| QLD | 739 | 215,154,399 | 291,143 | 19.87% | 17.93% |
| SA | 251 | 67,837,689 | 270,270 | 6.75% | 5.65% |
| TAS | 52 | 11,967,172 | 230,138 | 1.40% | 1.00% |
| VIC | 1,101 | 371,055,999 | 337,017 | 29.60% | 30.92% |
| WA | 475 | 136,493,057 | 287,354 | 12.77% | 11.37% |
| Grand Total | 3,720 | 1,200,000,000 | 322,581 | 100.00% | 100.00% |

| Geographic Distribution - By Location | No. Of Loans | Current Principal Balance (\$) | Average Balance (\$) | No. Of Loans Percentage | Current Principal Balance Percentage |
|---------------------------------------|--------------------|---|----------------------------|-------------------------------|---|
| Inner City | 47 | 15,360,224 | 326,813 | 1.26% | 1.28% |
| Metropolitan | 2,813 | 960,352,698 | 341,398 | 75.62% | 80.03% |
| Non Metropolitan | 860 | 224,287,077 | 260,799 | 23.12% | 18.69% |
| Grand Total | 3,720 | 1,200,000,000 | 322,581 | 100.00% | 100.00% |

| Geographic Distribution - By State and Location | No. Of Loans | Current Principal Balance (\$) | Average Balance (\$) | No. Of Loans Percentage | Current Principal Balance Percentage |
|---|-----------------|---|----------------------------|-------------------------------|---|
| Australian Capital Territory - Metropolitan | 101 | 32,628,021 | 323,050 | 2.72% | 2.72% |
| New South Wales - Inner City | 7 | 2,454,098 | 350,585 | 0.19% | 0.20% |
| New South Wales - Metropolitan | 703 | 283,646,615 | 403,480 | 18.90% | 23.64% |
| New South Wales - Non Metropolitan | 275 | 74,531,163 | 271,022 | 7.39% | 6.21% |
| Northern Territory - Metropolitan | 12 | 3,112,686 | 259,391 | 0.32% | 0.26% |
| Northern Territory - Non Metropolitan | 4 | 1,119,099 | 279,775 | 0.11% | 0.09% |
| Queensland - Inner City | 2 | 406,015 | 203,008 | 0.05% | 0.03% |
| Queensland - Metropolitan | 425 | 129,013,631 | 303,561 | 11.42% | 10.75% |
| Queensland - Non Metropolitan | 312 | 85,734,752 | 274,791 | 8.39% | 7.14% |
| South Australia - Inner City | 6 | 1,220,340 | 203,390 | 0.16% | 0.10% |
| South Australia - Metropolitan | 209 | 58,113,443 | 278,055 | 5.62% | 4.84% |
| South Australia - Non Metropolitan | 36 | 8,503,906 | 236,220 | 0.97% | 0.71% |
| Tasmania - Inner City | 2 | 602,696 | 301,348 | 0.05% | 0.05% |
| Tasmania - Metropolitan | 21 | 5,061,819 | 241,039 | 0.56% | 0.42% |
| Tasmania - Non Metropolitan | 29 | 6,302,658 | 217,333 | 0.78% | 0.53% |
| Victoria - Inner City | 27 | 9,715,348 | 359,828 | 0.73% | 0.81% |
| Victoria - Metropolitan | 924 | 324,155,145 | 350,817 | 24.84% | 27.01% |
| Victoria - Non Metropolitan | 150 | 37,185,506 | 247,903 | 4.03% | 3.10% |
| Western Australia - Inner City | 3 | 961,727 | 320,576 | 0.08% | 0.08% |
| Western Australia - Metropolitan | 418 | 124,621,339 | 298,137 | 11.24% | 10.39% |
| Western Australia - Non Metropolitan | 54 | 10,909,992 | 202,037 | 1.45% | 0.91% |
| Grand Total | 3,720 | 1,200,000,000 | 322,581 | 100.00% | 100.00% |

| Fixed Rate Year of Maturity | No. Of Loans | Current Principal Balance (\$) | Average Balance (\$) | No. Of Loans Percentage | Current Principal Balance Percentage |
|-----------------------------|-----------------|---|----------------------------|-------------------------------|---|
| 2021 | 174 | 62,174,169 | 357,323 | 4.68% | 5.18% |
| 2022 | 650 | 234,794,056 | 361,222 | 17.47% | 19.57% |
| 2023 | 568 | 200,065,560 | 352,228 | 15.27% | 16.67% |
| 2024 | 119 | 48,796,072 | 410,051 | 3.20% | 4.07% |
| 2025 | 115 | 43,201,930 | 375,669 | 3.09% | 3.60% |
| 2026 | 3 | 870,809 | 290,270 | 0.08% | 0.07% |
| Grand Total | 1,629 | 589,902,596 | 362,126 | 43.79% | 49.16% |

| Interest Only Remaining Term | No. Of Loans | Current Principal Balance (\$) | Average Balance (\$) | No. Of Loans Percentage | Current Principal Balance Percentage |
|---------------------------------|-----------------|--------------------------------------|----------------------------|-------------------------------|---|
| Less Than 3 Mth | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.00% | 0.00% |
| > 3 mths and <= 6 mths | 17 | 7,355,049 | 432,650 | 0.46% | 0.61% |
| > 6 mths and <= 12 mths | 72 | 30,020,788 | 416,955 | 1.94% | 2.50% |
| > 12 mths and <= 18 mths | 36 | 11,803,872 | 327,885 | 0.97% | 0.98% |
| > 18 mths and <= 24 mths | 45 | 17,202,574 | 382,279 | 1.21% | 1.43% |
| > 24 and <= 36 mths | 55 | 23,206,693 | 421,940 | 1.48% | 1.93% |
| > 36 and <= 48 mths | 63 | 20,732,580 | 329,089 | 1.69% | 1.73% |
| > 48 and <= 60 mths | 65 | 21,842,534 | 336,039 | 1.75% | 1.82% |
| > 60 and <= 72 mths | 11 | 3,170,040 | 288,185 | 0.30% | 0.26% |
| > 72 and <= 84 mths | 4 | 1,794,000 | 448,500 | 0.11% | 0.15% |
| > 84 and <= 96 mths | 5 | 1,604,327 | 320,865 | 0.13% | 0.13% |
| > 96 and <= 108 mths | 11 | 3,337,814 | 303,438 | 0.30% | 0.28% |
| > 108 and <= 120 mths | 16 | 6,182,438 | 386,402 | 0.43% | 0.52% |
| More Than 120 mths | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.00% | 0.00% |
| Grand Total | 400 | 148,252,707 | 370,632 | 10.75% | 12.35% |

| Interest Only Current Loan to Value Ratio (Indexed ¹) | No. Of Loans | Current Principal Balance (\$) | Average Balance (\$) | No. Of Loans Percentage | Current Principal Balance Percentage |
|--|--------------------|--------------------------------------|----------------------------|-------------------------------|---|
| <= 5.00% | 5 | 340,962 | 68,192 | 0.13% | 0.03% |
| 05.01% - 10.00% | 3 | 452,179 | 150,726 | 0.08% | 0.04% |
| 10.01% - 15.00% | 8 | 2,430,970 | 303,871 | 0.22% | 0.20% |
| 15.01% - 20.00% | 9 | 2,338,494 | 259,833 | 0.24% | 0.19% |
| 20.01% - 25.00% | 12 | 3,584,048 | 298,671 | 0.32% | 0.30% |
| 25.01% - 30.00% | 8 | 3,188,900 | 398,613 | 0.22% | 0.27% |
| 30.01% - 35.00% | 13 | 4,701,039 | 361,618 | 0.35% | 0.39% |
| 35.01% - 40.00% | 11 | 4,129,633 | 375,421 | 0.30% | 0.34% |
| 40.01% - 45.00% | 27 | 9,981,872 | 369,699 | 0.73% | 0.83% |
| 45.01% - 50.00% | 30 | 10,452,517 | 348,417 | 0.81% | 0.87% |
| 50.01% - 55.00% | 39 | 14,493,701 | 371,633 | 1.05% | 1.21% |
| 55.01% - 60.00% | 27 | 9,787,781 | 362,510 | 0.73% | 0.82% |
| 60.01% - 65.00% | 51 | 17,767,621 | 348,385 | 1.37% | 1.48% |
| 65.01% - 70.00% | 56 | 19,600,715 | 350,013 | 1.51% | 1.63% |
| 70.01% - 75.00% | 54 | 23,669,707 | 438,328 | 1.45% | 1.97% |
| 75.01% - 80.00% | 30 | 12,601,939 | 420,065 | 0.81% | 1.05% |
| 80.01% - 85.00% | 13 | 7,009,740 | 539,211 | 0.35% | 0.58% |
| 85.01% - 90.00% | 4 | 1,720,888 | 430,222 | 0.11% | 0.14% |
| 90.01% - 95.00% | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.00% | 0.00% |
| > 95.01% | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0.00% | 0.00% |
| Grand Total | 400 | 148,252,707 | 370,632 | 10.75% | 12.35% |

¹ Index used: Australian Property Monitor quarterly index.

| Top 10 Post Codes | No. Of Loans | Current Principal Balance (\$) | Average Balance (\$) | No. Of Loans Percentage | Current Principal Balance Percentage |
|-------------------|--------------------|--------------------------------------|----------------------------|-------------------------------|---|
| 3029 | 31 | 10,703,664 | 345,279 | 0.83% | 0.89% |
| 3977 | 32 | 9,890,856 | 309,089 | 0.86% | 0.82% |
| 3030 | 30 | 9,823,687 | 327,456 | 0.81% | 0.82% |
| 3150 | 20 | 8,290,253 | 414,513 | 0.54% | 0.69% |
| 2155 | 14 | 7,531,945 | 537,996 | 0.38% | 0.63% |
| 3064 | 23 | 7,487,221 | 325,531 | 0.62% | 0.62% |
| 2153 | 12 | 6,737,109 | 561,426 | 0.32% | 0.56% |
| 2145 | 20 | 6,360,672 | 318,034 | 0.54% | 0.53% |
| 2093 | 12 | 5,973,588 | 497,799 | 0.32% | 0.50% |
| 6018 | 14 | 5,631,608 | 402,258 | 0.38% | 0.47% |
| Grand Total | 208 | 78,430,604 | 377,070 | 5.59% | 6.54% |

Directory

Approved Seller

Westpac Banking Corporation Level 18 275 Kent Street Sydney NSW 2000

Trustee

BNY Trust Company of Australia Limited Level 2 1 Bligh Street Sydney NSW 2000

Security Trustee

BTA Institutional Services Australia Limited
Level 2
1 Bligh Street
Sydney NSW 2000

Trust Manager

Westpac Securitisation Management Pty Limited Level 18 275 Kent Street Sydney NSW 2000

Servicer

Westpac Banking Corporation Level 18 275 Kent Street Sydney NSW 2000

Dealer and Lead Manager

Westpac Banking Corporation Level 30 275 Kent Street Sydney NSW 2000

Solicitors to Trust Manager and Approved Seller

Clayton Utz 1 Bligh Street Sydney NSW 2000